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A HISTORY OF THE UNITED STATES

CHAPTER 1

FROM THE OLD TO THE NEW

IN 1789, a new era dawned on mankind. The inaugura-
tion of Washington as first President of the United States
(April 30) set a limit to the social and administrative systems
of colonial times and began a new national republican organ-
ization that was to reach fulfilment after three-quarters of a
century of striving. On May 5, 1789, the States General
met at Versailles and proceeded to the democratization of
France and of Europe.! Civil convulsions and wars followed.
Their influence extended westwardly across the Atlantic and
affected society, politics, commerce, and finance in America.
In England, the industrial revolution was vigorously pro-
ceeding. The high cost of the raw material hampered the
extension of the factory system; but the cultivation of the
short staple cotton in South Carolina and Georgia cut in
two the price of the fibre, made possible the development
of the textile industry in England and in America, and, in
consequence, fastened negro servitude on the southern United
States. The application of steam to transportation by
water and by land in the first half of the new century changed
the whole face of civilization by making practicable what had
before been impossible. The new conditions of living led

1 Bee Lewis Rogenthal's Amerios and  States on France in the XVIIIA Century
Prance: The Influencs of the United (New York, 1882).
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2 FROM THE OLD TO THE NEW Cr I

to changed manners of thinking — to the liberalization of
the mind, to scientific evolution, to the breaking down of
religious barriers, to a radical alteration in the ethical out-
look, and to the creation of a new literature.

The twenty-five years covered in the present volume were
distinctly a period of transition from the old order of things
to the new, from the modes of thought and action of the
seventeenth and eighteenth centuries to those of our own
times. At the moment, the future seemed full of doubt.
There were most novel and urgent problems of administra-
tion and of finance to be settled at home ; and the relations
of the United States with the outer world were never more
precarious than they were in this quarter of a century.

‘Washington was ever accustomed to weigh with care all
the elements in the problems that came to him for settlement,
and his judgment was unrivalled. At no time in his career
was he more oppressed by the gravity of the task ! to which
his countrymen had called him than he was when he rode
away from Mount Vernon to take up his high office at New
York in April, 1789.

Of all the things that stood in the way of a realization of
the dreams of those who had made the Constitution none
was more formidable than the difficulties of transportation
which then beset the conveyor of men, goods, information,
or administrative orders. Four million men, women, and
children — white, black, and red — lived within the bound-
aries of the United States,? about four-fifths as many as now

1 Wﬂhm of Washington (Ford), xi,

379, 388; Massachusetts Historical
Socintyl Colhasom Seventh Series,
vol. vi, 192,

$ The Return of the Whols Number of
Persons within the Several Districts of
the United States, Philadelphia, 1791
(often cited as The Pirst Census) gives the
total population as 3,920,326. 8. N. D.
North in A Century of Population

Growth, p. 54, including some guesseq
as to the population of unenumerated
sections, states the total as 3,034,625.
Acocording to an analysis in the last-
mentioned book (p. 121) at the time of
the first census rather more than ninety-
one per cent of the people were of British
nationality — mostly English — judg-
ing by the names of the heads of the
families. This table gives less than two
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live within the limits of New York City. The four millions
in 1789 were scattered over the Atlantic seaboard from the
St. Croix and the Penobscot to the Savannah and the St.
Mary’s, a distance of from twelve to thirteen hundred miles
from northeast to southwest. Inland, the farms and clear-
ings extended for nearly a thousand miles, beyond the Alle-
ghanies into the Ohio Valley — into lands that were soon to
become the States of Kentucky, Tennessee, and Ohio. To
the northward, between the Connecticut River and Lake
Champlain, lived the Green Mountaineers, who were ad-
mitted into the Union as the fourteenth State in 1791.1 A
thousand miles from north to south or from east to west are
formidable, even today; in 1789, they were well-nigh insu-
perable to the carrying on of any effective, centralized federal
control. |
Any statement of distances conveys no idea to us of what
the problem really was, because nowadays we are habituated
to thinking in points of time or in costs of transportation.
It is only by translating facts, gleaned from old letters, ac-
count books, and newspapers, into hours and dollars that
one can bring these things within easy comprehension. Bos-
ton is now five hours and seven dollars distant from New
York on the fastest train, and Washington is likewise five
hours and something under seven dollars away from the
great metropolis in the other direction. In the last decade

per cent of the population as *Irish”
in 1790 and lees than six per cent ‘ Ger-
man." As to the accuracy of this mode
of computation, see the present work,
ii, 421. In 1790, the ‘‘settled area’
was a little over 200,000 square miles.

1 The constitutional history of Ver-
mont is complicated, as both New York
and New Hampehire laid claim to the
territory between Lake Champlain and
the Connecticut. In 1777, Vermont
set up for herself. From that time on,

for some years, Vermont was indepen-
dent. She took no part in the Federal
Convention and was not asked to ratify
the Constitution. In 1790, New York
consented to the admission of Vermont
to the Union as a State, and this was
accomplished by act of Congress of
February 18, 1791. See Samuel
‘Williams's Natural and Csvil History of
Vermont (Walpole, N.H., 1794), and R.
E. Robinson’s Vermont, in the ‘‘Com-
monwealth Series.’
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of the eighteenth century, express riders, sparing neither
horse nor man, covered the road from New York to Boston
in ninety-six hours,! at what cost no letter writer tells us.
The usual stage-coach fare was reckoned at six cents a mile,
and a stage went about thirty miles a day, or somewhat
more. Even so short a journey as that of forty miles from
Providence to Boston was broken by a night’s lodgings on the
way. It took from eight to ten days and cost from twenty
to twenty-five dollars to go from Boston to New York by land
and about two-thirds as much in money and considerably
more in time to go by stage to Providence and thence by sail-
ing sloop to New York through Long Island Sound. South-
ward from the Hudson, wide and deep rivers and poor roads
— beyond Philadelphia — made the journey to the Potomac
much slower, thereby greatly adding to the number of lodg-
ings and meals to be paid for. The United States mail made
the distance in less than five days, but the traveller usually
occupied at least ten, at a cost of thirty to forty dollars.?
The details just given relate to transportation for moder-
ate distances along the seaboard, through the most travelled
portion of the country. When the traveller turned his back
to the ocean and essayed a journey westward for fifty or one
hundred miles from tide-water, he found the problem much
more serious. It was possible to go on horseback or by
wagon from one part of the country to nearly every other

way of Annapolis was reduced to lees

1C. R. King's Ixfe and Correspond-
than four days, the fare being $12.25

ence of Rufus King, i, 391.

$ In 1790, Jefferson took from March
12 to March 22 from the Potomac to
New York, and in November of the same
year, he left Monticello on the 8th,
reaching Philadelphia on the 21st. Ten
years later, in 1800, Gouverneur Morris
was ten days on the road from New York
to Washington. In 1808, by combining
land and water transportation, the time
from Philadelphia to Washington by

and inn charges, as appears by an ad-
vertisement in the Federal Gasette and
Baltimore Daily Advertiser, June 21,
1808. For an account of travelling
comparable to *“the limited’’ train of
the present day, see the ‘' Diary of the
Hon. Jonathan Mason,’ 18041808,
in Massachusetts Historical Soclety's
Proceedings for March, 1885, pp. 5-34.
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portion of it, but only with great expenditure of time and
strength and with no small outlay of money. A few good
roads led from Philadelphia into the interior, and from Bos-
ton to Worcester there was one of the best highways in the
country. Elsewhere, when water routes could not be made
to serve, progress was painful and slow. It took three weeks
or a month to bring a wagon load of flour or tobacco from the
Valley of Virginia or from Lynchburg to Richmond, and as
much more to carry back the supplies for the plantations
whence came the flour or the tobacco. Two trips a year
were about the only communication that planters living
fifty miles from Virginia’s commercial town had with the
store-keepers of that place whence came everything con-
sumed in the household that was not produced or made on
the plantation.

With land transportation so difficult and so expensive,
water communication was availed of at every opportunity.
Schooners and sloops plied along the coast or up and down
the sounds, bays, and rivers, to an extent that is undreamed
of nowadays, even with all the advantages of steel construc-
tion and of steam. Southern Congressmen came to New
York and Philadelphia by water ; Timothy Pickering sent his
family by the Sound route from Pennsylvania to Salem, and
practically all travel and commerce up and down the Hudson
Valley was by the “safe, fast, and commodious”’ river sloops.
On the removal of the government offices from Philadelphia
to Washington in 1800, all the furniture and record books
and files were sent by water, and so, too, was the printing
equipment for the “National Intelligencer,” which was
from thirty to forty days on board ship.

Transportation was not only slow, expensive, and fatiguing,
" it was often positively dangerous. Of the Carolina Congress-
men who came by water to Philadelphia in 1790, Thomas
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Tudor Tucker sailed for sixteen days in perpetual storms,
and Adanus Burke was wrecked off the Capes of the Chesa~
peake. Two other Southerners, Jackson and Mathews
from Georgia, were set on shore at Cape May and had to
travel over land and across rivers one hundred and sixty
miles further to Philadelphia.! Nor were land journeys to
be lightly undertaken for two New Englanders coming by
road were badly injured when the stage in which they were
travelling was overset.

The poor transportation facilities were due in great part
to the lack of demand for better means of communication
in the years before the establishment of a strong federal
government, in those days when each colony or State lived
a life of its own and a very simple life at that. In 1789,
there were only seventy-five postmasters in the whole coun-
try and the total receipts of the postal service were some
twenty-five thousand dollars.? The growing business of the
country and the increase in the speculative fever, together
with a remarkable development in the interchange of ideas
between persons in different parts of the country, all com-
bined to create a demand for better facilities. The trans-
mission of the mails was expedited and new post-offices were
opened. In 1800, there were nine hundred and three of them,
and in 1810, more than two thousand post-offices were open
for business. One thing that greatly interfered with the
development of the postal service was the high rate of post-
age coupled with the lavish use of the freedom of the mails
given to officials and to members of Congress. The postage
on a “single letter” weighing one-quarter of an ounce was

t Ulrich B. Phillips’s “South Caro- figures, see Gentleman's Annual Pocket
lina Federalists,” in American Historical Remembrancer, for 1813, p. 122. Statis-
Review, xiv, 779. tios for the years 1790-1809 may be

2 D. D. T. Leech’s History of the Post  found in a ** Letter from the Post-Master

Office Department, 1789-1879 (Wash- General transmitting a Report’ dated
inmn. 1879), pp. 11-13. For the later  April 30, 1810.
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ten cents from New York to Philadelphia — just under
one hundred miles — and proportionately higher rates were
charged for greater weight or longer distance. Newspapers
were carried one hundred miles for one cent and for greater
distances for one cent and a half. Magazines and printed
matter of all kinds were shown no favor. By the law of
1792, they were not received at all, and the act of 1794 gave
postmasters discretion as to whether they would take them
or not. Under these circumstances, every effort was made
to elude the necessity of paying postage by putting private
mail matter with public despatches, by using the franking
privilege of congressional friends, and by sending every-
thing possible by private conveyance. In 1793, Pickering,
who was then Postmaster General, estimated that fifteen
thousand free letters had been posted at Philadelphia in the
preceding year and eighteen thousand free letters received.
At the same time the total expense of the local post-office at
that place was thirteen hundred and fifty dollars.! Not-
withstanding everything that had been done to quicken the
postal service, it was not until the 19th of July, 1808, that
New York newspapers contained the first announcement
of a very destructive fire that had occurred at Savannah on
July 5, and it took three days more for the news to get to
Albany and find a place in the “Register” that was pub-
lished there. KForeign news took a very long time to filter
through war-stricken Europe and to cross the Atlantic, —
the battle of Eylau that was fought on February 7, 1807 was

1 These statements are from a mem-
orandum i the ** Pickering Papers,*’ vi,
71. The rates of postage were settled
by act ol Congress in 1792 and were
somewhat increased by the law of 1704.
The act of 1792 provided for the trans-
portation of letters, packets, and news-
papers ; the law of 1704 authorised the
Postmaster General * where the mode of
conveyance and the sise of the mails will

admit of it” to transport magasines and
pamphlets, at the rate of two cents per
sheet for one hundred miles or more.
The postmasters were to keep separate
accounts of the newspapers, magasines,
and pamphlets, and local postmasters
were to receive fifty per cent of the
postage thereof, exclusive of other al-
lowanoces.
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not reported in the Charleston, South Carolina, “Times”
until June 9, following.

Under these difficulties of transportation, the task of ad-
ministering affairs of peace and war from any one city was
certain to be great. In view of the divergent interests of the
several parts of the country and of all the social and political
prejudices that attended on these divergences, was it going
to be possible to administer a constantly growing consoli-
dated federal government for any length of time? Had not

_the steamboat, the railroad, and the telegraph come when
they did would the Union have long continued ? It is well
to ponder these facts before condemning Patrick Henry or
Samuel Adams for their opposition to the establishment of
a national government, or Washington for his dismal fore-
bodings as to his ability to carry on the work.

« Men and women in those days lived a simple and natural
existence, lacking the home conveniences and hygienic im-
provements of the present day. One’s imagination finds it
difficult to picture Washington in Robert Morris’s mansion
at Philadelphia, or Jefferson in the ‘“President’s Palace” at
Washington City, without a lighting system —no gas, no
electricity, not even kerosene — without plumbing, heating
plant, or telephone, with nothing, indeed, but walls, floors,
and ceilings, expensively decorated, to be sure, and filled with
some of the best furniture of the time. Salaries and incomes
were commensurate with this simplicity of living. The
President of the United States received twenty-five thou-
sand dollars each year and a residence which was partly fur-
nished at public expense ;! but no other compensation came
anywhere near to this. An annual salary of four thousand
dollars was allotted to the Chief Justice of the United States,

1 The salaries paid to Washington, paid to President Wilson and the twelve
Jefferson, and Hamilton may be com- thousand each paid to SBecretaries Bryan
pared with the seventy-five thousand and McAdoo.
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while the Associate Justices and the Secretaries of State and
Treasury were given three thousand five hundred dollars each
in 1789 ; but this amount was somewhat increased before the
close of the century. Important clerks, who really were
assistant secretaries, were given eight hundred dollars a year
and minor clerks as little as five hundred.! The most pros-
perous lawyer in the country took in ten thousand dollars a
year.? Possibly this estimate was too high, for the largest
amount that John Marshall received as a practising lawyer
was not far from five thousand dollars. This was in 1798 or
1799 when he stood at the head of his profession in Virginia,
— a few years earlier his income was much smaller. The
compensation of clergymen, in those days, as in our own, was
much lessthan that paid to successful lawyers ; but the parson
had a certain fixity of tenure in his place and his compensa-
tion. One of them, John Pierce of Brookline, Massachusetts,
was 8 painstaking and popular preacher and a most careful
keeper of accounts. He had a settled salary, a parsonage,
a farm, and an allowance for fuel, and, in addition, received
extra grants from his parish and a continuing flow of presents
from his parishioners. He carefully estimated the money
value of each gift and set it down in a book with the extra
grants and legacies. Lumping his receipts together, it ap-
pears that in cash or its equivalent, he took in from eight
hundred to a thousand dollars a year.? A minister similarly

$ For the compensations of 1793, see

1802. The governor of Massachusetts
Hamilton's *“Estimate of Appropria-

in 1814 was paid $2666.67, the chief

tions"” for that year in Annals of Con-
. 2nd Cong., 1285. For increases see
of March, 1799, in ithd., 5th Cong..

iii, 3939. Collectors of customs

1)

the collector at Philadelphia took

justice of the State $3500. 1. Thomas,
Jr.'s Town and County Almanack for
1814.

2 Timothy Pickering to John Adams,
September 20, 1798.

$The Reverend John Pierce kept
most detailed books. One set was de-
voted to his presents, a money value
being affixed to each. The total of
the presents varied from $153.00 in 1803
to $618.00 in 1813, averaging in the later
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circumstanced today receives five or six thousand dollars
annually. The incomes of business men are impossible of
computation now and were then, but the diaries tell us some-
thing as to the wages of working men. A man who could do
rough carpentry in rural New England received about eighty
cents a day. In addition he had a little farm of his own and
& house, which possibly had come down to him from his
father. His total income might be estimated as the equiva-
lent of four hundred and fifty or five hundred dollars a year.
A man of the same grade in the labor scale in our own time
would earn two dollars and a half to three dollars a day. In
domestic service, one can take as a standard the old-fashioned
New England general houseworker. In those days she re-
ceived about thirty-nine or forty dollars a year, or twenty
shillings New England currency a month. These incomes
seem very small indeed, and one is tempted to moralize on the
insufficiency of compensation to all but the highest placed
and most successful men in the country.

In 1800 the hand-worker labored twelve or thirteen hours
a day, the merchant and the professional man worked from
nine in the morning until his dinner at two or three in the
afternoon. KFor a hundred years the hand-worker has con-
stantly diminished his hours of labor and now ceases produc-
tive employment in the middle of the afternoon; whereas
the professional man has elongated his period of daily money-
getting to ten, twelve, or fourteen hours. Meantime the
laborer’s wages have tripled or quadrupled, but the brain-
worker and master of finance or administration takes in ten,
twenty, or fifty times as much as he did in 1800. Whether
there is any relation between these various factors and what
it is, is a subject for debate; but it would seem that the in-

years of his pastorate about $400.00 Brookline, then as now, being the
anmnlly He probably was one of the chosen place of residence of rich men.
best paid ministers in New England;
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come of the laboring man as measured in purchasing power
has diminished relatively to that of the head-worker. The
efficiency of machinery and attendance due to division of
labor, to shorter hours, and to increased speed is one of the
marvels of modern times. Might it not be worth discussion,
however, as to whether the introduction of some diversity of
employment, some lengthening of hours, and some lessening
of tension would not lead to greater efficiency of the human
race in the long run of years. Or, recurring to Adam Smith’s
classic example of the pin-maker, in this search for “effi-
ciency,’”’ has there not been too much consideration for the pin
and too little for the maker, — for the man and woman?
Before the epoch of cities and railroads, aimost nothing was
paid for the transportation and distribution of the necessi-
ties of life. The people then lived on farms and plantations
or in small groups in villages and in towns, and few of them
in anything that could be likened to the present ever thicken-
ing congeries of humanity. In other words they lived near
to the source of supplies and they paid nothing for delivery.
With the exception of flour and a few tropical commodities
and some manufactured goods, the New Englander bought
almost nothing that was not produced or made within five
miles of his house. The case was even truer of the farmer of
the Middle States or the planter of the South. Contrast this
simplicity of existence for a moment with the complexity of
city dwelling today. Take the New Yorker, and think of
him as he sits down to his breakfast. His grape-fruit comes
from Cuba, Florida, or California, his cereal from Ohio, his
chop from Montana, his bread from Minnesota, and his
butter, milk, and eggs from nobody knows where, but a long
way from Fifth Avenue. And so it is with everything.
Nothing that a man eats or drinks is grown on Manhattan
Island. All this concentration of food-stuffs at a given point
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and prompt distribution of them cost a great deal of money
and take up a large part of the increased incomes of the
people. Another portion goes for the daily transporta-
tion of the worker. In 1800, men and women, exeept a few of
the richest sort, lived within easy walking distances of their
employments. Now every one pays for miles of travel daily,
and an expenditure such as millions make each year for auto-
mobiles was then undreamed of. Almost no one then, ex-
cept ministers, politicians, lawyers, and sailors, ever went
twenty miles from home.

Running over diaries, letters, and account books and
utilizing whatever “prices current’”’ have come down to us
and such advertisements as one can find in the newspapers,
it is possible to reach a rough approximation of something
like a chart of prices. Taking five commodities that may
fairly be classed among the necessities, — flour, beef, coffee,
sugar, and butter,—let us compare prices in 1800 and in 1900.
In April, 1800, a householder at Boston could buy one pound
of each of these things for eighty cents;! his successor a

1 Before 1800 prices were ordinarily The following table — confessedly im-
stated in shillings and pence of the local perfect — will give some idea of the
ourrency ; after 1800 they are more and range of prices in these years ;: —
more often given in dollars and cents.

Baxv, Warra |p Mo~ |Urrano

moon B | BT |TET Sqn [V e o
Boston, 1700 . . |8 7.67 - _— —_ .29 —_
Boston, 1800 . .| 10.25-12.50| .08 25 18 |.16-.20| .48 40
Boston, 1810 . . 8.26-11.25 |.07-.10|.24-.25( .12} |.16-.23| .67 .16
New York, 1790 . _ —_ —_ — —_ —_

New York, 1800 . | $ 9.50-10.50(.08-.10|.23-.27]|.156-.17}|.16-.18| .56 |.28-.32

New York, 1810 . 7.76-10.76| — |.18-.24] — —_ .60 |.15-.18
Philadelphis, 1700 | $ 5.73-8.26 — |.16-.18| .10+ .35 —
Philadelphis, 1800 | 10.00-11.50| .08 .25 14 48 40
Philadelphia, 1810 7.00-10.50| .10 |.18-.24|.12-.14 .85 —_—

In gathering these statistics, I have been greatly assisted by Mr. Herman
H. Haskins of Winchester, Massachusetts.
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hundred years later would have paid one hundred and ten
* cents or about one-quarter more. A century ago, beef and
mutton were cheap, costing about eight cents a pound.
Breadstuffs, on the other hand, were high; corn bringing
seventy-five cents a bushel or more and flour costing from
eight to ten dollars a barrel. Coffee was a little cheaper than
it is now, but sugar cost from fifteen to twenty cents a pound,
instead of five or six; and butter brought twenty cents in-
stead of about thirty-five for the same grade and season.
There was considerable variation in prices in different parts
of the country, owing to the crudities of the transportation
system. Breadstuffs were noticeably cheaper outside of New
England, but imported foods were as a rule more expen-
give, in these early years, at New York and Philadelphia
than they were at Boston and Salem. One of the things that
surprises a student is the constancy of the yearly average of
food prices at any one place and the seasonal variations
which are repeated year after year. Turning now from
food to clothing, it appears that it cost about as many dol-
lars and cents to provide a suit of clothes or a dress as it does
at the present time. Fashions in clothing and nomenclature
of goods change so rapidly that it is impossible to construct
anything like a chart of prices of textiles. Cottons had not
begun to take the place of woollens and linens in 1790, or even
in 1800, and the price of fabrics had not yet been affected
by the introduction of cheap manufacturing processes, cheap
fibre, or the production of ready-made clothing of all prices
and qualities. John Pierce valued a broadcloth suit, which
a parishioner had given him, at forty-four dollars, and Jeffer-
son paid twenty-eight dollars each for the liveries that were
worn by the servants at the President’s Mansion. Foot-
wear appears to have been much cheaper then than now;
ladies’ slippers costing lees than two dollars a pair. As soon,
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however, as one gets away from the everyday things that one
associates with human' existence, prices are out of all com-
parison with' those of the present day.

Up to 1800, house warming was by means of wood fires
in the old-fashioned fireplaces, although Franklin and Count
Rumford had already designed more effective means for util-
izing the heat of burning wood and coal. About 1809 adver-
tisements of stoves and furnaces begin to appear in the news-
papers.! Jefferson used coal brought from Richmond by
water to heat the presidential mansion during a part of his
term of office,? and not many years were to pass away before
John Pierce was having semi-bituminous coal delivered at
his house in Brookline for twelve dollars a ton. Taking
everything into consideration and making all possible allow-
ances for the imperfection of such records as are accessible,
it seems that the difference in the cost of living between the
beginning and the ending of the nineteenth century was
due to the confinement of one’s expenditures —in 1800 —
for the most part to things that were produced near at hand,
and to the great paucity of opportunity for expenditure on
amusements and other accessories of existence.

There were theatres at New York and Philadelphia and
plays were enacted at other places, even at Boston and
Salem.! Side by side with these, and often in connection

18ee Columbian Centinel, Jan. 11, total necessary expenses for a year in-
1809 cluding matriculation and tuition are

3 A side-light on expenses is given by
Jefferson’s board bills at Philadelphia
while Vice-President. In 1798 and
again in 1799, he paid $26.00 a week
for himself and servant, $13.00 being
for the rooms; besides, his candles cost
him .27 & week, his fire-wood from
$3.60 a week to $4.00. In 1799, Presi-
dent Bmith of Princeton sent an esti-
mate to Madison as to the yearly ex-
penses of a student. In this he gives
board as $2.33 a week, wood at $4.67 a
oord, and candles at .16} a pound. The

" set down at $176.35. Besides, a student

provided his own bed and furniture, and
President 8mith stated that voluntary
expenses for dress and horses are gener-
ally made considerably more, especially
for southern students. Theee

are borne out by the statement of John
Quincy Adams that $300.00 would pay
for a year at Harvard College.

3 William Dunlap's History of the
American Theatre (New York, 1832;
London, 1833) sets forth at length the
Vicissitudes of the drama in early
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which included charges for three dozen bottles of porter, six
gallons of madeira, four gallons of spirits, and five dozen
bottles of claret. Far away from New York in a little in-
land town in Georgia, two New Englanders opened a general
store and like all of their kind sold liquor, — sometimes as
much as thirty pounds sterling worth in one day. Practi-
cally all of the rum sold at this store was consumed within
one rod of the door, there being sometimes fifty men drink-
ing at once.! There were not wanting people even in those
days to urge reform in drinking habits. Among others, was
Dr. Benjamin Rush. In 1788, he wrote that in 1915, a cen-
tury and a quarter later, an habitual drunkard would be
held, he hoped, as infamous in society as a liar or a
thief !

Dr. Rush was as far in advance of his times in this thought
as he was behind in some others. At the moment, intoxica-
tion was regarded rather as an accomplishment than a dis-
grace, and alcoholic stimulant was looked upon as a necessity.
It is one of the most curious pursuits of the historian to seek
to relate cause and effect. There is little doubt of the pre-
eminence of Jefferson and Madison in the office of Secretary
of State, and we have had few better representatives at
London than Rufus King. Whether alcohol quickened or
dimmed their intellects would probably best be left for deci-
sion to others. What effect it produced on their bodily
% Massachusetts Historical Society's

Collections, Sixth Series, iv, 417. There
were other advocates of temperanoce,

' The Alezander Letters, 1789-1900,
p. 16. In 1787, Andrew Ellicott start-
ing on a surveying expedition into the

western country and expecting to be
away about four months, took for the
use of the party 176 gallons of rum, 64
of whiskey, and 16 of brandy. On the
other hand, it is worth noting that when
Dane was in New York in 1790 with his

but they were not many. In Thomsas's
Almanac for 1806, there is an exhorta-
tion on the dangers of flip, toddy, and
milk punch, and an advocacy of switchel,
cider, and pure water and the state-
ment that the rum drunk by three handc
in the haying season would purchase
three calves or pay the taxes of a small
farmer. .
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sentations of horrible scenes, and theatrical performances.
Dr. Pierce viewed all the animals that came to Boston, at
~ twenty-five cents apiece; Washington and Mrs. Washington
went to the theatre, both at New York and at Philadelphia.
They also visited the circus and went to other public enter-
tainments.

As things were, the easiest way to forget one’s self was to
. take to alcoholic stimulants. Wines and liquors were con-
sumed in almost fabulous quantities. Jefferson in his eight
yearsof the presidency spent $10,855.90 for wines and liquors,
besides at least another thousand for “syrup of punch” and
other stimulants that were consumed at Monticello. Wash-
ington’s presidential wine bill has not been preserved, but
his inventory of the contents of the President’s House at
Philadelphia notes punch urns valued at £143, bottle stands
at £12, and bottle rollers at £99. Other evidence of the
drinking habits of those days comes out in letters and re-
ceipted bills. Margaret Bayard Smith’s husband, Samuel
Harrison Smith, writing to her while absent, told of a dinner
party at General Dearborn’s, the Secretary of War, at which
Madison, the Secretary of State, and Gideon Granger, the
Postmaster General, were present. It was Saturday night.
After one or two bottles of champagne the conversation
turned on the effects of that wine on the human head. Dear-
born produced bottle after bottle from the cellar and the
next day being Sunday, they decided to experiment upon
themselves and did so.! In 1785, Nathan Dane, the sup-
posed author of the anti-slavery clause in the Ordinance of
1787, was at New York on official business for the State of
Massachusetts. He lodged with Elbridge Gerry and Rufus
King. After a two weeks’ stay he paid the bill for all three,

1 Margaret Bayard Bmith’'s Forty QGalllard Hunt), p. 385,
Years of Washington Sociely (ed. by
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which included charges for three dozen bottles of porter, six
gallons of madeira, four gallons of spirits, and five dozen
bottles of claret. Far away from New York in a little in-
land town in Georgia, two New Englanders opened a general
store and like all of their kind sold liquor, — sometimes as
much as thirty pounds sterling worth in one day. Practi-
cally all of the rum sold at this store was consumed within
one rod of the door, there being sometimes fifty men drink-
ing at once.! There were not wanting people even in those
days to urge reform in drinking habits. Among others, was
Dr. Benjamin Rush. In 1788, he wrote that in 1915, a cen-
tury and a quarter later, an habitual drunkard would be
held, he hoped, as infamous in society as a liar or a
thief.?

Dr. Rush was as far in advance of his times in this thought
a8 he was behind in some others. At the moment, intoxica-
tion was regarded rather as an accomplishment than a dis-
grace, and alcoholic stimulant was looked upon as a necessity.
It is one of the most curious pursuits of the historian to seek
to relate cause and effect. There is little doubt of the pre-
eminence of Jefferson and Madison in the office of Secretary
of State, and we have had few better representatives at
London than Rufus King. Whether alcohol quickened or
dimmed their intellects would probably best be left for deci-
sion to others. What effect it produced on their bodily

8 Massachusetts Historical Society’s

1 The Alexander Letters, 1789-1900,
Collections, Sixth Series, iv, 417. There

p. 16. In 1787, Andrew Ellicott start-

ing on a surveying expedition into the
western country and expecting to be
about four months, took for the
the party 176 gallons of rum, 64
whiskey, and 16 of brandy. On the
hand, it is worth noting that when
was in New York in 1790 with his
be paid for only one bottle of wine ;
be may have spent some part of his
with Gerry and King, both of
were now members of Congress.
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were other advocates of temperanoce,
but they were not many. In Thomas's
Almanac for 1806, there is an exhorta-
tion on the dangers of flip, toddy, and
milk punch, and an advocacy of switchel,
cider, and pure water and the state-
ment that the rum drunk by three handc
in the haying season would purchase
three calves or pay the taxes of a small
farmer. .
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health is also an interesting inquiry and one upon which
conclusion would be quite as difficult. King died at the age
of seventy-two, Jefferson at eighty-three, and Madison at
eighty-five, after years of service unsurpassed each in his way.

Those days were certainly unlike our own in the simplicity
of living and in the attitude of society toward the use of
alcoholic drinks. They were also very unlike our own in the
modes of thinking and in the attitude toward many things
that are now looked upon as ethically wrong. As to the use
of deductive reasoning, the difference is possibly nowhere
better seen than in the rudeness of the treatment of disease
and in the failure to relate cause to effect, while the ethical
dissimilarity is well illustrated by the attitude of society
toward lotteries then and now. There were old men to be
found in nearly every town and village. In Salem, Massa-
chusetts, in 1811, on one street within a distance of three
hundred and fifty feet, there were thirteen persons whose
aggregate years numbered one thousand and twelve, the
youngest being seventy years of age and the oldest ninety-
five! On the other hand, it is noticeable that men of fifty
regarded themselves as beginning the evening of their days
or as verging on the decline of life. There was a great deal
of solicitude as to the state of one’s “health.” Letters begin
with inquiries a8 to the other’s health and with statements as
to the writer’s own condition of body.

Mortality statistics were published in the newspapers much
more widely than now, but owing to the difficulty of getting
at complete files of papers whatever figures are available are
necessarily fragmentary. A few conclusions may be reached
with some degree of safety. One is that the rate of mortality
- was approximately the same as today, but was differently
distributed. The proportion of deaths of children to the

1 Salem Gasette for Friday, May 3, 1811. See also idid., for January 10, 1812,
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whole number was shocking. One-half of the deaths in
New York and Philadelphia in portions of 1804 and 1808 were
of children under ten years of age. Apart from infantile dis-
orders and from the ravages of epidemics, consumption ac-.
counted for the greatest number of deaths. On the average
from one-fifth to one-quarter of the total yearly deaths
in Boston were from this disease as compared with eleven
per cent in that city in 1910. Of course something may be
attributed to difference of diagnosis, but most of the deaths
from consumption were due to ignorance of the proper mode
of treatment. In those days, a fever was a fever, no matter
what its origin, and the way to treat it was to reduce it by
bleeding the patient and by purgings. As one lay scoffer
wrote of a noted physician, “If they [his patients] are not
quite gone, he bleeds them to death.” Many other modes
of treatment of tuberculosis were proposed. One of them
consisted in a temperate mode of living, the avoiding of
liquors, wearing flannel next the skin, and a morning draught
of “half a pint of new milk, mixed with the expressed juice
of green hoarhound.” Doubtless this was more efficacious
than giving oil of earthworms for colic or an emulsion of
dried rattlesnake for rheumatism, but its effect on a tubercu-
lous person could not have been very great. Cancer figures
very slightly in the early lists, but from the frequency of
remedies for it advertised in the papers, there may have
been more of it than appears on the surface.

Doctors and patients had no idea of the part played by
sanitation and personal hygiene, or of the influence of micro-
scopic organisms. When the yellow fever came to Phila-
delphia, it was accounted for in all manner of ways. Some
thought that it came from the offensive smell emitted from a
cargo of putrid coffee. Others held that it was a pestilential
poison brought from the West Indies or was due to a peculiar
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condition of the atmosphere which was shown by the swarms
of grasshoppers, flies, and mosquitoes.! It came year after
year in the summer, and was confined to certain limited
areas in Philadelphia and other cities. It disappeared with
the first cold weather and could be avoided by moving a short
distance away.?

Dr. Benjamin Rush, one of the foremost physlcxans of the
day, in letters to his wife, whom he had promptly sent out of
town, gives a picture of the horrors of the epidemic of 1793
that reminds one of Daniel Defoe’s “Journal of the Plague
Year.” For days and weeks, his house was crowded at all
hours, — “It is not yet five o’clock [A.M.] and I have had
seven calls already.” Two to six persons were sometimes ill
in one family at a time. Parents deserted their children
and children thrust their parents out into the streets as soon
as they complained of a headache. Rush’s sister and one
of his apprentices died in his house, his mother and two
apprentices were stricken with the fever, and he, himself,
was greatly worn by his responsibilities, fatigues, and inevi-
table sympathizings. Morning after morning, he awakened
surprised to find himself still alive? Most of the officials

1 Jean Dovue s French physician
from Cap , was ocertain it was

worms. Doctor Brown of Boston held
that “Septic poison (venim septique)’’

not conhco\u and attributed it to some
change in the air, Recherches et Observa-
tions, Sur les Causes et les Effets de la
Maladie Epidémique qus a régné & Phi-
ladelphie, depuis le mois d’Aogt jusques
vers le milieu du mois de Décembre de
l'année 1768 (Philadelphia, 1704). Dr.
J. L. E. Wm. 8hecut of Charleston, in
his “Essay on the Yellow Fever,' at-
tributed it to a ** specific gaseous poison *’
which came from an “impaired state
of the atmospherical air.” Dr. Rush
thought it came from * putrid exhalations
from vegetable and animal substances.”
He protested vigorously against the
belief that it was imported. Noah
Webster thought it was caused by
earthquakes, storms, dead fish, or black

was responsible for many human plagues
which ‘“are generally said to have been
imported in ships from the coasts of
Africa.” For the outbreak of 1798,
see Condie and Folwell's History of the
Pestilence, commonly called Yellow Fever,
which almost desolated Philadelphia in
... 1788.

28ee the very interesting Eztracts
from the Journal of Elisabeth Drinker,
Jrom 1759 to 1807, edited by Henry D.
Biddle (Philadelphia, 1889) ; and Mem-
oirs of Matthew Clarkson . . . and
Gerardus Clarkson, 57-74.

30ld Family Letters relating to the
Yellow Fever, Seriss B., 26, 31, 82, 88,
81; Benjamin Rush’s Enquiry inio the
Origin of the late Eprdemic Fever in Phil-
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fled to Germantown or to Trenton, but Oliver Wolcott
remained at his post. In September, he wrote: “Every
face is sad, all conversation is avoided except at a distance,
a great part of the houses are shut up — & the Citizens fled,
the Streets in the buisy parts of the City where I now write
are as silent as at midnight.””! More than thirty-five hun-
dred persons perished of the fever before the cold weather
put a stop to the infection; on one day one hundred and
thirty-seven bodies were buried by the public authorities
besides those who were interred by their families or friends.
Other towns endeavored to keep the plague away from them
by instituting quarantines which were enforced by military
guards.

The case was very similar with consumption. There was
a Virginia clergyman in whose family and in that of his wife
consumption had been very fatal.  He, himself, was attacked
by the disease. In desperation he abandoned his home and
lived in the open. He soon got better, returned to his
house, and again had to seek safety in the woods. No one
undertook an investigation of the flora and fauna of Phila-
delphisa, or of the environment of the consumptives. Very
likely they could not have gone far with the instruments at
their disposal, but it would certainly seem that by experi-
mentation and exercising their powers of deduction, they
might have stumbled upon the reason of both of these dis-
orders or, at any rate, have removed the cause of them.?

adelphia, and the papers controverting 1 Skeel's Noah Wobster, 1,- 369.
b-podﬁonbythCmy,Wmnm Timothy Piakoﬁngahoducribodtho
pestilence in a letter dated Philadel-
phia, Oct. 1, 1783; see Upham’'s Life
of Pickering, iii, 86. The letter is at
greater length in * Pickering Papers,”
a8 & whole see David Ramsay's vol. 35, fo. 177. 8. J. Harrison wrote
: ? a graphio acoount of his own case (TAe

on the Death of Dr. Benjamin Harrisons of Skimino, 63).
H i 3 G. Brown Goode gave some facts
. « Dr) Benjomin Rush Written by as to scientific thinking in the United
Mimeoslf (Lanorale, 1905). States in the earlier period in his “Be-
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Instead of so doing, they dosed and bled the victim of
yellow fever and “peri-pneumonia’ and carefully nursed
the consumptive in the warmest and tightest room in the
house. ‘

One of the greatest scourges of those days was small-pox.
Any one familiar with the history of the Revolutionary War
realizes what terrible ravages this disease made with the
soldiers. The only remedy for it was inoculation, or giving
the actual small-pox to a patient in health and under the
most favorable possible circumstances. Small-pox came in
waves. At its worst it was very fatal, attacking all ranks
of society. Inoculation lessened the mortality ; but it was
always very disagreeable, frequently brought about de-
formities, and was sometimes fatal. In 1799, Dr. Water-
house of Cambridge learned of Jenner’s discovery of the
relation of cow-pox to small-pox and procured some vaccine
matter from him. With this he vaccinated four of his own
children, and three other members of his family. A month
later, these were taken to a small-pox hospital and inocu-
lated. All came out at the end of ten days without any signs
of infection. Jefferson was one of the first to welcome the
new discovery. He obtained some of the mattep from Dr.
Waterhouse and caused eighty or ninety persons to be vac-
cinated at Monticello and vicinity.! The belief in the new
prophylactic spread very slowly. In 1802, the Boston
Board of Health permitted an experiment to be tried on a
group of children. Twelve of these had been vaccinated
and two others had not had either cow-pox or small-pox.
The whole fourteen were inoculated with small-pox, and the

ginniwoletnulEHoryhAmMu had received vaccine matter from Dr.
the Proceedings of the Biological Waterhouse and had inoculated twenty
Socuty of Washington, iii. members of his family, his sons-in-law
1 Letter from Jefferson dated Monti- inooculating sixty or seventy more.
oello, September, 1801, stating that he




1789] PATENT MEDICINES 23

twelve who had been vaccinated, showing no signs of the
small-pox, were again inoculated with it. They all re-
mained together in one room, oftentimes sleeping in the same
bed, without producing the least appearance of small-pox in
those who had been vaccinated. The report of this experi-
ment was published by the authorities and seems to have
produced conviction of the efficacy of vaccination.!
Doctors went their rounds with lancet and physic.? No
visit was complete without leaving a vial of medicine, for
which the physician charged more ungenerously than he did
for his own services. Calomel, jalap, salts, and ipecac with
preparations of mercury and opium were administered in
combination with bleeding by day and by night. The
papers had columns of advertisements of patent medicines,
for the taking of these avoided the doctor and his lancet.
The list is long and elaborate; from ‘“Bateman’s Drops”
and “Botanical Tea’’ to “Dr. Robertson’s Celebrated Elixir
of Health” and “Dr. Coolidge’s Anti-Pestilential Pills.”
The advertisements ran to column length with statements
of virtues and warm testimonials of cures effected. News-¢
papers all over the country contained them, showing how
widespread was the habit of medicine taking. Sometimes
they occupied one-half of a page of a four-paged paper or one-
eighth of the whole printed space, which would be equiva-

18ee lotter of Dr. Waterhouse to
President Dwight of Yale, printed in
the Norfolk, Va., Epitome of the Times,
July 7, 1800. The account of the ex-
periment at Boston is taken from the
*Report of the Board of Health’’ of Dec.
15, 1802, printed in broadside. By 18056
doctors in several parts of the country
were advertising that they were pre-
pared to vaccinate. There is an inter-
esting account of small-pox in the
Columbian Centinel of Oct. 28, 1809.

2 Doctors’ bills were left unpaid some-
times for years. Many of them have

been preserved and tell how great a part
bleeding and purging played in the phy-
sician’s life. In 1808, Dr. Foushee
presented a bill to a Richmond merchant
of seventy entries, some sixty were for
bleeding or purging. One charge in
1803 was for a night visit for the pur-
pose of bleeding the debtor’s spouse, for
which a charge of eighteen shillings was
made; but a day visit to the|sister-in-
law for the same purpose was set down
at six shillings. These charges were in
Virginia currency and were equal to
three dollars and one dollar in silver.
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lent to five or six pages of a present~-day Sunday issue. Of all
the patent medicines, none were more persistently advertised
and presumably in greater demand than those of Dr. Hamil-
ton. His “Elixir” cured colds, obstinate coughs, and ap-
proaching consumption. Luther Martin, the Attorney Gen-~
eral of Maryland, gave his testimonial of its worth in relieving
him of a “painful and troublesome affection of the breast,
accompanied with soreness and obstructed and difficult
breathing.” Even more efficacious was Dr. Hamilton’s
“Grand Restorative.” It actually cured consumption and
melancholy, —in the advertisments, —his ‘Essence of
Mustard” disposed of gout and sciatica, while his “Worm
Lozenges” were truly wonderful in their advertised opera-
tion. These advertisements are found in papers all over
the country, and patent medicines ordinarily formed a part
of the stock in trade of the general store-keeper. Next to
proprietors of patent medicines, the lottery brokers con-
tributed most largely to the finances of the owners and pub-
lishers of newspapers.

Business men and speculators with money and credit
found ample uses for their funds in investment in govern-
ment bonds and bank stock, in land promoting, and in com-
mercial ventures to the far East and to Russia. For those
with small sums of money to invest, there were few oppor-
tunities before the days of industrial and public service cor-
porations, with their multitudinous bonds and stocks. The
small investor and the lesser speculator found in lottery
tickets their only chance of gain or loss.! Lotteries go back
in American history to the beginning of colonization, when
the Virginia Company was authorized to secure funds in this

1 The first advertisement of a sale of nine separate corporations, one bank,
shares in private corporations that I one aqueduct, two turnpike, and five

have seen is in the Salem Gasette for insurance companies.
March 20, 1812, and included shares in
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way. They remained in good public odor until the second
third of the nineteenth century, when the moral reaction of
that time made people look at them somewhat askance.!
Washington bought lottery tickets at various times.? Jeffer-
son sought to rehabilitate his lost fortunes by selling some of
his lands through a lottery; and Dr. Bentley, of Salem in
Massachusetts, wrote that the building of colleges and meet-
ing houses “seems [to be] a public licence to the clergy for
speculation, which many of them chearfully embrace.”?
The newspapers contain one advertisement after another of
lotteries, sometimes even three columns of them, and posters
were printed by promoters and ticket brokers, as W. and T.
Kidder and Gilbert and Dean — two enterprising Boston
firms. One issue of the Philadelphia “Aurora’” advertised
four church lotteries: the Holy Trinity, the Fourth Presby-
terian, the Second Baptist, the African Episcopal, as well as
the “Lottery for the Encouragement of the Useful Arts.”
To this list of church lotteries might be added from other
papers the German Evangelical Reformed Church of Phila-
delphia and the Catholic Cathedral Church of Baltimore.
Educational institutions found this the most feasible means
of raising money. From Dartmouth College in New Hamp-
shire to William and Mary College in Virginia and Vincennes
University in Indiana, they employed this mode of financial
relief. Turnpikes, as the Bustleton and Smithfield road near
Philadelphia, and canals, as the South Hadley Canal, were
built or dug at the expense of the buyers of lottery tickets.
Money was raised in this way for a monument to Washington

1 The following matter on lotteriesis A. R. Spofford’s article in American
made up mainly from the newspapers, as  Historical Association’s Report for 1892,
the Baltimore American and the Ken- p. 173. .
tuchy Gazette. See also J. R. Tyson’s 2In 1794, he paid $188.00 for 20
Brief Survey of the Great Extent and eril  tickets in ‘“‘P. Fitzburgh's lottery,”
Tendencies of the Lottery System (Phila- Pennsylvania Magazine of History, xxx,
delphia, 1833); Picture of a Factory 161.

Village (Providence, 1833, p. 118), and 3 Diary of William Bentley, ii, 97.
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and also for the “Society for the Relief of Poor Widows with
small children.”

A simple form of lottery was that advertised in the *“Balti-
more American’’ in 1808 for “A College in Baltimore.” In
this case there were twenty-two thousand ticketsat ten dollars
each which should bring in two hundred and twenty thou-
sand dollars. Prizes were offered to this total amount, but
fifteen per cent was deducted at the time of payment. This
left thirty-three thousand dollars for expenses and the college.
The Bustleton and Smithfield turnpike lottery was one of
the largest and most elaborate. There were to be eighty
drawings in all, three in each week and at least four hundred
tickets at each drawing. The greatest prize was drawn on
the forty-fifth day, but there then remained several prizes of
one thousand dollars or over and the scheme of the lottery
provided that the first drawn of the last two hundred and
fifty tickets should get a prize of ten thousand dollars. The
price of tickets in this lottery started at ten dollars apiece;
on the forty-second day it was raised to thirteen dollars, on
the sixty-sixth day to fifteen dollars, on the seventieth to
twenty dollars, and on the seventy-fifth to thirty. The Har-
vard College Lottery was perhaps the most widely advertised,
even as far afield as Charleston, South Carolina. The record
books of some of the drawings of this lottery are still pre-
served. It went on from year to year, the total amount
taken for each class varying from seventy thousand to eighty
thousand dollars. Two-thirds of the tickets were doomed
to draw blanks; the prizes, going to the holders of fortunate
numbers, ranged from six dollars to twenty thousand ; the
last drawn number taken from the wheel being entitled to five
thousand dollars. The expenses of this lottery were de-
ducted from the prizes, the net profit realized in each year
being about fifteen thousand dollars. In connection with
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lotteries as well as with patent medicines, one comes nearer
to modern advertising methods than anywhere else. In
‘“Relfs Philadelphia Gazette”’ for September 7, 1808, “Hope
and Company’’ invite the ladies, who are not obliged to ““ con-
sult their cautious plodding husbands’’ to buy tickets in the
Universalist Church lottery or in the Holy Trinity lottery
and thus gain “one or more of the many dazzling prizes”
which await “the claim of beauty.” Brokers sometimes
offered to receive worn-out bills at a small discount or even
approved promissory notes in exchange for lottery tickets.
These glimpses into the past certainly give us a feeling of
queerness ; but, before we sit too tight with our consciences, we
would do well to picture to ourselves what those purchasers
of lottery tickets would have thought of Wall Street or of the
Chicago Wheat Pit. It is quite evident that when Washing-
ton took the oath of office in New York on the last day of
April, 1789, living and ideas of life were far removed from
ours, materially, morally, and mentally. In actual number
of days, months, and years that time was only a century and a
quarter away, but in essentials that epoch belonged to the
days of Commissary Blair and the Earl of Shaftesbury. In
the quarter century before 1815, the national life was reor-
ganized and the American mind prepared to take advantage
of the opportunities which the application of steam to modes
of transportation and to the moving of machinery were to
place within the people’s grasp.
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NOTE

1. General Bibliography. — The Second Series of Hildreth’s United
States ! remains to this day the most satisfactory account of the ad-
ministrations of Washington and John Adams, although written
three-quarters of a century ago. The book has no pretensions to
literary merit, is a mere annal, and is prejudiced; but it gives the
facts accurately and in usable form. The first volume of James
Schouler’s History of the United States . . . under the Constitution
(5 vols., Washington, 1880-1891) was printed in 1880, some thirty
years later than Hildreth’s original edition. In the intervening time
a great deal of material had been made accessible. Schouler’s sym-
pathies are with Jefferson rather than with the Federalists, but his
style is as dry as that of Hildreth. Very different from these books
in point of view and in use of material is McMaster's History of the
People of the United States (8 vols., New York, 1884-1913). As the
title implies, this work goes far beyond the merely political and seeks
to bring to view the reasons for political action. McMaster used the
newspapers with great effect, but, sometimes, without the exercise
of the critical care which this class of material peculiarly demands.
There is also a certain metallic quality to the style and a lack of varia-
tion which makes the book difficult reading in any quantitative
manner. As a storehouse and index to material, it is unsurpassed, —
but sometimes it is difficult to verify the citations.? Of the smaller
and more recent books, Professor J. S. Bassett’s Federalist System,
forming the eleventh volume of Albert Bushnell Hart’s American
Nation series, is an excellent piece of work, bearing in mind the limited
space at the author’s disposal.

1 Richard Hildreth’s History of the vols. including index, Chicago, 1877~
United States from the Adoption of the 1892) enjoyed great vogue when it ap-
Pederal Conatitution to the end of the Siz- peared; but owing to his doctrinaire
teenth Congress (3 vols. New York, 1851).  treatment of our history has since lost

2 H. von Holst's Constitutional and favor.

Political History of the United States (8



CHAPTER II

ORGANIZATION OF THE GOVERNMENT

THE fourth day of March, 1789, was the time appointed,
and New York the place, for beginning operations under
the new Constitution.! Ever since September, 1788, when
the demise of the old Confederation had been settled with-
out reclaim, Congress had led a lingering and stuporous
existence. October 10, 1788, was the last time that a
quorum of States had attended. Enough members ap-
peared every now and then, thereafter, to go through the
form of adjournment and to give Charles Thomson the
chance to add a name or two to the roll. The last entry
was made on March 2, 1789, and noted the coming of “M*
Philip Pell from New York.”* For the next week or two

1 Resolved, That the first Wednesday
in January next, be the day for appoint-

New Jersey
Saturday Jan¥ 10 M? T. Coxe from

ing electors in the several states, which
before the said day shall have ratified
the said oconstitution; that the first
Wednesday in February next, be the
day for the electors to assemble in their
states, and vote for a presi-
dent; and that the first Wednesday
in March next, be the time, and the
present seat of Congress the place for
commencing proceedings under the
said constitution. Journal of the United
States in Congress Assembled, September
13, 1788 (John Dunlap edition, vol.
xiii, p. 141).
21789 Thursday JanY 1 M* J R. Reid
from Pensylvania
M* R. Barnwell from South Carolina
Thursday Jan” 8 M* A Clarke from

Pensylvania

Monday Jan? 26 M® N Gorham
from Massachusetts

Thursday JanY 20 M* G Thatcher
from Massachusetts

Thursday FebY 12 M* G. Gardner
from Rhode island

Wednesday Feb? 18 M* D Gelston
from New York

Thursday FebY 19 M* N Gilman
from Newhampshire

Monday, March 2 MT Philip Pell
from New York

On March 9, 1789, Jay wrote to
Jefferson (Diplomatic Correspondence,
1783-1789, iv, 43) that at no time after

29
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there was no federal government of any kind anywhere.
Wednesday, March 4, only twenty-one members of the
new Congress were present, eight Senators and thirteen
Representatives, not a quorum of either House. Day after
day, and week after week, the members repaired to the
Federal Hall, a building that had been made over for their
 accommodation, but it was not until the first day of April
that thirty members of the House appearing, that body
organized by the choice of a Speaker. On April 6, enough
Senators answered to their names to choose a temporary
presiding officer — whose sole duty should be to open and
count the electoral votes. Washington had the vote of
every elector and was therefore President; but the second
votes of the electors were widely scattered. John Adams
had the next largest number and was, therefore, Vice-Presi-
dent, although he did not get a majority of the whole num-
ber of electors appointed. Two more weeks elapsed ere
Washington could be apprized of his election and reach the
seat of government. He had been very unwilling to allow
his name to be placed before the electors, as he had hoped to
pass the evening of his days in the midst of domestic felicity
at Mount Vernon. He was now in his fifty-eighth year
and, after the mode of the day, regarded himself as an old
|man. He distrusted his administrative powers. He was
painfully conscious of his financial poverty and realized
that only persistent personal oversight of his plantations
could place him on his feet. Hamilton and Madison con-
vinced him that it was his duty to accept the place, because
the expectation that he would be the first President was the

October 10, 1788, was there a quorum most feeble and undesirable institu-
of the Congrees present. That enough tions. At least one of these Congress-
members came to New York to keep men obtained an office under the new
the Confederation alive is an interest- government.

ing example of the tenacity of even the
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one thing that had induced many good people to acquiesce
in the ratification of the Constitution. He bowed to the
call of duty, borrowed six hundred pounds Virginia money
from a neighbor, — at six per cent interest, — paid off his
outstanding debts, and with some money in his pocket set
out for New York, leaving his household and the members
of his family to follow.!

From Mount Vernon to New York was one continued
ovation. Washington’s mansion had hardly faded from
sight, when the citizens of Alexandria welcomed their il-
lustrious neighbor. Across the Potomac at Georgetown,
an address and a banquet awaited him. Everywhere there
were breakfasts and dinners, processions of civilians and
militiamen; every now and then the roads and bridges
were carpeted and festooned with flowers; singing children,
pealing bells, and roaring cannon welcomed him and sped
him on his way. At the Jersey waterside, he entered a
barge rowed by thirteen ship captains and safely crossed
the river to Manhattan Island. He, himself, has told us
how his mind was oppressed with anxious and painful sen-
sations when he left Mount Vernon. All these rejoicings only
served to deepen the gloom with which he rode forward to

1 S8ee Washington to Captain Richard
Conway, March 4, 1789, in Pennsyl-
sania Magazine of History, xix, 325,
stating that short crops and other
causes incline him to borrow money on
interest. He asked for £500. Conway
lent him this amount at six per cent on
March 6, and on March 13, lent him
an extra £100, on the same terms.
‘Washington gave ‘“‘bonds” to secure
the repayment of these sums, which
was acoomplished in December, 1790.
See the ‘‘Washington Ledger’ in Li-
brary of Congress, fo. 299. Of this
sum he used a part to pay current ac-
ocounts at Mount Vernon. He bought
abill of exchange on Baltimore for £100
and one on New_York for £205. These

with cash in his own pocket, £80 or so
that he gave to Mrs. Washington and
£20 to Tobias Lear to take him and a
servant to New York, used up the bal-
ance. From a note in Ford’s edition
of Washington’s Writings, xi, 399, it
appears that he failed to secure other
loans.

In September, 1788, Edmund Ran-

. dolph wrote to Madison that the scarc-

ity of money in Virginia can hardly
be conceived by those dwelling in a
large city; * tithable negroes sell under
executions for fifteen pounds [Virginia
currency] and the approach of british
debts thickens the horror of the pros-
M'”
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take upon himself the weighty and untried task to which
his country had called him.

The inaugural proceedings at New York on April 30,
1789, were fully described by Don Diego Gardoqui, the
Spanish minister, in a letter to his chief, the Count Florida
Blanca. The State troops, so he wrote, with the ‘“high
constable’’ on horseback, and distinguished gentlemen in
carriages, escorted “his Excellency’” from his residence to
the Federal Hall. Committees of the two Houses led him
to the Senate Chamber, where he was received by John
Adams, who had already taken the chair as Vice-President.!
Shortly afterwards the party proceeded to a gallery which
opened on the street. There Robert R. Livingston, Chan-
cellor of the State of New York, administered the oath of
office, after which he proclaimed in a loud voice,* Long live
" George Washington, the President of the United States!”
Huzzas and acclamations followed, and then salutes, among
them fifteen guns from the Spanish ship-of-war, Galveston,
at anchor in the stream. The party returned to the Senate
Chamber, where the President delivered the first inaugural
address.? Fisher Ames, one of the Representatives from
Massachusetts, described this part of the proceedings.
The scene, he says, was quite of the solemn kind. Wash-
ington’s aspect was grave, almost to sadness, and his voice
so low as to call for close attention. William Maclay,

1 Adams reached New York on April
20, 1789. On the following day he
was met on the floor of the Senate
Chamber by Mr. Langdon, who had
been chosen Vice-President pro tempore.
He conducted Adams to the chair.
‘Washington reached New York two days
later. He took the oath of office pre-
scribed in the Constitution on April
30, and delivered the First Inaugural
Address. President Washington ap-
proved thelcttoroguhhthe:dmm
istering certain oaths on June 1, 1789.

In conformity with this, on June 3,
Langdon administered the oath to
John Adams as Vice-President. This
interesting sequence of events was
called to my attention by Mr. H. Bar-
rett Learned, who has studied most
thoroughly the details of the history of
the administration of our government.
3C. W. Bowen (editor), History of
the Centennial Celebration of the In-
auguration of George Washington (New
York, 1892), p. 46.
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Senator from Pennsylvania, was not so merciful. He thought
Washington agitated and embarrassed and described him
as putting the fingers, first of one hand, then of the other,
into his breeches’ pockets, and wished he could have been
first in speech making as in everything else.! After express-
ing gratitude to Heaven for watching over American af-
fairs, Washington adverted to the high character of those
. whom the voters had intrusted with the organization of the
government. He made no suggestions with regard to the
policy of the new organization, but the question of amend-
ments to the new Constitution evidently aroused great
interest in his mind.

George Washington’s face and figure are more familiar
than are those of any other of our greatest men, — with
the possible exception of Abraham Lincoln,—but as to the
inner man we are even now strangely ignorant. For fifteen
years, Washington lived in public gaze. During the war,
he fought and marched over the country from Boston to
Yorktown; while President he journeyed up and down
the land from Portsmouth in New Hampshire to Charles-
ton in South Carolina. In the course of a busy life, he
wrote thousands of letters, military orders, and state papers
— of these volumes have been printed and other volumes
are accessible in manuscript. He stands in a peculiar place
in the World’s Annals, as a king enshrined in the imagination
and veneration of his people, “unsullied by a throne!”’?
His tall, spare frame and set features are stereotyped on

1 8eth Ames’s Works of Pisher Ames
(2 vols., Boston, 1854), i, 34 and The
Journal of William Maclay, 9. This
volume was published at New York
in 1800. A much less extended com-
pilation from the same manuscripts
was privately printed in 1880 at Har-
risburg as Sketches of Debate in the Pirst
Senate of the United States, in 1789-90—
81, by William Maclay. The descrip-

VOL. IV.—D

tive portions which give life to the his-
tory of these years are greatly toned
down in the latter, or omitted altogether.
Maclay writes that Washington was
““dressed in deep brown, with metal
buttons, with an eagle on them, white
stockings, a bag (for his queue), and
sword.”

2 From the ode written to celebrate
Washington's arrival at New York.
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the American retina. This is the heroic figure, the periph-
eral man; when one seeks beneath these exterior shroud-
ings to find the living, breathing, human being, one soon
comes to realize that no more elusive personality exists in
history.

The turning over of masses of manuscripts, the perusal
of countless printed books, yields some human notes; but
they are few. Once, writing to Madison at midnight,
Washington complained of “an Aching head” and added,
“I am ashamed to send such a letter, but cannot give you a
fairer one — G. W.” ;! but this confession of human ail-
ment stands almost alone. Writing familiarly to Jefferson
—in those days when the two men trusted each other —
Washington referred to himself as ‘“the P.” Another
time, he informed the Secretary of State that the British
minister “starts three to one against you.” Stopping one
night at a roadside tavern, Washington was assigned to a
room with two or three other persons; on entering, he
turned to the next in line, and offered him the choice of
beds. At Mount Vernon, he lighted at least one guest to
his bedroom with a candle and poked the fire into a blaze
before wishing him goodnight. A few stories of tempestuous
laughter and fewer tales of righteous wrath complete the
list. Otherwise, he stalked impassive through his world,
inspiring awe and trust wherever he went.?

As a politician, Washington was a strong partisan. He
thought that only persons of “sound politics’’ should be
appointed to civil offices or be given commissions in the

1789. It was sung to the air of “God Clarence W. Bowen’'s Centennial Cele-

save the King.” bration of the Inauguration of George
Washington, p. 29.
*These shores a Head shall own, 1“Madison Manuscripts” in the
Unsullied by a throne — Library of Congress, xiv, 4.
Our much-loved Washington, 3 8ee bibliographical note at end of

The Great, the Good.” chapter.
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army. His methods were sometimes devious. On one
occasion, he directed a correspondent to show his letter to
another person as coming from himself and not from the
writer; and, on another, he ordered the recipient to “burn
this letter!” which was by no means an unusual direction
in those days and was disobeyed on this and other occasions.
Socially, Washington was a man of his day ; wine was served
at his table, he had no scruples as to lotteries or land specu-
lations, and lost no opportunity to engage in dancing and
other festivities at which the presence of ladies, especially of
youthful age, was a necessary adjunct. He was exces-
sively fond of outdoor excursions and had a craving for the
sight of strange beasts and abnormal living beings. From
1775 to the end, he made the fullest use of the phrasings
and advisings of others, so much so that his identity seems
often merged in that of Hamilton or of Madison; but he
had a mind of his own, capable of accurate thinking, and
of correct expression, more correct perhaps in his later
than in his earlier years.! He was by no means a man of
books, but in his library were technical works on war and

agriculture, which he seems to have purchased and certainly
studied.

Looking backward and thinking of the long life that the
Constitution has enjoyed, and remembering how immediate

1 For example, he wrote under cir- numbers and wide in range. Many of

cuamstances which make it seem hardly
possible that he had help from another,
— *The science of figures, to a certain
degree, is not only indispensably req-
uisite in every walk of civilised life,
but the investigation of mathematical
mb.mmtomnehomindmmethodmd
correctness in reasoning, and is an em-
ployment peculiarly worthy of rational
beings. . . . Itishere that the rational
faculties find a firm foundation to rest
upon. " Catalogue of Washington Col-

the books were technical works on war
and agriculture, as Hanson's Prussian
Evolutions in actual Engagements (Phil-
adelphia, 1776); The Manual Ezxercise
as ordered by his Majesty in 1764
(Boston, 1774) ; Thos. Hale's Compleat
Body of Husbandry (London, 1758);
and Commerell’s Account of the Culture
and Use of the Mangel Wurzel (London,
1787). There were also some works of
literature as Smollett's Adventures of
Peregrine Pickle and Barlow's Vision of
‘Columbus.

’
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and great were the successes attending the organization of
the new government and Hamilton’s financial measures,
one can hardly imagine the chaotic condition of affairs
that confronted Washington when he took the oath of
office in the spring of 1789. The strongest men of the
country were behind him: Hamilton, Madison, Robert
Morris, James Wilson, and those who had worked with
them in the Federal Convention; John Jay, Thomas Jef-
ferson, and John Adams, who had no part in the actual
framing of the document; even Patrick Henry, George
Clinton, and Samuel Adams, who had opposed its adop-
tion, — all these men and many others in the second rank
were anxious to see the new system given a full and fair
trial. They cannot be said to have formed a political
party, for they were held together by no organic bond,
except that of patriotic desire for their country’s welfare.
The only organized body extending through the country
as a whole was the Society of the Cincinnati.! This com-
prised the officers of the Revolutionary armies. Very
many of them held offices under the local governments, a
large number of which would be merged in the general
administration. Alongside were the civilian leaders in the

1 The Society of the Cincinnati was  were again altered and amended to do
formed in consequence of proposals away with the objectionable features

that were circulated among officers of
the American army, then encamped on
the banks of the lower Hudson. It was
to be partly benevolent and partly to
transmit their glory as a heritage to
their descendants. It was this latter
function that aroused hostility which
took the form of anathema of hereditary
orders and everything of the kind, and
provoked a considerable literature.
The original proposals are printed in
fac-simile in F. 8. Drake's Memorials of
the Society of the Cincinnats of Massa-~
chusetts, following p. 6; as revised
and adopted they are printed in +bid.,
p. 8, and in many other places. They

and were adopted in their final form on
May 15, 1784 ; see A Circular Letter ad-
dressed to the State Societies of the Cin~
cinnati, Philadelphia, 1784. The letter
is dated May 15, 1784, and is signed G.
Washington, President. It is printed
in all the state histories of the Cincin-
nati. The leading paper in opposition
was by Judge Zdanus Burke of South
Carolina and was entitled *,Considera-
tions on the Society or Order of Cincin-
nati” and was published anonymously
in Philadelphia, 1783. See also Writings
of Washington (Ford), x, 387 and note
on p. 388,
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separation from England. These, too, were to a very con-
giderable extent office-holders and many of them were
likely to be affected in the shift from the old system to the
new. Practically all these men looked toward Washington
‘as their chief and very many of them relied upon him for
new appointments upon which their livelihood depended.
These men would have rallied to Washington’s summons
and, in fact, they formed something like a party organi-
zation, but it had no directive machinery. It may be said,
therefore, that Washington came forward to seize the fruits
of revolution —for the adoption of the Constitution was
nothing else — without an army at his back, or a political or-
ganization supporting him. And among his supporters were
many powerful men whose ideas were so unlike his own
that a disruption into two political parties was certain.
Probably never in modern history has a successful revolu-
. tionary leader been so bereft of any tangible means of com-
pulsion as was Washington in April, 1789.

The organization of the general government under the
Articles of Confederation, if one can use such a title for
80 helpless a thing, had been most imperfect. There was
a department of foreign affairs presided over by John Jay,
but this had been little more than a letter-writing organ-
ization; for, in the disjointed condition of government,
American ministers abroad had accomplished very little,
except to send home voluminous reports of their disap-
pointments. There was a Board of Treasury composed of
three members with William Duer as secretary. This was
hardly more than an accounting department, registering
the amounts due to the States and especially those due
from the States, but unpaid. This Board had very little
money at its disposal, and at the end of 1788, the treasury
seems to have been absolutely empty. There was a War
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» Department presided over by Henry Knox. He had
under his orders a few soldiers on the western frontier, an
arsenal with arms and ammunition in it at Springfield,
Massachusetts, and some recruits in the State of Connecti-
cut. He also appears to have had a little money at his
disposal ! which had been raised in Connecticut at the time
of the Shays Rebellion and had not yet been expended.
It formed the only financial resource of the federal govern-
ment until a few thousand dollars were borrowed from the
banks at New York and Philadelphia.? Charles Thomson
had performed the function of chancellor or Secretary of
State, as the custodian of public papers, and as testifying
to the genuineness of resolutions and commissions.? Put-
ting them all together, there were fifteen or twenty employees
. of the old government who went over into the new, strug-
gling on for months with little money laid by and no wages
coming in. Under the former organization all the ma-
chinery for collecting and caring for public moneys had
been within the control of the States. With the downfall
of the old organization, this collecting machinery came
to an end and nothing could be substituted for it until
the new Congress should pass an administrative law.
There would be nothing to collect until ‘general legislation
should be passed and no law could be enforced, until courts
were established, and judges and all the ministerial officers

“Knox Papers,” xxv, 1, 66, 68, and
Iowudo/tluﬂmqfkmm
under date of April 15, 1789. For
eulogistic reviews of Knox's career, see
F. B.Dukon“l.ifo.ndCormpondaneo
of Major‘Genonl Henry Knox'' in his

Hme,ASoMnrqlMaMM

2 For information as to the finances
of these early years, see ASmm
swqumm Bxpendsi-

tures of the United States, from the com-
mencement of the present government to
the end of the year 1783. Published by
order of the House of Representatives —
and printed by Childs and Swaine.

$In informing Washington of his
election as President, Charles Thomson
deecribed himself as * having been long
in the Confidence of the late Congress
charged with the duties of one of the
principal civil departments of Govern-
ment.” * Washington Manuscripts’ in
Library of Congrees.
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of the law — marshals and district attorneys — appointed.
Under any circumstances, this would have been a matter
of weeks and months. The new Congress, as the successor
of the old, in its first days seems to have inherited many of
the vices of its predecessor. It was difficult for the Sen-
ators and Representatives to realize that they were no
longer delegates from the States, for most of them had seen
service in the old days. They certainly proceeded with
great deliberation in the beginning. When they once got
fairly at work, one thing after another thrust itself in to
interfere with the speedy passage of the most necessary
laws. There were the rules of debate and the modes of
addressing one another and the executive officers to be de-
‘cided. Mingled with those who represented the reac-
tionary or conservative ideas that had predominated in the
Federal Convention, there were some ardent radicals.
These came to New York full of suspicion and prepared to
see potential kings and peers everywhere. Then there :
was the question of the place of residence for the federal
government. This intruded itself at all possible angles and
in every possible shape. There was certain to be difficulty
in the passing of any financial legislation, for this would
at once arouse sectional interests and prejudices, none more
violent than those connected with the importation of negro
slaves. The revenue bill did not become law until July
4, 1789,! and the administrative law was not approved by
the President until July 31. The first department to be
established was that of Foreign Affairs. It was a con-
tinuation of the old department and speedily became en-

3 This is the date on the enrolled bill;  the Year M, DCC, LXXXI1X and printed
in the edition of the Acts passed at @ by Childs and SBwaine, * Printers to the
Congress of the United States of America, United States,” the date of approval is

the New Yor_k. given as June 1, 1789.



40 ORGANIZATION OF THE GOVERNMENT [Ca. II

larged to include also all those things that had been per-
formed by the Secretary of Congress, with the designation
of Department of State.! The act for the establishment
of the Treasury Department, involving the organization of a
whole new system, took a good deal of time and did not
finally become law until September 2. The Judiciary Act
was even more difficult to draft because there were grave
differences in the jurisprudence of the several sections.
Henry Lee, viewing the -conduct of affairs from Virginia,
wrote to Knox, his old comrade in arms, that the doings
of the first Congress furnished no ground for hope of pros-
perity to ‘“the federated nation’ ? and regretted that the
Constitution had not given the President power to dis-
solve an ignorant and vicious legislature. The framework
of government being outlined by these acts and by others
of similar import, Washington proceeded to organize or
reorganize the official force. For Secretary of State he
picked out Thomas Jefferson, a Virginian like himself and
then minister to France. When Jefferson first heard of
the making of the Constitution, he was greatly alarmed by
the vigor of the proposed government. He thought it
was ‘“setting up a kite [a hawkish bird] to keep the hen-
yard in order.” He especially disliked the permanency of
the presidential office, there being no limit set upon the
number of times that the chief magistrate might be
retlected; for, having viewed stadtholders, kings, and

10n the “Creation of the Depart-
ment of State,”” see Gaillard Hunt in
American Journal of International Law,
July, 1908; in book form as The De-
partment of State of the United States.

2 Lee's letter is dated Stratford, Va.,
10 Oct., 1789. He asks Knox whether
“the ueond revolution will produce
half the good predicted by its fnendn
and whether the eastern conspiracy in
the house of representatives declared

afterwards on the floor respecting the
permanent seat of govt will not prove
the simplicity of associating with them
in a form of govt where they possess a
majority. . In as many words
might tbo member on the floor have
said, spend no more time in discussing
this public question, we have deter-
mined to go to —— & no where olse.”
‘ Knox Papers,” zxv, 13.
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princes at close range, he was anxious that nothing of the
kind should be instituted in America.! As soon as Jef-
ferson realized that the Constitution could be amended by
legislative action, he abandoned opposmon and advised _
its ratification.?
leave of absence for five or six months, that he might return
to America and attend to ‘“‘matters of great moment to
others as well as myself.”* The inefficiency of the old
government had prevented the granting of permission to
leave his post, so that it was not until a year later that he
returned to Virginia.
position of Secretary of State awaiting him. His letters
to the President and to Madison clearly show that he would
have preferred to return to France, but he yielded to Wash-
ington’s wish. For the next twelve or eighteen months
Jefferson and the President were on intimate confidential
terms. In offering this position to Jefferson, Washington

v, 56, 107, 128, 134, 140, 143. The

3

lerson’s first letters were widely

In November, 1788, he“applied for a _-

He found Washington’s offer of the

3
:5

Patrick Henry to bring about
eat of the Constitution in Vir-
See Jeflerson to Col. Forest,
Dec. 31, 1787 (Writings of Jef-
(Ford), iv, 484) ; to John Adams
ov. 13, 1787, Diplomatic Comopond-
o! the United States, 1783-1789, iii,
Wm. Carmichael (Dec. 11, 1787,
342); to Madison (Dec. 20,
iii, 347); to Carmichael
788, sud., iii, 410). On the
, Jefferson’s commendations
“Federalist'’ and of Adams’s
of the Constitutions,” which
uld be *an institute for

r tz E-— Q'\
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d as well as new,”
tho nature of compli-
time (1788) the Jef-
Adamses were quite
Jefferson (Fg:d)a v, 2,
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letter on p. 140 was written at * Ches-
terfield,” Virginia, Dec. 15, 1789, to
Washington, expressing a distinct pref-
erence for a continuanoce in the French
mission. See also letter to Madison of
January 9, 1790, in *‘Madison Manu-
scripts,” vol. xvii, fo. 57, in Library of
Congress. It is in this letter that Jef-
ferson informed his moet intimate
friend that he expected with anxiety
the President's ultimate determination,
adding, “I cannot bring myself to be
indifferent to the change of destination,
tho’ I will be passive under it.” At
the moment, Jefferson had no feeling of
hostility whatsoever toward Hamilton
and there is no basis for the surmise
that Washington appointed Jefferson
to this place to ‘‘keep him out of mis-
chief.” He would have been politically
innocuous in the legation at Paris. H.
B. Learned has brought together a
mass of references on this subject in
his President’s Cabinet, 115 and 132,

"\
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undoubtedly was influenced by his knowledge of Jefferson’s
tact in dealing with men and by the fact that he already
had had experience in a diplomatic station. John Jay
would have been the natural appointee to the office, but
Washington wished to place him as Chief Justice of the
Supreme Court. For the twelve months between the in-
auguration of Washington and Jefferson’s assuming office,
Jay transacted whatever foreign business there was to be
done.

For the Treasury Department, Washington selected
Alexander Hamilton who, with Madison and Jay and
himself, had been most responsible for the birth of the
new government. The presence of both Washington and
Hamilton at New York prevented the interchange of let-
ters like those which have thrown so much light on the
appointment of Jefferson. There is a story that Robert
Morris, replying to Washington’s inquiry as to what could
be done with the heavy national debt, answered, there is but
one man who can tell you; that is Alexander Hamilton.!
At this time, Washington was undoubtedly in close inti-
macy with Morris, and the latter’s fame would seem to
have pointed to him as the man to organize the new financial
department. Washington had lived with the Morrises at
the time of the Federal Convention. Even then Morris’s
creditors were pressing for payment, although he was re-
puted to be the richest man in America. He also had
been unable to secure a settlement of his accounts as Su-
perintendent of Finance. Either one of these facts would
probably have prevented Washington offering the position
of head of the financial department to Robert Morris.

! This is given on the authority of story in a somewhat different form in
Bishop White, Morris's brother-in-law; his Recollections and Private Memosrs of

see Hamilton's History of the Republic, Washington, 349.
iv, 30. G. W. P. Custis gives this
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Next to him, Alexander Hamilton seemed to be the man
for the place. His great organizing faculties were well
known to Washington, who had already used them exten-
sively. The other important offices were filled by con-
tinuing Henry Knox at the War Department, and Samuel
Osgood in the Post Office, and by appointing Edmund
Randolph, Washington’s protégé, as Attorney General. '
Washington desired, whether general or President, to
consider every question as it arose with the greatest pos-
gible thoroughness and from every point of view. The
Constitution gave the President power to require the written
opinion of the principal officer in each executive depart-
ment upon any subject relating to that department.! With
the advice and consent of the Senate, he had the appointing
power, and, provided two-thirds of the Senators concurred,
the power to make treaties. In the Federal Conven-
tion, various propositions had been made for the estab-
lishment of some kind of a council, either advisory or execu-
tive or both. They had all been voted down, the clauses
just noted were the residuum. It was upon these, in con-
nection with another constitutional anomaly, known as the
Vice-President, that Washington proceeded to evolve a
council that has existed to this day under the inappropriate
name of “cabinet,” thus suggesting to the country and to

1 George Mason, Washington's friend
and nearest political neighbor, had
brought forward a measure for the es-
tablishment of a directory or council
something after the English model.
‘This had been voted down, but Mason
was still eager for the establishment of
an elected council. The kind that
was established seemed to him to be
“the worst and most dangerous of all
ingredients in a free country.” See
K. M. Rowland's George Mason, ii,
113, 289.

Charles Pinckney, in his *Observa-
tions on the Plan of Government,”

states that the President * will have a
right to consider the principals of these
departments as his council, and to ac-
quire their advice and assistanoce, when-
ever the duties of his office shall render
it necessary. By this means our gov-
ernment will possess what it has always
wanted, but never yet had, a cabinet
oouncil.” This seems to be the earliest
use of the word *‘cabinet’’ in connection
with the new government, and was
probably written in 1787; see Max
Farrand’'s Records of the Federal Consen-
tion of 1787, iii, 111, and Frank Moore's
American Eloguencs, 364.



44 ORGANIZATION OF THE GOVERNMENT Cm. II

its members that it has some relation to the English Cab-
inet which belongs to an entirely different species of govern-
ment,! and has an entirely different evolutionary history.
The vice-presidency grew out of the desirability of pro-
viding for the succession to the chief magistracy in time of
difficulty or danger. At first it was proposed that the
Senate should select its presiding officer and that he should
succeed the President in case of the latter’s death or in-
ability. Difficulties were at once suggested, and in the end
it was provided that the person having the next largest
number of electoral votes to the President should be Vice-
President and presiding officer of the Senate. This ar-
rangement would provide a second officer representing the
whole nation and would, moreover, give the smaller States
an indirect and slight chance at the presidency. These
were the constitutional provisions and ideas that governed
Washington in trying to provide something in the way of
a council.

At first, Washington seems to have expected to advise
personally with the Senate. There were only twenty-two
members of that body and the phrase “advise and consent ”
may have seemed to him to mean what the words usually
imply. Twice he repaired to the Senate Chamber with a
Secretary and papers, prepared to discuss business with
the assembled Senators; but there was so much talking
and so much friction that this trial was enough.? Again,
at a somewhat later time (April 10, 1792), he tried to in-
duce the Senate to promise to advise and consent in ad-
vance to a proposed treaty with Algiers.® It was suggested
that forty thousand dollars should be given to the Algerians
to keep them quiet. Washington asked the Senate if this

1 The word cabinet was not recog- Maclay, 128, 131.
nised by law until 1907. 8 “Washington Manuscripts’ in Li-
3 E. 8. Maclay's Journal of William brary of Congrees under date.
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sum appeared too large to state what lower limit it would
approve. This seems to have been the last endeavor
to get advice. Washington and later Presidents have had
to content themselves with consent or disapproval. In
the first two years of his presidency, Washington advised
with leading men connected with the government, not
only with the executive part of it, but with the Senators,
individually, and with members of the House of Repre-
sentatives. In 1790, when the Nootka Sound controversy
raised several critical questions, he asked the opinions of
the Vice-President and the Chief Justice in addition to those
of the three Secretaries and the Attorney General. On
other occasions, the Chief Justice was invited to give ad-
vice, but it was given so unwillingly that Washington soon
stopped asking it. In a somewhat similar manner, Congress
placed some executive functions on the members of the
Supreme Court, but after preliminary skirmishing, these
withdrew ! within the fence of their strictly judicial func-
tions.

One of the problems of writers on the American system of
government has been to provide something for the Vice-
President to do. The Constitution devolves the powers
and duties of the presidency upon the Vice-President in
case of the removal, resignation, or death of the President,
or his inability to discharge the powers and duties of his

of dealing with pensions was adopted.

1 The Invalid Pension Act of March,
In Pennsylvania, the circuit court de-

1792, directed the federal circuit courts

to decide upon applications for pensions
and submit their decisions to the Sec-
retary of War. Within two weeks the
Chief Justice with his associates on the
cirouit court for New York expressed

tested and asked to have their protest
communicated to Congress, and at the
next session of Congress another method

clined to proceed under the act at all.
Bee Max Farrand’s * First Hayburn
Case’” in American Historical Review,
xiii, 281.

The Chief Justice and the Vice-Presi-
dent were appointed Trustees of the
Sinking Fund, according to the act of
Congress; but Jay attended only two
or three meetings.
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office. Washington was away from the seat of government
a large part of the time, either in his progresses to the east~
ward or the southward, or else at Mount Vernon looking
after his crops. On all these occasions he certainly was
unable to discharge such of the powers and duties of the
presidential office as required his presence at the seat of
government. Why at such times did not the administra-
tion naturally and constitutionally devolve on the Vice-
President? Or was it only in cases of incapacity from
mental or physical illness that he should step into the
first place?! At the outset, Washington consulted Adams
frequently. In 1791, at the time of his southern journey,
he directed the three Secretaries to consult together if any-
thing serious should arise and determine whether his return
was necessary, — if the Vice-President were in town, they
were to call him into consultation. These seem to be
almost the only cases in which the Vice-President was
utilized as an administrative officer. John Adams was one
of the most honest and highest-minded men who have ever
been elected to office; but he had infirmities of temper
and habits of expression that made him an unpleasant team-
mate. For this or for some other reasons, those in author-
ity soon ceased to consult him. And for this or some other
reason, when Adams was President and Jefferson Vice-
President, consultations between them soon came to an
end, Jefferson determining to his own satisfaction that his
duties were legislative? By a process of elimination,
therefore, Washington was confined to the Secretaries and
the Attorney General for his advisers. The Postmaster
General was not then, nor for years thereafter, looked upon
as on a footing of equality with these four, although he
1 There is an interesting series of ber, 1881.

articles on * Presidential Inability’’ in ? Writings of Jefferson (Ford), vii,
the North American Review, for Novem-  120.
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actually enjoyed in many respects greater influence than
all of them put together, because he had so many offices in
his gift. The year 1793, with the great strain of foreign
affairs, owing to the war between Great Britain and revolu-
tionary France, brought Washington and his leading ad-
visers into intimate working relations. On February 25,
they met at his house,! at which time certain questions
were proposed and answers given. Forty-five other meet-
ings were held during that year, and this may be regarded
as the beginning of the Cabinet as an executive council.?
Thus was established a council that was not elected, that
was appointed by its presiding officer — with the advice
and consent of the Senate — and was removable by him, ~
— actually an institutional monstrosity.

The phraseology of the Constitution is vague as to ap-
pointments and removals, as it is in so many other matters.
Was the power of removal a part of the general executive
function belonging to the President unless otherwise pro-
vided for? Or did it go hand in hand with the process of
appointment and was it shared with the Senate? The
question came before Congress, when the establishment of
8 Department of Foreign Affairs was under discussion.
After several days’ debate the bill passed the House of
Representatives with an acknowledgment, in so many
words, that the power belonged to the President without
the Senate. When the bill came before the Senate, there
was further discussion. Eighteen members voted on the
question whether the bill should be passed, nine on either
side. John Adams then performed one of the most im-

' Soe ** Washington Manuscripts” in  inet (New Haven, 1912); “Some As-
Library of Congress under date of Feb. peots of the Cabinet Meeting” in
23, 1798. Columbia Historical Society’s Proceed-

3 Por the origin and history of the inge, xviii, p. 95; and *Shall Cabinet

American cabinet system, see Henry Officers Have Seats in Congrees?'’ in
Barrett Learned’'s The President’s Cab- TAhe Nation, Feb. 11, 1915.
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portant acts of his life by giving his casting vote as pre-
siding officer for the passage of the bill! and thus made it
possible for the presidency to develop as it did from the
time of Washington to the end of the Civil War.

Any one familiar with the writings of the first ten or
dozen men of that time is impressed by the distaste for pub-
lic employment that constantly comes out in them.? In
the case of Washington, Hamilton, and Jefferson, pecuniary
reasons were undoubtedly at the bottom of it. The salaries
provided by Congress did not repay the expenses of the
President, Vice-President, and Secretaries. In his inau-
gural address, Washington had declined to receive any
emolument for his services, but had expressed a desire that
his expenses should be repaid. It proved to be more con-
venient to allot him a settled salary of twenty-five thou-
sand dollars a year, which he might spend or not as he
chose. He was also given the use of furniture that had
already been purchased, and a house, rent free, was pro-
vided for him. He used every cent of the twenty-five
thousand dollars and his enemies insisted that he drew
more than the yearly stipend.? When he retired from the

1 For the debate in the House, see
Annals of Congress, 18t Cong., vol. ii,
455 and fol.; for the pi ings in the
Senate, see Journal of the First Session
of the Senate of the United States (New
York, Greenleaf, 1789), p. 65, under
date of July 18; Works of John
Adams, iii, 407; Maclay’'s Journal,
109-121. The Vice-Presidents have
given the casting vote 179 times up to
March, 1915; see H. B. Learned's
*“Casting Votes of the Vice-Presidents,
1789-1915"" in American Historical Re-
view for April, 1915, and ‘‘Some As-
pects of the Vice-Presidency'' in the
Proceedings of the American Political
Bcience Association for 1912, p. 162.

9 The desire of spending the * even-
ing of life’’ in retirement was not pecul-
far to Americans. French pre-revolu-

tionary philosophy may have had
something to do with it as we find
Moustier, the French minister, writing
to Knox that he would fain pass the
remainder of his days ‘‘dans un log-
house Americain."”

3 October 26, 1795, Hamilton wrote
to Washington as to the attack made
by a writer who signed himself ‘' Calm
Obeerver’’ in a recent number of the
Aurora: ‘‘Should you think it proper
to meet the vile insinuation in the close
of it — by furnishing for one year the
account of expenditure of the salary’
he, Hamilton, would make the neces-
sary explanation which he did in a
paper with that title. See Hamilton's
Works (Lodge), vii, 81, viii, 364. It
appears from this paper that at one
time an advance had been made to the
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presidency, he certainly believed himself to be poorer than
when he entered it. His last years were clouded by bor-
rowings from the banks and sales of lands to pay up past
debts and even to provide for current expenses. Jefferson
had the same story to tell, and the close of his life was
financially tragic. John Adams, when he realized that five
thousand was to be the vice-presidential fee, cut down his
expenses, and with the aid of the “excellent Mrs. Adams”
undoubtedly came through the vice-presidential and presi-
dential periods without having incurred debt and probably
with money in his pocket. Hamilton remained at the
Treasury for rather less than six years and greatly to his
financial undoing. His salary of thirty-five hundred dol-
lars did not pay his living expenses, and the stress of his
work prevented him from prosecuting his profession. At
his death, he was probably insolvent and his friends were
obliged to come to the aid of his family; all of which ex-
plains his refusal to accept an appointment to the New
York senatorship in 1798.! Unquestionably, these men
were genuinely unwilling to enter the public service, if it
could be honorably avoided. They gave their lives, their
properties, and their reputations to their country.

Going from these greatest men of their time to those of
lesser clay, one is impressed with directly the opposite,

President to the extent of $6154, but  possible.” ‘‘Hamilton Manuscripts'

that taking the years together the
total appropriations for the President’s
compensation had not been exceeded.
The “Explansation” was printed in the
newspapers of the day. See also ** Wash-
ington's Household Account Book,
1793-1797" in Pennsyleania Magarzine
of History, vols. xxix~xxxi.

1“There may arrive a crisis,” he
wrote, “when I may conceive myself
bound once more to sacrifice the in-
terest of my family to the public call.
But I must defer the change as long as

YOL. IV.— &

in Library of Congress. At his death
his property was valued at $80,000 in-
cluding a *country establishment' ap-
praised at $25,000. The whole prop-
erty was unproductive and the debts
amounted to $65,000. Considering the
difficulty of disposing of the real estate,
Oliver Wolcott wrote to Rufus King
on July 30, 1804, “‘It is questionable if
the estate can be rendered solvent.’”
A fund was raised by subscription to
alleviate the financial distress of his
widow and children.
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with their craving for public office, sometimes even when
the assured income was painfully small. Public office in
the olden time was looked upon as a free-hold designed by
nature for the care of certain families. This idea came to
America with the settlers and held firm place throughout
the colonial era. The theory did not depart with the
Loyalists. The radicals, who had had slight chance of
office, were glad to see the Tories go and helped them off.
They seized their offices and adopted their ideas as to
office-holding. After having once fed at the public crib,
it seemed a perfectly natural thing to continue feeding
there. Families remained in office from father to son and
grandson. In Rhode Island, there were the Ellerys; in
Massachusetts, the Warrens; in Delaware, the McLeans;
in Virginia, the Pages; in South Carolina, the Pinckneys.
William Ellery, a signer of the Declaration of Independence,
was appointed collector of customs in 1790. He held the
place until 1820, when he died in his ninety-third year.
Not long before his death, he wrote that the office was a
very troublesome one and “if it did not furnish me and
my children with the necessaries of life, I would resign it
at once.” As soon as the ratification of the Constitution
was known, applications for office began to come in. They
were made to Washington, whom everybody expected would
be President, and to the actual occupants of office, who
seemed likely to continue in their present positions or
secure others. The holders of State offices that would cease
or would be merged in corresponding federal offices naturally
felt anxious as to their future and took to letter writing.
Many of these places had been filled for years by one or
more members of some family of influence. It seemed to
the neighbors that now was the time for a new distribution,
and they applied to the most likely person. There was
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the case of the collectorship at Norfolk, Virginia. Upon
the approaching demise of the collector, application was
made for the office for a certain Francis S. Taylor, who had
been performing the duties as deputy and was about to marry
the daughter of the dying collector.! By succeeding to the
office “the means of comfort and happiness would be af-
forded the Family”’ which consisted of “an amiable Lady and
Six children,” one of them being the prospective Mrs. Taylor.

The officers of the Revolutionary Army occupied many
of these places, but some of them had no positions of any
kind and very small incomes. These sent in their appli-
cations. One of these was from Thomas McKean, a patriot
of the Revolution. Now he had “an ambition to take a
share in Your Excellency’s administration” in the judicial
line. He had lost by depreciated “Congress-money” up-
wards of six thousand pounds which he wished to recover in
some honorable way for the sake of his eight promising
children, — all of whom later, either by themselves or
through their husbands, occupied public offices.? Obtain-
ing no place from Washington, McKean continued in
office as chief justice of Pennsylvania and, in 1799, was
elected Democratic governor of the State. General Henry
Knox, Secretary at War under the Confederation, was one
of those marked out by office-seekers for high place in the
new government, and letters came to him, some of them by
no means welcome. One of these was from Mrs. Mercy
Warren, who was once regarded as a famous historian
and was justly feared by her correspondents. She now
wrote that she thought Knox would not forget Winslow

! Gaillard Hunt'’s * *“ Office-seeking ‘‘royal family*’ ; see list of offices held
during the Administration of John by them in R. Buchanan's Life of the
Adame " in American Historical Review, Hon. Thomas McKean, LL.D., p. 91.
8, 247-284. McKean's application is in Amercian

% Jater the McKeans were known Historical Review, ii, 98.
to their political opponents as the
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Warren in the ‘“‘arrangement of the military department”
and confidently sought the position of collector of customs
for the “port of plimouth & Duxborough’ for Major Henry
Warren. With military precision Knox retreated behind
Washington, advising Mrs. Warren to send her papers to
him direct. Nathaniel Gorham, once president of Congress,
desired the place of naval officer at Boston. General
Benjamin Lincoln, a Massachusetts man who had held
high rank in the Revolution, wrote to Knox that “after
forty Years close application to business’”’ he must either
get an appointment or begin life anew in the wilderness.
He had invested some of the continental certificates, that
had been given him in the settlement of his arrears of pay,
in wild lands for which there was no sale and he also had
some Massachusetts securities for which there was no
" market. He was appointed collector at Boston and held
his office until within two or three years of his death, in
1810. The increase in the value of public securities and
lands was so great that ten years later, Lincoln was able
to repay Knox for his aid by indorsing his note for fifty
thousand dollars.

Washington seems to have laid down in his own mind
certain definite principles as to appointments.! He took
over the old staff in the offices of the Secretaries of Congress,
and of Foreign Affairs, and of War, and also provided for
the Board of Treasury and its employees. In general,

1 8ee Gaillard Hunt's ** Office-seek-
ing during Washington's Administra-
tion"” in American Historical Review, i,
270; *“The Adjustment of Rhode
Island into the Union, 1790 in Rhode
Island Historical SBociety's Publications,
viii, 104-135. In the * Pickering Manu-
scripta’ are dosens of letters addressed
to Pickering after his appointment as
Postmaster General. One of these is
an application for the postmastership

at Boston, but this candidate was will-
ing to take anything else, even the
inspectorship of distilleries at Haverhill
would suit him. An interesting light
is thrown on the whole subject by a
pencilled note in Pickering's handwrit-
ing on an application for the postmaster-
ship at Charleston, 8. C., to the effect
that the compensation was scaroely
sufficient to pay the office rent.
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he required applicants to send him letters of recommenda-
tion from well-known characters in their States. Practi-
cally all of these were friends of the Constitution and fa-
vorable to the administration. Undoubtedly a few persons,
who were hostile to the new order of things, were appointed
to office ; but Senator Maclay tells us that he could not get
his friends appointed because he was a republican. On
September 27,1795, after opposition had become crystallized,
Washington wrote to Timothy Pickering that he would
not knowingly appoint a man to an important office “ whose
political tenets are adverse to the measures w" the general
government are pursuing, for this, in my opinion, would be
little better than political suicide.”' Of men of equal
abilities and political soundness, preference should be given
to him against whom the least clamor can be excited. For
this reason, Washington was opposed to the appointment
of persons who had been defeated at the polls, because the
mere fact that a man could not obtain a majority of votes
showed that his constituents were opposed to him on per-
sonal grounds. At all events the offices became filled with
friends of the Constitution and of the administration. Not
many new offices were created, but when the positions in
the customs service, post-office, and judiciary that had
formerly been local appointments were included in one list,
the size of it alarmed many persons, among others, Senator
Maclay who declared that before long offices would be pro-
vided for the whole Cincinnati.

The desire for government employment with the sure in-
come and the permanence that then went with it did not in
any way diminish as the years went by. The civil service
was filled when the government was transferred from Wash-

1 “Pickering Manuscripts,”” xx, 62. Washinglon, xi, 74, and by Ford in his
‘This is printed in substance in Sparks’'s Wnitings of Washington, xiii, 107,
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ington to Adams,so that the latter had no opportunity to
reward those who had fought and worked with him. When-
ever a vacancy occurred there was no dearth of candidates.
In September, 1797, on the death of the treasurer of the mint,
no less than ten applicants presented themselves for the
place. Four of these are set down as “Dr.,” one was a
clergyman, one a colonel, and four were untitled. Pick-
ering, who was then Secretary of State, submitted the
names to Adams for his selection with some notes that
throw a good deal of light on ideas as to qualifications for
federal appointments. One of the applicants had no
special claim to public office, because he was in “easy cir-
cumstances’” and was a “warm Democrat.” Another had
lived splendidly in France, but was a bankrupt, and few of
them “are free from stain’ ; ostensibly he was a Federalist,
but evidently not a “warm’ one. The clergyman had a
parish at Trenton which was too small for his support, and
rheumatism prevented his supplying an extra pulpit in
winter. He was of unblemished integrity, attached to the
present Constitution, and, if he lived in Philadephia, could
add to his mint duties by occasional preaching for pay. One
of the untitled ones, Mr. Caldwell, was a decided Federalist
and of “fair moral character.” He was brother-in-law of
Pickering’s colleague, McHenry, the Secretary of War,
and it might be expedient to appoint him. The job was
given to Dr. Rush, one of the ten, who happened to be a
firm personal friend of the President, although he and
Adams disagreed most violently on the virtues and failings
of theoretical democracy. Family relationships and con-
nections and personal friendship played their parts and
did not stop with the close of Adams’s administration. In
fact the most remarkable case of the kind occurred in the
presidency of Thomas Jefferson, his successor.
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John Page of Virginia was the friend of Jefferson’s youth,
and the recipient of his effusions as to “Belinda,” — one of
the loves of his early days. Like most Virginians Page was
often in need of funds. While they were both at Phila-
delphia, he induced Jefferson to indorse a note, which he
discounted at the Bank of the United States. Just before
this became due Jefferson indorsed another note which
Page discounted at the Bank of North America. With the
proceeds he paid off the first note, and by this process of
alternation, provided for himself and Mrs. Page until a re-
mittance came from Virginia. In 1802, Page being out of
place and quite poor, Jefferson suggested to him that the
collector of customs at Petersburg would have to be re-
moved on account of the fury of his Federalism. The
office was worth from two to three thousand dollars a year.
The responsibility was very great; but if one were careful,
there would be no danger. He would be glad to appoint
Page to this or to some other office. An attack of illness
with “vertiginous symptoms’’ compelled Page to resign
this commission before he had entered on the discharge of
the duties of this office; and an election as governor of
Virginia at the end of the year relieved his financial neces-
sities for a time. In 1806, he was again out of a job and
in need of money. Jefferson then appointed him Com-
missioner of Loans at Richmond. In 1808, Page’s health
had become so infirm that he discharged its duties with
difficulty. Jefferson then suggested that the office might
be transferred to his son, Francis, “for your use with an
understanding that it should afterwards continue with
him for the benefit of the family.” The letter found Page
on his death bed. Mrs. Page answered it about two weeks
before her husband’s death. She wrote that Francis Page,
who was a son by a former wife, declined to accept the
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have been made to produce something more satisfying to the historical
conscience by giving some attention to literary expression and not
occupying too much space. None of these attempts succeeded,
partly because Washington’s career was so long drawn out and so
important and so various that it does not lend itself to any brief artis-
tic treatment. Paul Leicester Ford’s True George Washington best
reproduces the man for us;! but it is difficult to enlarge on the social
and human side of Washington’s career without undue accentuation,
for, after all, his life from 1774 to the end was so burdened with weighty
cares that it is the serious side that shows us the man as he really
was.

Two sets of Washington’s Writings have been printed, — edited by
Jared Sparks and by Worthington Chauncey Ford. Spdrks’s editorial
methods were those of his day and he corrected the matter taken from
Washington’s lettér-books, — as some of the earlier letter-books were
corrected by Washington, himself, in his latest years. Sparks de-
serves the gratitude of all students of American history for his assi-
duity in collecting material and in making so much of it accessible.
Ford’s edition of Washington’s Writings omits some of the matter
that Sparks printed and contains other material®* W. S. Baker’s
Bibliotheca Washingtoniana contains titles of 502 books, essays, and
sketches relating to Washington and printed before 1880. Of these,
one might almost say that Theodore Parker’s *“-Character of Wash-
ington ”’ is to this day the clearest summation of that great man’s
career. Possibly the most interesting insight into Washington’s
home life is to be found in “ A Few Pages of an Unpublished Diary
of the Polish Poet J. U. Niemcewicz ” (The Century, New Series, xli,
510).

II. Public Documents. — General A. W. Greely has described the
“ Public Documents of the Early Congresses with special reference to
Washington’s Administrations ” in American Historical Association’s
Reports for 1896, i, pp. 1111-1248. This has three appendixes, the
second giving the most important publications containing reprints
and indexes. J. D. Richardson’s Compilation of the Messages and

1 Two attempts have been made in much of the same matter, but cer-
recent years to depict Washington’s tainly give life to our first President.
private life, P. L. Haworth's George 3 For a criticism of Ford's editorial
Washington: Farmer and Paul Wils- method see Herbert B. Adams’s Life
tach’'s Mount Vernon. They repeat and Writings of Jared Sparks, i, p. xxxix.
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Papers of the Presidents 1789-1897 (10 vols., Washington, 1896-1899),
Wait’s State Papers,! the great series known as American State Papers
in 38 volumes,? and the Annals of the Congress of the Uniled States
serve as guide-posts and indexes to the student; but any one engaged
in anything more than superficial research will have to go beyond
these volumes, for Richardson, in many cases, did not print the docu-
ments accompanying the messages and the two collections of the
State Papers were censored so that the careful student is obliged to go
to the original papers themselves. Gales and Seaton’s Annals of
Congress? is a most useful compilation containing, besides debates in the
two Houses, documentary appendixes reprinting masses of matter of
all kinds so far as such was included in the Presidents’ messages and
also giving the acts passed during each session; but here again the
careful student will go to originals, to supplement and verify all this
printed matter.

1 State Papers and Publick Docu- jairs; seven, Mililary Affairs; two,

ments of the Uniled States; published Miscellancous; four, Naval Affairs;
one, Post-Office Department; and eight,

PUBLIC DOCUMENTS

ed., 6 vols. (Bolton. 1815); 2nd ed.,
10 voll. (Boston, 1817); 3rd ed., 12

Legnslative and Ezecutive, qfﬂnCourm
of the United States. . Selected and
edited under the aullwnly of Congress
vols., Washington, Gales and
Seaton, 1832-1861). 8ix of these vol-
umes are entitled Foreign Relations;
one, Claims; two, Commerce and Nawn-
gation; five, Finance; two, Indian Af-

Public Lands.

3 The Debates and Proceedings in the
Congress of the United States; with an
Appendiz, conlaining Important Slale
Papers and Public Documents, and all
the Laws of a Public Nature (Washing-
ton, 1834-1856, 42 vols.). This is
usually cited as Annals of Congrese
from the binder's title; there are 28
volumes to 1815. It is sometimes in-
dexed under the name of Gales and
Seaton, the printers and publishers.



CHAPTER III
CREDIT AND COMMERCE

MoNEY was the first necessity to the new government.
The United States owed between fifty and seventy-five
million dollars to creditors at home and abroad.! The
daily expenses began on March 4, 1789, and went on with
ever increasing volume; officials, from the President to the
poorest paid clerk, had to be supported, while Senators and
Representatives needed to be reimbursed their mileage and
paid their daily wage. Many of the Senators had private
means, for then, as now, they were drawn from the richer
classes of the community ; otherwise, few Congressmen and
government employees had enough money in hand to pay
their living expenses for more than a few weeks. Recogniz-
ing this, on April 8, the day on which the Representatives
took the oath of office, James Madison, one of the members
from Virginia, moved that a temporary revenue should be
provided by substantially enacting, as a national law, the
propositions made by the Congress of the Confederation
in 1783. These had secured the approbation of most of
the States, but not being approved by all had not gone into
effect. The duties proposed under this plan had been a
very low percentage on the value of the goods. The amount
of revenue to be brought in by Madison’s plan would not
be large ; but a temporary tariff on this basis might be passed

1D. R. Dewey's Financial History - public credit which is printed in many

of the United States, §39. The figures places; among others in Annals of
are given in Hamilton's report on the Congress, 1st Cong., ii, 1991.
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in time to assess the new duties on the spring importations
from Europe.

No sooner had the debate begun on Madison’s revenue
resolution than Thomas Fitzsimons of Philadelphia asserted
that specific imposts were more suitable than ad valorem
duties. He represented the manufacturing and commercial
interests of Pennsylvania. He wished to establish a system
to encourage American productions and more especially
to ‘“protect our infant manufactures.”” He moved to sub-
stitute certain resolutions embodying his ideas for those
that Madison had introduced. This proposal defeated
the purpose of Madison’s resolution, for no such scheme
could be adopted off-hand; but Fitzsimons thought that
it would be well to take whatever time was required to for-
mulate a plan that would be in some degree adequate to the
situation. He had served with Robert Morris and Alex-
ander Hamilton in the Old Congress, and had acted with
them in pushing important financial measures. Morris
was now one of the Senators from Pennsylvania, and Hamil-
ton was in New York, although he did not enter office until
some months later than the time now under review. Never-
theless, it may reasonably be supposed that Fitzsimons
acted in harmony with them.

Madison’s and Fitszimons’s financial plans were referred
to a committee of one from each State, on which their authors
represented Virginia and Pennsylvania.! The actual fram-
ing of the resolutions seems to have been left to Fitzsimons.
He took the Pennsylvania tariff of 1785 as a basis. This
law had been originally adopted for the protection of Pennsyl-
vania manufacturing industry and had served its purpose
well. An effective argument for the passage of a national
protective act was now made: Pennsylvania and some other

1 Journal of the House of Representatives, April 11, 1789.
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States, while they were possessed of the taxing power, had
offered inducements to capitalists to invest their funds in
manufacturing enterprises, and this they had done by im-
posing duties on articles imported from foreign countries.
It would be only right to continue this protection now that
the States had confided the taxing power to the national
government.

As soon as the debate was renewed in earnest, it was
evident that the framing of any protective measure and
even of any general impost law would be a very difficult
matter. It was easy enough for a State legislature to pass
such a law, because it represented a limited number of local
interests, but a national tariff had to take cognizance of
the various industries of the different sections. New Eng-
landers wanted one thing, Pennsylvanians another, South
Carolinians a third, and no one of them wished what the
others desired. Take molasses and nails, as examples of
New England’s needs. Her distilleries turned the molasses
into rum and the making of nails was a household industry
that could be carried on when outdoor work was slack.
Enough rum was distilled in New England to satisfy the
drinkers of that section and of the others, too, and nails
were made in such abundance that they were beginning to
find their way into the Middle States. The New Eng-
landers asked for a low rate on molasses,' a high rate on
competing West Indian rum, and a moderate duty on nails,
which, with the freight, would discourage the importation
of them from England. The Pennsylvanians had made
considerable progress in the working up of the rich iron ores

1At one time it was proposed to Mass., April 21, 1789,lnwhichhomhl
put a rather high duty on molasses, that the pooplo are “alarmed’’ at the
which aroused discontent in Massa- proposed duty. ‘‘Hamilton Manu-
chusetts. See Nathaniel Gorham to scripts’’ in the Library of Congress.
Alexander Hamilton, Charlestown,
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of that region. Their tariff of 1785 had placed an ad valorem
duty of ten per cent on British steel and on the rougher
forms of manufactured iron. They now wanted to have
a similar duty inserted in the national tariff act and they
also wished to have protection continued to textile industries
which had already made progress in their State. The South
Carolinians had no distilleries, naileries, iron mills, or manu-
facturing establishments. They thought they ought to
have protection, if the others had it, and suggested that a
duty be laid on all hemp imported for the purpose of en-
couraging the hemp industry in the South. All these de-
sires were laudable and each of them was opposed to the
interests of the other sections. The Pennsylvanians and
the South Carolinians liked Jamaica rum. They were using
nails every day in the construction of houses and vessels
and did not want to pay any more for them than they could
help. The New Englanders and the South Carolinians
were united in opposing duties on iron that the Pennsyl-
vanians asked for, because these duties would increase the
cost of ship-building in the North and of agricultural imple-
ments in both sections. Finally, the New Englanders and
Pennsylvanians had no desire for any duty on hemp, for that
would increase the cost of rigging for their ships. Log-roll-
ing began with the beginning of the government; the New
Englanders, if they got the duties on molasses, rum, and
nails that they wished, were willing to vote for the imposts
that the Pennsylvanians and South Carolinians asked for,
and so it was all the way round. The interests were so
diverse that it took months of discussion before the first
tariff act was passed. It was approved by the President
on July 4, 1789, and was to go into effect on the first day of
the following August. This law was followed by one levy-
ing duties on tonnage (July 20), by another providing the
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machinery for the collection of duties (July 31), and a
fourth establishing the Treasury Department (September 2).
All these laws and one to promote the settlement of accounts
between the national government and the several States
(August 5) were passed before Hamilton became Secretary
of the Treasury; but he was undoubtedly consulted as to
them all, and they represented his wishes and constructive
genius.

The duties provided in the First Tariff Act were very low
and they were soon increased to bring in more revenue.
The act was not divided into schedules, but the articles
were grouped something after the manner of the Pennsyl-
vania law. A few duties may be noticed : that on molasses
was two and a half cents a gallon, which may be compared
with the one penny duty that was levied in the years just
preceding the Revolution! and with the duty of ten cents
a gallon on Jamaica rum. Seven and a half per cent ad
valorem was laid on rough manufactures of iron and one
cent per pound on nails and spikes. Upon hemp the impost
was sixty cents per hundred and twelve pounds weight,
and manufactures of wool, cotton, and linen and other un-
specified goods were taxed five per cent ad valorem. A deter-
mined attempt was made to levy discriminating duties
upon British goods, but this was not successful. The Ton-
nage Act, however, imposed a duty eight times heavier
upon all foreign vessels than it did upon American. This
tonnage duty was to be paid upon foreign vessels at every
entry into a port of the United States; as American vessels
were liable for the duty only once in each year, this clause
practically excluded allforeign vesselsfrom the coastwise trade.?

1 See the present work, vol. iii, p. 85, can be described as a protective meas-
note 1. ure. From the debates, it clearly

3There has been some discussion appears that the framers of the law
as to whether this First Tarif Act intended that it should work for the
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them all, and they represented his wishes and constructive
genius.

The duties provided in the First Tariff Act were very low
and they were soon increased to bring in more revenue.
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were grouped something after the manner of the Pennsyl-
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The act establishing the Treasury Department provided
that the Secretary of the department should report to either
House of Congress on financial matters when required so to
do. Alexander Hamilton assumed the duties of head of
the Treasury Department in the middle of September.
Born in the West Indies on the island of Nevis of Scottish
and French parents, Hamilton embodied in his own person
something of the ardent temperament and business capacity
which one associates with such an origin. He had come
to New York to complete his education; and, on the out-
break of the Revolutionary troubles, had ardently espoused .
the American cause. He had come directly under Wash-
ington’s eye, had lived in his military family for years, and
had greatly attracted him by his mental gifts and his facility
in making use of them. Hamilton had no faith in the people,
but believed in vigorous government and in rallying to the
support of authority all the strongest elements in society
by appeals to their interest. He was of too sanguine a
temperament to have joined with George Cabot, the first
of American conservatives, in “letting the world ruin itself
in its own way.” ! On the contrary, Hamilton would have
striven, and did strive according to the best of his lights,
to rescue the people from the inevitable results of their

protection and encouragement of Ameri- United States, 17890-1816,” p. 8, in

can industry, and the preamble of the
law declares this to be the purpose of
the act. On the other hand, the rates
were 80 low that the amount of protec-
tion afforded by the law taken by itself
was very slight and, therefore, it was
not protective in our use of the word.
See William Hill's ‘“The First Stages
of the Tariff Policy of the United
States” in American Economic Asso-
ciation’s Publications, viii, 5659, and his
“Protective Purpose of the Tariff Act
of 1789” in the Journal of Political
Economy, ii, 54. On the other side,
see H. C. Adams’s “Taxation in the

VOL. IV.—P

Johns Hopkins University Studies in
Historical and Political Science, Second
Series.

1 George Cabot held *‘ democracy
in its natural operation to be the gov-
ernment of the worst”’ He thought
that no government could be relied on
that had not ‘“a material portion of
the democratic mixture in its composi-
tion'; but it was absurd to suppose
that mankind would * cease to act from
impulse and habitually act from reflec-
tion.” These phrases are taken from
a letter written by Cabot in 1804,
Lodge's George Cabot, p. 341.
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lack of qualities which were to be found only in “the best”
and “the good.” It is impossible to overstate the debt
of the American people to this far-seeing fearless statesman,
but it is well also to remember that he made some of the
cruelest political blunders in our history. Apart from ad-
ministration, Hamilton had extraordinary intuition in
forecasting with a statesman’s imagination the material
development of America. He organized the assets of the
nation, calling to his aid all the elements that were in
the future to exploit the resources of the country. He was
the organizer of exploitation, the originator of monopoly ;
but he did his work at the precise moment that exploitation
needed to be organized and human ingenuity required ex-
citation by hope of monopoly.

When Hamilton took control of the Treasury Depart-
ment, he found there was a great amount of work to be
done in organizing the collecting and disbursing force
throughout the country.! The difficulties of formulating
any plans for dealing with the outstanding debt were most
formidable. Hamilton took until January 9, 1790, to
consider all the details of the subject and draw up his first
report on the public credit. When one reflects that his
whole life since coming to man’s estate had been passed -
in the discharge of military duties and in fitting himself

1 Hamilton undertook to manage,
not only his own department, but the
whole government. In the summer of
1792, he wrote to Washington that
Knox would not take his advice as to
issuing military supplies and suggested
that the President should call for re-
porte on the subject from both the
Becretary of War and the Secretary of
the Treasury. This Washington did
in two letters, embedding his demand
for information in each case in extra-
neous matter. See J. C. Hamilton's
Writings of Alexander Hamilton, iv, 226,
238, and Writings of Washington (Ford),

xii, 152.

Another example of the great interest
that Hamilton took in starting the
government comes out in a letter he
wrote to Rufus King, July 15, 1789,
saying that Burr had secured the nom-
ination of Duane for the national
Senate to which he was opposed because
“some very unfit character [possibly
Burr] would be his successor.”” Rufus
King was chosen somewhat later. On
the retirement of General 8chuyler,
Hamilton’s father-in-law, at the end of
the second year, Burr was elected his
[T
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for the practice of the law and that he had no personal
experience with the administration of financial affairs, this
report is certainly a most remarkable document. There
is no doubt, whatever, of the great influence exercised upon
him by a study of the English financial system as it had been
developed up to that time by William Pitt. In point of
fact that system was the only successful working financial
machine in existence, and it must be remembered that the
tremendous strain of the French wars had not then induced
Pitt to adopt some of the hazardous schemes that were
later connected with his name.! After some preliminary
observations as to the diffidence he felt in his own quali-
fications, Hamilton adverted to the necessity of borrowing
that a modern nation must face and to the necessity, there-
fore, of maintaining the public credit.? It merited partic-
ular attention, he said, that among the most enlightened
friends of good government are those who had the most
confidence in the good faith of the American people. After
this opening, he went on to consider the case of the United
States. The foreign debt amounted in principal and inter-
est to nearly twelve million dollars. This must be provided
for, according to the precise terms of the contracts relating
to it. There was no difference of opinion on that subject.
The principal of the domestic debt, or that which had been
contracted at home, amounted to more than twenty-seven
million dollars, and the accumulated unpaid interest to
thirteen millions more. Besides this, there were two mil-
lions of “unliquidated claims,” bringing the whole amount
that was owed at home to over forty-two millions, and with

10n this subject, see Charles F. wury ... for the Support of the Public
Dunbar’s “Some Precedents Followed Credit of the United States (New York,
by Alexander Hamilton'” in the Quar- Childs and Swaine, 1790); reprinted
terly Journal of Economics, iii, 32. without date in Annals of Congress,
3 Report of the Secretary of the Treas- 1st Cong., ii, 1991-2022.
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the foreign debt to something like fifty-four million dollars
in round numbers. Besides these obligations which had
been inherited from the Confederation, there were the debts
of the individual States. These amounted to some twenty-
five millions of dollars, principal and interest. Hamilton
thought that the whole debt, including the State debts,
should be taken care of by the national government. There
should be no discrimination anywhere. Some persons
thought that the original holders of the domestic debt
should receive preferential treatment in comparison with
that accorded to recent purchasers. Among those to hold
this opinion was James Madison. He and Hamilton had
worked together harmoniously and successfully to bring
about the establishment of the government. Now they
disagreed. The Secretary was opposed to any preferential
treatment being given to the “primitive possessors” of the
public securities. The present holders of the certificates
had acquired them in conformity with the provision con-
tained in each certificate that the amount was payable by
the United States to the first holder or to his assignee. To
pay the latter less than the former would be inconsistent
with justice and a breach of contract. Another point that
had been urged in the public prints was that the overdue
and unpaid interest had less claim to consideration than
the original capital. Hamilton insisted that the accrued in-
terest should be regarded as equally entitled to fair treat-
ment with the principal. The credit of the United States
would be firmly established only by funding the whole
amount, principal and accumulated interest together.
Moreover, the Constitution itself provided that all debts
contracted and all engagements entered into before the
adoption of that instrument “shall be as valid against the
United States under it, as under the Confederation.” The
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national debt was the price of liberty, the public faith had
been repeatedly pledged for it. Moreover, a properly
funded public debt answers most of the purposes of money,
for the public stock passes current as specie. As to the
assumption of the State debts, Hamilton contended that
the establishment of the national credit required that also.
The central government was even then taking possession of
the taxes on goods imported, which had hitherto been col-
lected by the States and had formed one of the most fruit-
ful sources of revenue. It was only right, therefore, that
it should also assume the responsibility of the State debts.
If this were not done, the States would compete with one
another and with the United States to seek new sources
of revenue from which these obligations might be met, —
such competition would injure the credit of the national
government and of the States also.

Probably not one Congressman in ten had come to New
York with any other expectation than that of scaling down
the public debt. Centinental loan certificates had sold as
low as three shillings eight pence in the pound as recently
as January, 1786, — that is, within four years of the date
of this report. Since then, they had risen rapidly, but had
sold for eight shillings in the pound in 1789. Why would
it not be possible to make some arrangement by which the
government could issue new bonds for the old certificates
at the highest price that they had brought in the market
before some given date, say before January 1, 1790? To
many members of Congress and to the people at large,
Hamilton’s proposition to fund the domestic debt and the
arrears of interest at the face value of the certificates and
the interest indents seemed to be an act of quixotic gener-
osity, to be in the nature of a free gift to speculators and
capitalists. Hamilton had declared the public credit to
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be a nation’s most precious possession, and that the ability
to borrow money in time of necessity might be equivalent
to salvation. After a great deal of discussion, it was de-
cided to fund the whole of the old Continental debt, includ-
ing accrued interest to the actual possessor at its face value.

The burden of interest on the new securities would be
heavy, especially until the new national taxing system should
be fully established and the commerce and industry of the
country should begin to develop under the stimulus of the
new conditions. Hamilton, therefore, proposed various
schemes to avoid paying full interest on the whole sum at
once. Terminable annuities might be issued, part of the
debt might be funded in land warrants, or interest might
be deferred on a portion of the debt. Land warrants did
not appesal to the members of Congress, but they adopted
in effect one of the Secretary’s alternative propositions.
This was to fund two-thirds of the principal of the domestic
debt in six per cent stock on which no more than eight dol-
lars on the hundred of the sum mentioned in such cer-
tificate could be paid in any one year, including principal
and interest. On the other third, interest would not begin
until 1800, and the accrued interest should be funded in
full, but with interest at three per cent.! There was a fair
amount of agreement as to these points in the funding
scheme after they had been thoroughly discussed; but as
to the assumption of the State debts, the Houses were more
equally divided.

The assumption of State debts by the general government
was no new matter. As far back as the Revolutionary
War itself, Congress had recognized that the interests of
the States and of the Continent were inextricably bound

18ections 4 and 5§ of the act of 1st Cong., i, 2245, and Statules at Large,
Aug. 4, 1790 in Annals of Congress, eoto.
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together. Commissioners had been appointed to settle
the accounts between the United States in Congress As-
sembled and the several States, and in 1784 elaborate rules
had been drawn up for their guidance.! The matter had
come up in the Federal Convention and a proposition had
been brought forward that the general government should
provide for the State debts as well as for the debts of the
Union.? This had been opposed because it did not extend
far enough, —to the repayment of all that “the States
had sunk, as well as that which remained unpaid.” * It was
also thought that it would be well to make the matter one
of administration, instead of putting it into the Constitu-
tion and thereby increasing the “obstacles to its reception
on collateral details.”* The commissioners on accounts
had been working over the matter, but so far without any
very tangible result. Hamilton now proposed that the
United States should assume such part of the debts of the
States as should before a certain day be subscribed towards
a loan to the United States.® In other words that it should
assume whatever portion of the State debts should be con-
verted into United States securities. Whatever sums were
thus converted should be charged in the final settlement
against the respective States.

The question of assuming the State debts or portions of
them soon took on a distinctive sectional phase. The States
that had the largest unpaid debts were Massachusetts and
South Carolina. On the other hand, Virginia and New

1 8ee Journal of the United States
n Congress Assembled, ix, 305-308.

2 8ee Farrand'’s Records of the Federal
Consention, ii, 322, 327, 328, 352, eto.,

index.
38peech of Elbridge Gerry in the
House of Representatives, Feb. 25,
1790 in Farrand’s Records of the Federal
Comsention, iii, 361.
¢ Alexander Hamilton to Edward

Carrington, May 26, 1792 in Farrand's
Records of the Pederal Convention, iii,
866. My attention was called to this
and the preceding citation from Far-
rand’'s Records by Mr. Frederick E.
Malick of S8hamokin, Penn.

§ Hamilton’s ‘' Report,”” American
Stats Papers, Pinance, i, 18, 26; Annals
of Congress, 1st Cong., vol. ii, 2001,
2021.
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York had very small debts remaining unpaid, while Pennsyl-
vania’s debt was not large. It seemed to the Virginians
that if the assumption were carried out, they would he
taxed to pay a part of the interest and, ultimately, a part
of the principal of the debts of Massachusetts and South
Carolina and the other States that had balances to their
credit against the United States as a whole. The Pennsyl-
vanians calculated that they would receive about as much
as they would be called upon to pay out and therefore took
little interest in the matter. Congress had already in the
first session provided for the continuance of the commission
to ascertain and settle the accounts between the national
government and the States. Why not wait until this com-
mission completed its labors and then assume only the
amounts that were then due from the United States to the
several States? The answer to this was ready: that any
such putting off the day of assumption would tend to keep
down the price of the State securities, which would in that
case pass into the hands of foreign capitalists who could
easily afford to buy up these obligations at a low rate and
keep them until they should appreciate. A similar argu-
ment was also advanced against all propositions to provide
a low rate of interest for the national securities. Four
per cent had been thought of, but any such low rate would
prove reasonably attractive to foreigners, but would not
be attractive to home investors. In order to keep the se-
curities in America, it was essential that they should at
once command a good price in the market, and this could
only be accomplished by making them attractive to home
investors. In the act as passed, it was provided that two-
thirds of the principal of the domestic debt should be funded
at six per cent and should be irredeemable except that the
government might at its pleasure pay off in each year two
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per cent of the face value of the bond. This payment was
not obligatory upon the government, but, on the other hand,
confining the amount that could be paid on the principal
to only two per cent per annum, guaranteed a reasonably
long life to this part of the debt. The objection to the plan
was that it was in reality the creation of eight per cent annui-
ties which would cease in 1818, provided the government
was able to make full payments in each year. It was really
a “wasting security” because unless the holder promptly
each quarter reinvested the portion of the principal reim-
bursed, he was insensibly consuming his capital without
being fully aware of the fact.! The other third of the prin-
cipal of the domestic debt should likewise be funded at six
per cent, but no interest should be paid until 1800. The
arrears of interest were to be funded with interest at three
per cent and without any provision for redemption, leaving
it to the government to purchase them whenever it could,
at whatever price the holders would part with them. Con-
gress refused to accept Hamilton’s assumption plan in the
form in which he proposed it; but the bill contained a pro-
vision for the assumption of a certain sum for each State
amounting in all to over twenty-one millions. The amounts”
allowed for the several States were the result of bargaining,
and were equivalent to giving a douceur to the States
that had small balances in their favor. Holders of State
securities could exchange them for United States bonds —

1 The way in which this provision
might work was pointed out in a letter
from Oliver Wolcott, dated March 8,
1796, from which it appears that the
principal might be extinguished in
1818 or 1819, by yearly payments of
eight dollars on each one hundred dol-
lars of face value. This process of
extinguishment was so insidious and
o0 invisible that Gallatin proposed
to stamp on the face of each certificate

as it came into the hands of the treas-
ury officials “the true amount of the
annuity due, and of the time when it
shall cease.” See American State Pa-
pers, Finance, i, 404; ii, 213. These
documents may be conveniently con-
sulted in Jonathan Elliot's Funding
System, which is printed in the House
Ezecutive Documents, 28th Cong., 1st
Sess., vol. ii.
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provided they accomplished their purpose before the State’s
quota was exhausted. This was only part of the considera-
tion that was paid for the passage of this act; the other
portion consisted in a southern location of the federal
capital and in yielding to the Southerners on the subject
of slavery. .

The slavery question had interjected itself into the
debates of the Federal Convention. To placate the South-
erners, the slave trade had been permitted until 1808, and
to please the Northerners, Congress had been authorized
to levy a small tax upon imported slaves, not exceeding
ten dollars a head. The proposition was now brought
forward to levy this duty. The South Carolinians and
Georgians most vehemently opposed this, and its ad-
vocacy by some of the Virginia members did not in any
way lessen their wrath. The matter was put aside, but
it undoubtedly helped to increase sectional animosities.
Much more important at the moment was the dispute
over the location of the seat of government of the infant
republic. .

Nowadays, the precise location of the federal offices
and of the halls of Congress does not much matter. If so
much money had not been expended in buildings and monu-
ments at Washington, it is conceivable that there would be
no violent objection on the part of dwellers on the Atlantic
slope to Congress holding its deliberations in the Mississippi
Valley, or even in the heart of the Rockies. In the days
of which we are now writing, the subject seemed to be of
great importance. It was partly a matter of sentiment.
Other nations had capital cities; Britain had its London,
France its Paris, Russia its Petrograd. Why should not
America likewise have its centre of government, art, and
social life? As far back as the days of the Revolutionary
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War,! when Congress could not provide the means for meet-
ing everyday expenses, propositions had been made for the
establishment of the seat of government outside of any
existing large municipality.? Later the disorderly behavior
of some Pennsylvania soldiers had driven Congress from
Philadelphia to Princeton in New Jersey. There the mem-
bers found themselves straitened for accommodations,
and the place was exceedingly inconvenient for the few
representatives of foreign powers who then attended the
motions of Congress. The next move was to New York,
and there Congress was when the Constitution was ratified.
A lively debate had arisen over the question of holding the
first meetings of the new Congress at some other place, but
the expense of removal had forbidden this and procured for
New York the honor of the first inauguration. Congress
had appointed March 4 as the day to begin operations under
the new instrument. Why so inclement a date had been
picked out remains still a mystery. Travelling by sea in
a coasting schooner in the last week in February and the
first week in March from Savannah, Charleston, Newbern,
and Norfolk to New York was not lightly to be undertaken
by a Congressman journeying alone and was still less desir-
able for his women people, children, and servants. By
land the journey was somewhat safer, perhaps, but not
much more agreeable, whether made by horseback or by
stage-coach. The roads were likely to be fully as bad at
this time of the year as they were in mid-winter, when Jef-

1 In 1783 Jefferson, writing to General
G. R. Clark from Annapolis — where
Congress then was— describes an
intrigue not unlike that of 1790. Ameni-
can Historical Rewiew, iii, 673.

3 The early history of propositions
looking toward a permanent residence
is traced in detail with abundant cita-
tions by Wilhelmus Bogart Bryan

in his History of the National Capital,
i, ch. i. On May 10, 1787, a motion
was made in Congress for the erection
of public buildings at Georgetown on
the “Potowmac’’ for the accommodation
of Congress, that being *“‘a permanent
situation most central to all parts of
the union.” Journal of Congress, xii,
75.
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ferson was obliged to abandon his horses and take to the
stage between Alexandria and Philadelphia. The New
Yorkers had made great preparations for the entertainment
of the Congress and executive officers, but New York does
not seem to have been a very comfortable place of residence.
The old town had been badly wrecked by fire during the
war, and the more eligible residential places were outside
of the thickly inhabited region. Moreover, board and
lodging were expensive at New York in comparison with
Philadelphia and with southern towns like Williamsburg
and Charleston. Sentiment, convenience, and personal
economy all urged some other location and some location
to the southward of Sandy Hook. Had this matter come
up by itself, the New England members of Congress would
no doubt have been glad to further the convenience of South-
ern Representatives and Senators; combined with threats
of disunion over slavery and with charges of undue grasp-
ing in the matter of assumption, the Northerners were not
inclined to do anything to meet the wishes of the Southern-
ers. At this point the Pennsylvanians entered into the
fray with a proposition for making Philadelphia the tem-
porary seat of government at any rate. Place after place
was now suggested in combination with a few years on the
Delaware. The Southerners plainly desired to have a
capital city built on the banks of the Potomac; the New
Englanders would have preferred the Susquehanna. In
the midst of the discussions over assumption, slavery, and
the site of the capital, Representatives appeared from North
Carolina and gave the majority to the Southern side.

North Carolina and Rhode Island had resolutely refused
to come into the new confederation. In the case of the
former, there seems to have been no real reason for holding
aloof, apart from the fact that ratification had been advo-
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cated by politicians who were, for the moment, not in the
ascendency. The Rhode Islanders, on the other hand,
were disaffected, owing to the unpleasant way in which their
financial policy had been received by neighboring States.
Rhode Island radicals had overreached themselves in almost
every way and were now reaping the results. It was not
until a bill had actually passed the Senate prohibiting all
commercial intercourse with that State and calling upon
it for a prompt payment of its portion of the Continental
debt, that it ratified the Constitution on May 29, 1790, but
only by vote of thirty-four to thirty-two.! North Carolina
had already come into line in the preceding November,
her representatives reaching New York in June (1790), just
in time to turn the majority of the House of Representatives
against assumption.

In the final settlement of assumption and the national
residence, there was a good deal of intrigue. The whole
story has never been told and probably never can be. A
few facts that have come out in the publications of letters
and diaries are certainly suggestive of the motives of our
ancestors and of their modes of transacting business. In
May, 1789, John Adams wrote to Dr. Benjamin Rush that
he saw no unusual symptoms of corrupt influence in New
York.? His eyes were not so keen as those of Senator
Maclay, or it may be that, having no financial interest
in the matter, he did not fully realize what was going on
around him. Maclay’s “Journal” has several entries as
to bargainings. On June 14, 1790, he recorded that, on
the preceding Friday, Jackson, of the President’s family, and
Coxe, of the Treasury, had been to see Clymer and Fitz-
simons to negotiate a bargain giving Pennsylvania the

18ee F. G. Bates'’s Rhode Island and  Economics and Public Law, x, No. 2).

the Formation of the Union, p. 200 (Co- 2 0ld Family Letters copied for Alex-
lumbia University’s Studies in History, ander Biddle, Series A., pp. 34, 35.
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capital in return for votes for assumption.! He relates that
Rabert Morris thereupon made an appointment with Hamil-
ton to meet him as if by accident. The meeting came off,
and Maclay said that Hamilton offered to give the perma-
nent residence to Pennsylvania, if Morris would procure
him one vote in the Senate and five in the House for the
assumption. The next day, Maclay entered in his journal
that Morris had a communication from Mr. Jefferson sug-
gesting a temporary residence at Philadelphia for fifteen
years and a permanent residence at Georgetown on the
Potomac. Fifteen days later Rufus King, then Senator
from New York, made a “memorandum” to the effect
that during the interval of voting on assumption, a bargain
had been made between Pennsylvania, Delaware, Mary-
land, and Virginia by which the capital was to be at Phila-
delphia for ten years and afterwards to be located per-
manently on the Potomac.? Later, he says that Hamilton
informed him that the combination was likely to fail, owing
to an apprehension that the assumption could not be carried.
Jefferson’s own account of his part in the affair gives one
‘the impression of guileless simplicity and general gullibility
that one does not usually associate with him. He repre-
sents himself as on his way to the President’s, when, by
chance, he came across Hamilton, who walked him “back-
wards & forwards before the President’s door” and for
the first time he learned of the critical condition of the pro-
posed assumption law.? Jefferson had not favored assump-
tion, but had recognized the necessity of passing the meas-
ure for the preservation of harmony and union. He now
suggested that Hamilton should dine with him and discuss

1 William Maclay’s Journal, 291, 3 Jefferson’s ‘ Anas’ in his Writings
202, 321, 833, etc. (index under “‘Resi- (Ford), i, 162-164 ; and vi, 173. Neither
dence bill”’), of these aocounts is contemporaneous,

2 Charles R. King's Life and Corre- 0 far as is known.
spondence of Rufus King, i, 383, 384.
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the political situation with some of the Virginia members.
Hamilton came. The dinner proved successful. Two
Virginians changed their votes on assumption and Hamil-
ton rounded up enough New Englanders to carry the Po-
tomac site for the national city.! Whichever account is
true, that of Maclay written at the time, or that of Jefferson,
probably written years afterwards, it is certain that the
assumption-national city deal went through. It does not
appear that the change of the two Virginia votes on assump-
tion was essential to the carrying of the measure; but it
may be noted that the assumption as passed “removed al-
most the whole of her [Virginia’s] outstanding debt.”* It
is also certain that Jefferson never forgave himself for having
thus contributed to the consummation of this part of Hamil-
ton’s plan for building up an energetic government under
the Constitution,® even though, by doing this, he secured
what was most dear to Virginia hearts, the placing of the
federal city on the banks of the Potomac.

The first part of what slowly developed into Hamilton’s
complete financial scheme was thus in great measure adopted.
Congress, however, had not been willing to authorize levy-
ing as large excise duties on distilled liquors as hehad wished,
and the rates provided in the first tariff were too low to
bring in much revenue. Owing to the slowness with which
governmental machinery was organized and to the delays
that necessarily took place in the conversion of the old debt
into the new, it was impossible to begin the payment of
interest on the new obligations for some time. The small-
ness of the revenue, for the moment, mattered little; but,

3The votes on assumption are = *W. F. Dodd's “Virginia Finanoes,
tabulated by Professor Orin G. Libby 1776-1790" in Virginia Magasine of
fn “Political Factions in Washington's  History, x, 870.
Administrations” in the Quarterly Jour- 3 Jefferson to Washington, September

nal of the Unisersity of North Dakola, 9, 1702, Writinge of Jefferson (Ford),
iid, 208. vi, 102.
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with 1791, when the payment of interest would begin, and
especially, with 1792, when the payment of interest on the
assumed State debts would begin, more funds must be pro-
vided.! Moreover, a part of Hamilton’s scheme contem-
plated the early redemption of a portion of the public debt
to form the beginning of a sinking fund. By an act passed
August 10, 1790, the rates levied on about half of the com-
modities by the first tariff were considerably increased, ex-
perience having shown that with the establishment of a
national customs service the irregularities of the old State
services could be avoided. In the autumn of 1789, Hamilton
and Madison had exchanged ideas on the subject of supple-
mentary taxes. Madison suggested an excise upon home
distilleries regulated according to size and an augmenta-
tion of duties on imported liquors or a land tax. He wrote
that a general stamp tax would be obnoxious to prejudices
that were not yet worn out and, therefore, does not seem
to have advised any such being established. Madison hoped
that some part of the domestic debt might be extinguished
by the sales of western lands and thought that at all events
it should be put in a manifest course of extinguishment or
it would pass into the hands of foreigners. Hamilton had
suggested an excise on distilled liquors in his report on the

18oMe EXPENDITURES OF THE NATIONAL GOVERNMENT

1791 1798 1791-179¢
War Department . . . . . . $ 632,804 $1,100,702
Intereston Debt . . . . . . 1,177,863 2,373,611
Total Expenditures of National
Government . . . . . . . 8,134,150 8,324,400
Average Annual Expenditures . $5,854,172

This table is compiled from “Ex- Sees., Sen. Doc. No. 528), pp. 7, 39.
penditures of the United States Gov- This was prepared by the director of
ernment 1791-1907" (60th Cong., 1st the census in 1908, and printed by order
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funded debt, but Congress had refused to accept that part
of his plan. In December, 1790, he returned to the matter
in a second report on public credit. He argued powerfully
in favor of a modified tax on domestic distilled liquors,
coupled with additions to the duties on imported spirits,
and argued against the attempt to levy a land tax. This
seems to have been a favorite idea with the Congressmen
from the uncommercial States. They pointed to England
a8 a country where a tax on land had worked exceedingly
well and for a long time. Hamilton was able to point out
that in a new country there was no such stability in land
values like that which made the collection of a tax of this
kind in England so economical and so easy. In answer to
this report, which also set forth the urgent need of more
revenue in the immediate future, Congress passed an act
(March 3, 1791) providing for the assessment and collection
of internal revenue duties on distilled liquors and also for
additional duties on imported spirits.! As no one had any
experience with the levying of taxes of this kind in America,
the mode prescribed proved to be impossible of execution ;
it had to be modified a year later,? and even then brought on
an insurrection in western Pennsylvania and western Vir-
ginia. The revolt of the western frontiersmen was no un-
mixed evil, although it occurred at a very critical time in
our relations with Great Britain, because it enabled the
federal government to show its power and to prove that

f the Senate. These figures do not
show the whole expenditures as we
would regard them nowadays, because
at that time and for many years there-
after the local custom collectors and
ther officials were paid by fees. A
hhleolthuofeuupvenm'l‘bomu

. Noeeua.rily under such
a system the compensation of collectors
waried greatly. Owing to the different

VOL. IV.—@

modes of compensation and of book-
keeping no valid comparison can be
made between these figures and later
ones.

1 Statutes at Large (ed. 1850), i, 199;
Annals of Congress, 1st Cong., vol. ii,
2320.

’Aet of May 3, 1792 in Statutes ‘at
Large, i, 267; and Annals of Congress,
2nd Cong., 1374.



82 CREDIT AND COMMERCE [Ca. III

it was no mere rope of sand that could be easily dis-
solved.

Hamilton’s original plan had provided for something in
the way of a “sinking fund.” Provision was made looking
toward the immediate extinguishment of a part of the debt
by the first Congress. This was done by handing over to
a committee, comprising the Chief Justice, the Vice-Presi-
dent, the Secretaries of the Departments of State and Treas-
ury, and the Attorney General, whatever balance should
remain after providing for the appropriations of the year
and also two million dollars that were to be raised by loan.
These sums were to be applied under the direction of this
committee or commission to the purchase of public secu-
rities. When bought, these securities were not to be can-
celled or destroyed, but were to be held. The interest on
them was to be used to repay this loan and then to buy
other securities. Whatever the virtues or defects of a
. sinking fund may be or may not be, this arrangement at
this precise time had very great advantages. As soon as
the United States stepped into the market for the purchase
of its own bonds, it greatly accelerated the progress of those
securities towards par, and thus prevented them being
absorbed at a low rate by Englishmen and Dutchmen.
All in all the success of the plan so far was remarkable and
was so remarkable as to arouse the envy of those who for
one reason or another were not its beneficiaries. This is
well put in an anonymous note to Hamilton saying that
the funding system is “as much abused as if it were criminal
in a Government to provide for the payment of a Nation.”

So far, Hamilton’s plan of providing a living capital for
that which was dead had borne fruition. His further task
was to make this capital active or fluid by providing a
nation-wide banking system. At the moment there were
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only three banks in the country: at Philadelphia, New
York, and Boston, although a fourth was on the point of
starting at Baltimore. The combined capital of these
institutions was about two million dollars. If a national
bank should be established with branches in the more
important centres of commerce and industry, the transac-
tion of business of all kinds would be made very much more
easy, the collection and disbursement of government money
could be carried on much more conveniently and with much
less disturbance, the hidden hoards of the country would
come to light, and foreign capital would be induced to cross
the Atlantic to take part in building up the financial fabric
that would surely follow the successful establishment of
such a national institution. Until this were done no rapid
development of the country’s resources, no great increase
in manufacturing, no rapid and substantial settlement of
the lands on the frontiers could be expected. Finally, the
acceptance of United States securities instead of money
for a portion of the subscriptions to the capital of the pro-
posed bank would greatly help to increase the selling price
of government bonds and also interest the conservative
portion of the community in the stability of the new federal
government.

Hamilton signed his report on the national bank on
December 13, 1790.! Following his usual method, he began
with a recital of the utility of such an institution and then
took up the arguments that might be advanced against
him. These were the increase of usury, the temptation
to over-trading, and giving a fictitious credit to bankrupts.
He was confident that these disadvantages would be found
to be less than they appeared, and would be more than

$ Boo0 American Siats Papers, Finance, i, 67-76; Annals of Congress, 1st Cong.,
wol. &, 2032-2059.
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counterbalanced by the advantages which would follow
the creation of such an institution. The proposition to
establish a national bank resembling in great measure the
Bank of England aroused as great an interest in Congress
as the proposal to assume the State debts had brought
forth. The project was finally passed by both Houses in
practically the form that Hamilton had suggested and came
before Washington for his approval (January 20, 1791).
So loud had been the clamor that the President felt doubts
as to the power of Congress to incorporate such an institu-
tion. He called upon the heads of departments and upon
the Attorney General for their opinions. Those given by
Jefferson and Hamilton ! remain to this day among the most
important expositions of our constitutional law and prac-
tice. Jefferson objected to the measure, because it formed
the subscribers into a corporation and established some-
thing approaching a monopoly. He considered the founda-
tion of the Constitution to be laid in the Tenth Amendment,
which, by the way, was not yet adopted.? The language
of this amendment, that all “powers not delegated to the
United States by the Constitution, nor prohibited by it to
the States, are reserved to the States respectively, or to the
people,” is worth noting, nevertheless, as both Hamilton

1 Jefferson’s opinion is dated Febru- the first amendment November 3,
ary 15, 1791, and is in the **Memorial 1791. This amendment therefore was

edition’ of his Works, iii, 145; Hamil-
ton's is dated February 23, 1791 and
is in Lodge’s edition of his Works, iii,
180.

2 There is some question as to when
the first ten amendments went into
force. August 8, 1791, Jefferson wrote
to Christopher Gore, stating that he
understood Massachusetts had ratified
some of the amendments. If this was
80, those amendments would be in
force, as Massachusetts, being the tenth
State, would make the necessary three-
fourths (Documentary History of the
Conastitution, v, 244). Virginia ratified

certainly in force on and after that day.
Some writers, as Farrand in his Fram-
sng of the Constitution (p. 262), say that
these amendments “appear to have
been in force’” from November 3, 1791.
Alexander Johnston (History of Ameri-
can Politics, ed. 1880, p. 252) gives the
date as December 15, 1791 ; but these
suthorities give no citations. At all
eventsit is certain that the Tenth Amend-
ment was not in foroe in February, 1791,
when Jefferson and Hamilton presented
their letters on the constitutionality of
g:to national bank to President Wash-
n.
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and Jefferson use it in their arguments. Jefferson declared
that the power to incorporate a bank had not been dele-
gated to the United States by the Constitution. It was not
among the powers especially enumerated of laying taxes,
borrowing money, regulating commerce, nor is it within the
scope of the general phrases authorizing Congress to lay
taxes to pay the debts and to provide for the general wel-
fare. Jefferson restricts this grant of power to laying taxes
for the purpose of providing for the general welfare. He
would limit both parts of the phrase, thus confining the
laying of taxes to paying the debts or providing for the
general welfare and, in a like manner, confining the provi-
sion for the general welfare to laying of taxes for that pur-
pose. To consider the latter phrase as not describing the
purpose of the first would give a distinct and independent
power to Congress to do any act which it held might be
for the general welfare and would thus reduce the whole
instrument to one single phrase. Jefferson then passes
to the other general phrase in the Constitution authorizing
Congress ‘“to make all laws necessary and proper for carry-
ing into execution the enumerated powers.” As to this
he says, as all these powers can be carried into execution
without the incorpbration of a bank, a bank is not necessary
and, therefore, not authorized. It was true that the estab-
lishment of such a financial corporation would facilitate
the collection of taxes, but the Constitution does not allow
those things which are merely ““ convenient,” but only those
which are “necessary.”” To permit such a latitude of con-
struction in this phrase would swallow up the delegated
powers and reduce the whole to one power, as had been
observed in the discussion of the other general phrase.!

1O0nly ten or eleven weeks earlier oconmstruction of the Act of Congress
Jeflerson bad argued for a very liberal for the establishment of a national
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Washington turned Jefferson’s opinion over to Hamil-
ton, who set forth with all his skill the opposing arguments.!
He based his discussion upon the general principle that is
inherent in the very definition of government, that every
power vested in it is in its nature sovereign and includes
the right to employ all the means requisite and fairly appli-
cable to the attainment of the end of such powers which are
not forbidden by the organic law or contrary to the essen-
tial ends of political society. The government of the
United States is sovereign, for the Constitution expressly
declares that laws and treaties made pursuant to it shall
be the supreme law of the land. The power of erecting
corporations is a sovereign power and is unquestionably
incident to that of the United States in relation to the ob-
ject intrusted to the management of the government. As
to the argument from the Tenth Amendment, the main
proposition is not to be questioned ; but how much is dele-
gated in each case is to be made out by fair reasoning and
construction. There are both implied powers and expressed
powers, the former equally delegated with the latter. As
to the meaning of the word “necessary,” it often means no
more than needful, requisite, incidental, useful, or conducive
to. It is a common mode of expression to say that it is

capital. The expression ‘‘such quan- 1 The opinions of Jefferson and Hamil-
tity of land as the President shall deem ton were not known at the time, or for

proper for the United States’ used in
the law ‘is vague,”” wrote Jefferson.
‘It may therefore be extended to the
soceptance or purchase of land enough
for the town; and I have no doubt
it is the wish, and perhaps expectation.
In that case, it will be to be laid out
in lots and streets.” Writings of Jef-
fersonY(Ford ed.), v, 2532. And acocord-
ingly the city of Washington was laid
out at considerable expense and the
construction of the *‘President’'s pal-
ace’” and the capitol begun without
any other authorisation from Congrees.

years afterward. Extracts from Hamil-
ton's letter were first printed in the
appendix to the fifth volume of Mar-
shall’s Washington that was published
in 1807; the whole letter apparently
was first printed in 1810. Professor
MacDonald notee similarities between
Hamilton’s argument and Marshall's in
the opinion given in the case of McCul-
loch vs. Maryland (Massachusetts His-
torioal Society's Proceedings for May,
1913; the first draft of Hamilton's
opinion is in idid. for November, 1909).
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necessary for a government or a person to do this or that -
when nothing more is understood than that the interests
of the government or the person will be promoted by doing
this or that. The whole turn of the clause shows that it
was the intention of the framers to give a liberal latitude
to the exercise of the specified powers. On the other hand,
the restrictive interpretation of the word “necessary’’ is con-
trary to sound interpretation. A bank has a natural rela-
tion to the power of collecting taxes — to that of regulating
trade, to that of providing for the common defence, and as
the bill under consideration contemplates the government
in the light of a joint proprietor of the stock of the bank
it thus brings the case within the provision of the clause
of the Constitution which immediately respects the prop-
erty of the United States.

Hamilton’s arguments convinced Washington of the
constitutional propriety of the measure. He approved the
bill, February 25, 1791. The subscription books were
opened on July 4, following, and within two hours, the
whole capital was subscribed for and many persons who had
hoped to get the right to take up stock found themselves .
left out. Never in the course of history has there been so
immediate and permanent a financial foundation laid for any
country’s prosperity as that which was built by Hamilton,
the men of the First Congress, and President Washington.!
It is true that they had in their hands an opportunity
greater than was ever vouchsafed to any other beginners
of a State. There were no national financial institu-

11t was the confidence of the legis-
Iators, voters, and people generally
in Washington’s integrity and judgment
that made this legislation poelible
Per contra, Senator Maclay, in his
desperation at seeing affairs go in a
direction contrary to that he desired,

wrote he hoped it was not treason, but
he wished that Washington were in
heaven, that his name might not be
used as a constant cover to every ‘‘ irre-
publican act.”” This wasin 1790. The
idea became a favorite one with the
opposition.
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tions to hamper them; there were no laws, regulations,
or traditions to hinder them from pursuing the path of
wisdom. The slate was perfectly clean. They might
establish the credit of the government of the United States
on a firm basis; or they might give it an insufficient under-
pinning that would collapse under the weight of the super-
structure of later years. They acted with a sagacity that
the world has seldom seen. The fabric that they wrought
has been changed and mended from time to time to meet
the needs of succeeding generations, but the framework
is even now essentially as they left it.
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NOTES

L Books on Hamilton. — Henry Cabot Lodge’s Alexander Ham-
titon in the “ American Statesmen ” series is one of the most artistic
bits of biographic-historical writing ever done in this country, — and,
for that reason, one of the most dangerous for any except the most
erudite. Of the half dozen other biographies, those by J. T. Morse,
Jr., and W. G. Sumner may be mentioned. John C. Hamilton’s
History of the Republic of the United States of America, as traced in
the Writings of Alexander Hamillon, etc. (6 vols., New York, 1857-60)
is really a biography of the first Secretary of the Treasury by his son.
Lodge’s edition of the complete Works of Alexander Hamilton (9
vols., New York, 1885-86) is now generally used, but some persons
find the earlier edition in seven volumes edited by J. C. Hamilton (New
York, 1850-51) more satisfying. Paul Leicester Ford printed a
Bibliotheca Hamiltoniana (New York, 1886).

II. Assumption. — The gross claims of Massachusetts amounted
to $26,000,000. A large part of this sum disappeared by the easy
process of reducing it from a paper currency to a specie basis. The
final depreciation arranged for by Congress for the old continental
money was forty for one; but this would have been an unfair rule
to apply to portions of the Massachusetts claims. In writing to
Governor Hancock in 1791, Dane thought that Massachusetts’ claim
of nine and one-half million dollars appeared to be well supported
by acts of Congress and proper vouchers. Granting that this was
80, the interest on each item to date of payment would have to
be calculated and added to the principal, and then over against
the gross sum thus found there would be many offsets. Wherever
one turned, there were troubles, —in settling the scale of depre-
ciation, in computing the interest, in finding the voucher, in produc-
ing the act of Congress. The accounts were stated in thirty-two
books and were placed before the commission with a mass of justi-
fying papers. See Dane’s letter of February 17, 25, 1791, February
4, 1703, and Massachusetts Archives in the State House at Boston.
“ Papers relating to Resolves of 1791, January Sess.,” chap. 160.
This material was brought to my attention by Mr. Adolf A. Berle,
Jr., who has helped me in other ways.



CHAPTER 1V
HIGH FINANCE, 1789-1800

IN August, 1791, six months after the passage of the Bank
Act, Henry Lee journeyed from Philadelphia to Alexandria.
The whole way, he wrote, was “one continued scene of stock
gambling ; agriculture commerce & even the fair sex relin-
quished, to make way for unremitted exertion in this favorite
pursuit.” ! Ever since 1785, and probably before that year,
the accumulation of public securities in the hands of a few
persons, — from Lord Timothy Dexter of Newburyport,
Massachusetts, to William Loughton Smith of Charleston,
South Carolina — had been steadily proceeding.! In 1785,
agents from New York went among the Connecticut farmers,
buying their Continental and State certificates as quietly as

1To Madison, August 14, 17901, gated in a few hands. W. L. Smith,

* Madison Mmuscripu" in Library
of Congrees, xviii, 58
1800 W. C. Ford' Correspondence
and Journals of Samuel Blachley Webbd,
iii, 40, 45, 53, 55, 50. In 1788, Duer
and his friends were buying securities
in South Carolina. See ‘' Duer Manu-
scripts’’ in the New York Historical
Bociety's library (vol. ii, nos. 186, 187).
In January, 1790, Madison informed
Jefferson that ‘'emissaries are still
exploring the interior and distant
parts of the Union in order to take
advantage of the ignorance of holders”
of public securities (Writings of Madi-
i, 502). Later on, there was a
good deal of protest against the method
by which securities had been segre-

one of the South Carolina Representa-
tives, found it necessary to declare
publicly that he had never speculated
in the funds until every man in the
United States knew of the assumption
law. He had informed his ocorre-
spondents in the State that the law
would be passed. Local speculators
had bought stocks from the original
holders at far below their real value
and the blame for this had been put on
members of Congress and on the capi-
talists of Philadelphia, New York, and
Boston. Professor Ulrich B. Phillips
kindly communicated this note to me
from the City Gasette and Daily Adver-
tiser, Charleston, October 3, 1704,
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possible and for the smallest sums of hard money that the
holders would take. The progress of legislation was watched
most narrowly, asit seemed to be generally recognized that the
establishment of confidence in the government would be the
signal for a sharp rise in the price of public funds, in the value
of lands, and for an outburst of activity in commerce, manu-
facturing, and trade. It is not only among merchants, finan-
ciers, and politicians that the gambling fervor is found;
Noah Webster, of the “Speller” and the “Dictionary,” was
kept from speculating simply by the fact that he had no
money,! and the Reverend Doctor Jeremy Belknap, founder
of the Massachusetts Historical Society, was in constant
receipt of information as to the progress of events by letters
from Senator Paine Wingate. The lawyers caught the
infection. James Kent, afterwards the famous Chancellor,?
purchased land in western New York and made money by it,
while James Wilson, one of the “Fathers of the Constitution”
and Associate Justice of the Supreme Court of the United
States, bought so much wild land in Pennsylvania, North
Carolina, and Kentucky, that he died prematurely, a bank- .
rupt. The most unexpected of these early speculators was
Patrick Henry. With a few Virginia associates, he obtained
an extensive grant of land in the Yazoo-Mississippi country
from the State of Georgia. The associates then bought up
Georgia paper money and certificates at a very low rate and

1E. E. F. Skeel's Noah Webster, i,
203, 204, 207. On September 20, 1789,
Webster informed James Greenleaf,
whose sister he was about to marry, of

he ed ‘“‘the outdoor talk of
Col. Duer, the Vice-Secretary’ that
the debt will be funded and ‘it is in

time for your speculations.’
1 William Kent's Memoirs and Letters
of James Kent, 75. As showing the

extent of land speculations in this
period, it may be noted that fifteen
million acres of lands in Kentucky in
the names of non-residents were offered
for sale in 1800 for non-payment of
taxes, J. H. Daveiss to R. and 8. Smith,
Lexington, Ky., November 16, 1800.
Ten years later on November 6, 1810,
the Albany Register printed a twenty
page Supplement advertising lands for
sale in default of taxes.
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turned them into the State treasury at par in payment of the
lands. The treasurer received some of them, refused to re-
ceive any more, and the legislators granted the lands to an-
other Yazoo Company. For a time the Virginians thought
of contesting the matter in a court of law, but the assumption
of State debts made it more profitable to exchange Georgia
certificates for United States bonds, par for par, than for
wild Yazoo lands, and contributed to make Patrick Henry
financially independent® at the moment when so many of the
foremost planters of the Old Dominion were beginning to feel
the first pinches of poverty, for they had already invested so
heavily in lands and slaves that they had no money to put
into new forms of speculation.

Before the establishment of a national financial system,
interstate commerce and speculative enterprises had been
carried on with great difficulty owing to the varying stand-
ards of money ? and to the practical impossibility of estab-
lishing credits in different colonies or States. When a Phila-
delphian made a purchase of rice at Charleston, he had to pay
for it either by shipping commodities vendable at that place
or by getting together whatever gold and silver he could
find, — moidores, johannes, half-joes, pieces-of-eight, and
bags of clippings, — or he could buy exchange on England,
if he could find it, for that had a market everywhere. Even
after the establishment of the new government, until the
banking system got into working order, the remittance of
funds was no easy matter® In one of his first circulars,

1 W. W. Henry's Life and Letters of
Patrick Henry, ii, 812; American State

3800 the present work, wvol. ii,
497-504.

Papers, Public Lands, i, 156; C. H.
Haskins's ‘' Yasoo Land Companies’’ in
American Historical Association’s Pa-
pers, v, 305; and Writings of Jefferson
(Ford), v, 250. See also Report of the
Secretary of the South-Carolina Yasoo
Company in three parts.

3 The origin of the suggestion of
dividing the dollar into one hundred
units, represented by a copper oent,
seems to be obscure, — it may have
come from China. Possibly the two
Morrises, Robert and Gouverneur, and
Jefferson all had a hand in it, or they
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Hamilton directed the collector at Boston to forward funds
by the medium of notes of the Bank of North America or the
Bank of New York. These were to be cut in halves, each half
to be signed by the collector and then the two were to be sent
by successive posts. It would be well to secure a receipt from
the postmaster which would serve as a voucher.! After 1793,
the use of cheques and drafts on the Bank of the United
States, or on State banks, became more and more frequent
and greatly facilitated the carrying on of business and the
promotion of speculative ventures.

By 1790 the advantages arising from speculation in the
public funds had turned everything into that channel: “The
Merchant, the man who lives upon the interest of his bonds,
the tradesman, and the farmer convert their whole into
money, to engage in this lucrative business.” In the summer
of 1790, speculation was even more widely spread among the
people of Boston than of New York, and pervaded the whole
town. The result of speculative activity in different parts
of the country is seen in the figuresthat Professor Beard com-
piled from the treasury books. In 1795, citizens of Massa- -
chusetts received over three hundred thousand dollars in

may have borrowed the idea of a deci-
mal division. The Congress of the
Confederation adopted measures look-
ing toward the establishment of an
American coinage, but nothing tangible
was done until after the act of April 2,
1792, establishing a mint and regulating
the coins of the United States. And
then the actual striking of gold, silver,
and copper coins was a very slow matter.
See the writings connected with the
names of Jefferson and the Morrises.
McMaster has summarised the matter
in his United States, iv, 283 and fol.
18ee ‘“Custom House Papers' in
Library of Congress under date of
October 14, 1789. In January, 1792,
the Bank of the United States was
added to the list Bank cheques seem

to have been in use as early as April,
1792, for then Robert Carter of Virginia
inquires ‘‘if printed checks only will
be taken up”’ at the Bank of Maryland.
They were sparingly used before 1800
and 1805. One device was called a
“post-note.” This was equivalent to
a cashier's cheque to order, dated ahead.
Timothy Pickering stated that the
British postmaster general had advised
the cutting bank notes in halves and
sending them by successive posts so
that the practioe was not peculiar to
America. See Skeel's Noah Webster, i,
820; Murray's New English Dictionary,
vii, Pt. 2, p. 1178. Mr. Albert Mathewsa
of Boston most kindly brought Robert
Carter’s letter to my attention.
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interest on United States securities, while only sixty-two
thousand dollars were paid to Virginians on that account.
Indeed, Virginia was seventh on the list of holders of public
securities, Massachusetts, Connecticut, New York, Penn-
sylvania, Maryland, and South Carolina all standing before
her.!

The rise in prices was great and the increase in the volume
of transactions in stocks and bonds was astonishing. The
rights to subscribe to the stock of the Bank of the United
States sold at above par before they were issued, and within
six months a share that was issued at four hundred dollars
could be sold for six hundred. The rise in the price of the
public funds of the.United States and of the several States
was even more remarkable. In April, 1786, one of Nathan
Dane’s clients living in Essex County paid thirteen hard
dollars for four thousand three hundred and sixty-two dollars
of the “Old Emission” of Massachusetts paper.? In March,
1788, New Loan certificates had risen at Philadelphia from
their lowest point of one and two shillings in the pound to
four shillings and sixpence. In the following May, when the
ratification of the Constitution had become almost a certainty,
they went up another sixpence to five shillings or twenty-
five per cent of their face value. The actual acceptance of
the new fundamental law by nine States did not at once
bring about a further increase in the selling price of public
securities. From June, 1788, to September, 1789, there is a
rise of only three pence in the pound. The actual payment
of money by the government in October, 1789, aroused re-
newed confidence. In three months, public securities nearly

1 These figures are from Professor Dane paid eighteen shillings hard
Charles A. Beard's article in American  money for eighty-four shillings of ** New
Historical Review, xix, 204. Emission” ; in October, 1790, he paid

2“Nathan Dane Manuscripts” in $928.00 for $1468.00 in Final Settle-

the cabinet of the Massachusetts ment Certificates and Indents.
Historioal BSociety. In March, 1787,
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doubled in price, —the New Loan certificates selling in
December, 1789, for ten shillings.! The new national bonds
at once secured public favor. In January, 1791, the six per
cents were selling at eighty-five cents on the dollar, or seven-
teen shillings in the pound. In the following December,
they went above par, the highest point for the movement
being one hundred and twenty-five in the spring of 1792.2
One of the most interesting things connected with this whole
matter is the credit enjoyed by American fundsin England and
Holland. Bird, Savage, and Bird of London became very
active in the buying and selling of United States securities.
By August 12, 1791, they had disposed of several million
dollars worth of them in London. These securities were then
selling for one hundred and five, a month later they brought
onehundred and seven and a half, and in October, they actually
brought one hundred and fifteen in London. The success
of speculation in government securities induced men to go into
other things, — into buying lands or buying more lands, into
building ships or starting manufacturing establishments,

1 The following table showing the at Philadelphia is compiled from the
prioss of securities in shillings and pence  Columbian Magasine for 1788, 1789 : —

1708 May | Juwn | Jury | Ave. | 8urr. | Oor. | Nov. | Dec.

N'Q'cdleuu
Continental
Certificates.
1788
New Loan
Cartifioates.
Continental
Certificates.

Man.| Arn,

4/9-8/
3/94/

4/-4/4
3/94/

4/6-8/
4/4/6

4/6-8/
4/4/0

4/6-8/
4/4/3

4/6-8/
4/-4/0

4/6-8/

4/-‘/6' 4/-4/4
4/-4/6

18/-8/4 2/8-3/2

6/-7/6
6/6-7/6

8/-10/
8/4-0/6

4/8-5/3
4/8-4/9

4/8-5/3| 8/3-0/
4/8-4/9(5/2-5/4

4/8-8/3/4/8-8/3
4/8-4/0(4/8-4/9

? The appreciation of national securi-

posals in Philadelphia or New York —
at the latter place under the direction
of the *‘ Cashier of the Office of Discount
and Deposit of the Bank of the United
Btates,"” see Report of the Board of Trus-
tees of the Sinking Fund, dated Phila-
delphia, February 25, 1793,
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into the organizing and carrying on of banks. In 1788,
there were only three banks in the country with a capital of
a little over twomillions ; by 1800 the number had increased to
twenty-eight, counting the national bank and all its branches
as one institution, and the total capital had increased to
twenty-one million dollars.

At New York and at Philadelphia, while he was occupying
the office of Secretary of the Treasury as well as before and
after that period, Alexander Hamilton was on friendly terms
and was even intimate with members of the first well-defined
group of speculators in our history. One of these was Robert
Morris, the prince of plungers; another was Alexander
Macomb ; a third was William Duer, — all of them foreign
born. The relations between Hamilton and Morris were
very close, while the latter represented Pennsylvania in the
Senate. Their unpublished correspondence contains many
references to financial transactions of one sort or another, in
which Hamilton ultimately seems to have lost as did so many
others.! One of the most interesting speculations of the time
was the purchase of ten townships on the southeastern shore
of the St. Lawrence. Among the associates in this venture
were Hamilton, his father-in-law, General Philip Schuyler,
Henry Knox, and Alexander Macomb. The last named
acted as “trustee.””? William Duer had been Secretary of
the old Treasury Board and had been taken over as Hamil-
ton’s assistant, or ““Vice-Secretary,” as he was sometimes
called. Duer’s speculative ventures will be presently noted
in detail ; at this place, it will only be pointed out that he

‘ 1 8ee Morris to Hamilton, November
18, 1789, in the *Hamilton Manu-
scripts.”

2 “Knox Papers,” xxii, fo. 58; xxiii,
fo. 47. In the *“Hamilton Manu-
scripts” is a letter from Schuyler, dated
January 29, 1792, informing Hamilton

that he had been asked to draft a bill
to prevent any more such sales as that
to Macomb, which possibly refers to the
“Ten Townships.” In 1791, G. Morris
was in London trying to sell this tract
of land, * Knox Papers,” xxviii, fo. 149.
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was the first “governor” of the Society for Establishing
Useful Manufactures at Paterson, New Jersey, which was
distinctly a Hamiltonian scheme.! There are entries in the
records and in letters connecting Hamilton’s name with the
sale of bank stock. It is not at all certain that these shares
belonged to Hamilton himself ; in some of these transactions
he seems to have been acting for Mrs. Hamilton’s sister
Angelica’s husband, J. B. Church. In August, 1792, William
Seton, the government agent at New York, wrote to Hamil-
ton that he had been an improvident steward with “your
Bank Stock,” having sold it at one hundred and thirty when
he might have realized four or five per cent more on it, if he
had only held it for a few days longer.? Qutside of his family,
Hamilton was circumspect, refusing point blank to give even
80 good a Federalist as Henry Lee information as to the prob-
able future operations of the Treasury Department. The
speculation in the certificates of bank stock troubled Hamil-
ton, because “a bubble connected with my operations is of
all the enemies I have to fear, in my judgment, the most
formidable.”” He let it be known that he thought the “ Stocks
are all too high” and at once received a letter from Rufus
King advising him to be careful as to speaking of the value

18ee Levi R. Trumbull's History
of Industrial Paterson, W. Nelson's
* Founding of Paterson as the Intended
Manufacturing Metropolisof the United
States” in New Jersey Historical
Society’s Proceedings, 2nd series,ix, 177.
In getting the historical setting for
this chapter, I have been greatly
aided by the perusal of two unpub-
lished papers by Dr. Joseph 8. Davis.
One of these has to do with early Ameri-
can ocorporations, the other with the
Paterson scheme. Hamilton, Knox,
Duer, Flint, and Macomb were all
interested in this venture.

2 This was probably stock in the
Bank of the United States because the
shares were $400 each and were selling

VOL. IV.—H

at 130, as appears from a pencilled note
at the bottom of Seton's letter of August
6, 1792. Probably in this case, as in
others, Hamilton was acting for some
one else, as it was then a common prac-
tice for treasury officials to transact
business, more or less connected with
the government, for their relatives and
friends.

Upon being charged with using his
official position for purposes of specu-
lation, Hamilton, to preserve his pro-
fessional honor, confessed to having
illicit relations with a certain Mrs.
Reynolds. See Hamilton's Observations
on Certasin Documents coniained sn . . .
“ The History of the United States for the
Year 1796 " (Philadelphia, 1797).
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of securities, because his utterance was used to depress
prices.!

William Duer was of good Enghsh stock.? After some
time spent in India, he resided at Antigua, where he had
inherited an estate. Coming to the continent before the out-~
break of the Revolutionary War, he took the radical side,
served in the army, was elected to Congress, and married
Katherine Alexander, daughter of the claimant of the Stirling
peerage, for which reason she was called Lady Kitty Duer.
Knox and Duer became financially intimate some time about
the year 1786, at least that is the first time that we find them

swapping cheques and promissory notes.* It was then, too,,

that Duer obtained a contract for furnishing supplies to the
United States forces in the western country. In 1791, they
embarked on what they expected would be a most proﬁtable
speculation. The idea was to purchase from one million’ to
four million acres of land in Maine, then a part of Massa-~
chusetts. Knox and Duer were to have the exclusive direc-
tion of the enterprise and those who “held Subordinate
Interests of the Purchases’ were to be bound by regulations

1 King's note is in the ‘Hamilton Barlow were acting in good faith, and
Manuscripts’; the reply, dated Au- sundry entries in Rowena Buell's
gust 17, 1791, is in C. R. King’s Cor- Rufus Putnam, pp. 110, 111, 116, add

respondence of Rufus King, i, 402.
3$Mrs. John K. Van Rensselaer's
New Yorkers of the XIX. Century, p. ix.
There is an article about Duer in the
Knickerbocker Magasine for 1852, oon-
taining information that cannot now
be found elsewhere. From a letter in
the ‘*“ Duer Manuscripts” (No. 188) in
January, 1789, Duer was negotiating
with the Spanish minister as to a settle-
ment on the western side of the Misais-
sippi. Archer B. Hulbert takes a
hostile view of Duer's western activi-
ties in his ‘Andrew Craigie and the
Bcioto Associates’ in American Anti-
quarian Sociotye Proceedings for 1913.
Letters in the “Duer Manuscripts®
seem to show that both Duer and

to this impresesion. In 1790, provisions
were 80 scanty that Putnam wrote that
it was impoesible to take a party of
Frenchmen across the mountains, until
the new crops should be harvested. For
a French view, see N. F. Jacquemart's
Le Nouveau Mississippi, ou les
d:lww Les Bords du Scioto (Paris,
1790).

3 January 29, 1790, Knox wrote to
Duer as to a note which he gave him in
September, 1789, for $2000 and had
received from him cancelled notes for
$1000 and $990. April 27, 1701, Duer
asks Knox to “lend him a check” for
$6000 until the following Saturday;
“Knox Papers,” xix, fo. 99; xxv, fo.
114; xxvi, fo. 103 ; xxviii, fo. 43, ete.



1791} DUER AND KNOX 99

which the directors might make at any time. They could
not sell their lands without first offering them to the directors
and the lands might be bought from the “Subordinates” at
any time at an agreed on price, which was not to exceed three
hundred per cent of the purchase money. In 1791, negotia-
tions with the Massachusetts authorities were begun. The
agents were instructed to lose no time and to employ counsel
if it were necessary. If the committee seemed indisposed to
sell 8o large a tract as two or three million acres “from a
jealousy of monopoly,” or for any other reason, “names may
be made Use of [to] obtain the whole Land we want by Dif-
ferent Applications varying in some Instances in order to
avoid Suspicion of Combination.” It might be necessary to
apply to the legislature directly in which case their agents
should secure “an Interest favorable to our Object,” which,
presumably, would be very necessary, as four million acres
well located would include very nearly all the cultivable land
in the District of Maine that was not already occupied.!
Duer and Knox had very slight personal resources, but they
had influential friends and at this time enjoyed credit with
the banks. There has come down to us an undated scrap of
paper which probably throws some light on their financial
hopes and modes of thought. The plan, so this memoran-
dum reads, was to sell a million acres more or less for a dollar
or 8o an acre. The deeds were to be given at once and the
lands put into the hands of the purchasers. Of the money
taken in, sixty per cent should be invested in United States
three per cent bonds, the par value of which would equal
the amount of money realized from the sale of the lands.
These bonds were to be placed in the hands of trustees. For
ten years the interest was to be paid to the purchaser as a
bonus for taking up the land. At the end of that time the

1 “ Knox Papers, " xxviii, fo. 81, 1232.
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bonds, principal and interest, were torevert to the proprietors.
If everything went well, Duer and Knox and their associates
would sell a million acres for a million dollars. They would
pay one hundred and fifty thousand dollars to the State and
to individuals and six hundred thousand more for the three
per cents, leaving a quarter of a million to be divided between
the associates. At the end of the ten year period, the asso-
ciates would come into possession of the three per cents which
by that time would probably be worth a good deal more than
the six hundred thousand dollars that they would cost. As
to the additional expenses, it appears that in 1792, Jackson
discovered that he and William Tudor were working against
one another and were running up the price of wild lands from
ten cents to twenty cents per acre. Thereupon Jackson gave
Tudor a note for one thousand guineas on condition that he
would stop bidding against him.! Ultimately, the Duer and
Knox associates secured pre8mption rights to three million
acres of land in the central part of Maine. For this they were
to pay twenty-one cents peracre,somethingdown, and therest
in instalments at six per cent interest * and there were other
expenses to be met, whenever the lands should be taken up
for actual settlement. The amount of money involved was
very large for two men who had nothing or next to nothing,
but Duer and Knox were not in the habit of borrowing
trouble. They even secured additional lands on Mount

Desert and the neighboring mainland,® agreeing to pay six

1 Knox Papers,” liii, fo. 166. They
ultimately agreed to pay 21 ocents per
acre for 2,830,453 acres and actually
paid $5000 down as ‘‘earnest,” ‘' Re-
port of the Committee for the Sale of
Eastern Lands . . . 1783-1795," nos.
xxiii and xxiv.

% In the end, Jackson was obliged to
appeal to the legislature for a release

. Trom the obligation to carry out his
- contract in its entirety. See Resolves

of the General Court o!lluCommu-
wealth of Maseachuselts, respecting the
Sauo! Eastern Lands (1803), pp. 2432,

" Knox Papers,” xxix, fo. 31, 35, 89,
76, ete. This purchase was mnda fmm
M. and Mme. de Gregoire; see G. E.
Street's Mount Desert, 133 note. The
western portion was confirmed to Bir
John Bernard, son of 8ir Francis some-
time governor of Massachusetts, towhom
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pence ha’penny per acre for them, the payments to extend
over two years.

-A great deal of money had been made in land speculations
in the Genesee Valley and in the upper Mohawk region. For
a time it seemed as if this success might be repeated in Maine.
Many French refugees were coming to America either singly
orin groups. Some of these were fugitives from the wrath of
the Parisian mob, others had been driven out of San Domingo
by the rebellious mulattoes or negroes, who, even then, were
more or less guided by Toussaint Louverture. Among the
refugees were Madame de la Val and Monsieur de la Roche.
They fell into the hands of Duer, probably with a view to set~
tling within the Scioto country, but he turned them and their
friends toward Mount Desert. He wrote to Knox that the
climate of Maine might not be so congenial as that of the
Scioto, but there were other superior advantages. For
the present, he thought that the change of the course of the
French immigration would better be kept a secret, but a suc-
cessful settlement on Mount Desert Island would give éclat
to the whole Maine speculation. Knox was also interested
in the settlement of a great tract on the coast between the
Penobscot and Kennebec rivers, which had come to Mrs.
Knox from her father. She and General Knox had bought
out the other c%o it and had also purchased several
islands in the neighborMg Penobscot Bay. The tract was
already partly occupied by squatters and it was only very
slowly and with a great deal of trouble that General Knox
was able to bring them to a realizing sense of the insufficiency
of their titles and of the necessity of paying money to him to
secure good ones.

Besides his various interests in Maine, the Mississippi

the whole island had been granted; see references, under date of August 27,
Barrington-Bernard Correspondence, 50, 1791, and on, in the * Knox Papers" to
86, 68, eto. There are a good many this French settlement in Maine.



102 HIGH FINANCE, 1789-1800 [Ca. IV

Valley and New York, Duer entered into an agreement with
Alexander Macomb for “making speculations in the Debt
of the United States.”! This document was dated Decem-
ber 29, 1791, and the association was to continue for twelve
months. Duer and Macomb took others into this “blind
pool”’ which was known at the time as the “Six Per Cent Club”’
and extended their operations to the manipulation of bank
stock and manufacturing shares. When this syndicate was
formed, the price of securities was rising rapidly. Rumor
had already pointed to Duer as being particularly engaged
in raising the price of the certificates and of the rights to
subscribe to the capital of the Bank of the United States;
but King wrote to Hamilton that Duer’s conduct “had been
as correct as any Buyer’s and seller’s could be.” Within
three months after the formation of the Six Per Cent Club,
Duer was finding it difficult to secure funds. It is said that
an ambitious zealot in the Treasury Department ? gave the
first stab to his credit by asserting that he was behind in
his accounts with the government to the extent of a hundred
thousand dollars or so. Duer was able to explain this away,
but he was soon paying five and six per cent a month for small
sums of money: ‘“Butchers, mechanics, old batchelors &
old maids, all lent him their cash.”* He was said to have
entered into negotiations for five million dollars. In March,
1792, Duer found it impossible to go on and his “stoppage”’
created great distress at New York, as there was scarcely a
capitalist who was not concerned with him. His friends

1 *“PDuer Manuscripts’’ in New York
Historical Bociety, nos. 245, 247.

% Something of the other side of this
matter is contained in a ‘' Report from
Committee of the House of Representa-
tives to whom was referred the petition
of Theodosius Fowler presented the 3rd
of February, 1801.” It appears from
this that Fowler and Duer were im-

plicated in what had been looked upon
as an overdraft in oonnection with
Duer’s contract to supply the army on
the frontier in the year 1791.

8 Letter of William L. Smith, Phila-

" delphia, March 24, 1792, to Gabriel

Manigault, “Jenkins Manuscripts,”
communicated to me by Professor
Ulrich B. Phillips.
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tried to tide him over, but it soon appeared that all his
marketable securities had been assigned for certain preferred
creditors. This meant that those who had loaned him small
sums of money at usurious rates were excluded from all hope
of repayment and they were indignant. Securities were
pressed for sale and money could not be obtained at any in-
terest. At one moment it was said that as high as one per
cent per day ! was tendered for funds and in vain, although
the best bonds and stocks were tendered as collateral security.
Hamilton now interfered by authorizing William Seton to
purchase public stocks to the amount of one hundred and
fifty thousand dollars. He bought bonds from no less than
eighty persons which no doubt did something toward restor-
ing confidence. It then appeared that the Six Per Cent Club
was deeply involved. Macomb had bought half a million
dollars worth of securities on which only part payment had
been made, he was liable for the difference in the price to the
holders. In the end the company paid only five per cent on
its obligations.? Duer was now in the city jail, where he was
physically safe from his creditors. He begged Macomb to
send him money which was ““essential to preserve the Peace
of the City, and to prevent the Industrious and Malignant
Efforts of our Enemies. . . . For Heavens, Sake, for your
own, if not for Friendship for me — Send this Sum.” He
would be personally responsible for the return of the money
within a fortnight. ““Do not, again, let the Bearer Return
without the only thing Needful — with this Aid all Violence
can be prevented ; without it it is absolutely Impossible.”

1 A letter from Elbridge Gerry, dated Hamilton, April 9 and 11, in ** Hamilton
Philadelphia, 19th March, 1792, in the Manuscripts’ at Washington; Duer to
“Wendell Papers.” Macomb, April 11, 1792, * Washburn

$8ve Honry Remsen to Jefferson, Autograph Collection,” fo. 43. Bee
April 11, 1792, in the “ Jefferson Manu- also Upham's Life of Timothy Pickering,
scripts,” Washington; Hamilton to {ii, 27.

Beton, April 4, 1792; and Seton to
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But Macomb who had come to New York with a fortune of
sixty thousand pounds sterling, like Duer, was at the end of
his resources.! '

The panic that followed on Duer’s downfall was of short
duration. By the autumn of 1792, speculation was again
proceeding with vigor. Of all the operations of the next few
years, none stands out more prominently than that connected
with the building of the City of Washington, partly because
the whole affair has somewhat the appearance of a miracle
and partly because it was so intimately connected with the
catastrophe of Robert Morris’s fortunes. In providing for
the establishment of a permanent seat of government, Con-
gress had no thought of expending any of the nation’s money.
Virginia had already voted one hundred and twenty thousand
dollars as an aid to the enterprise to which Maryland added
seventy-two thousand. With this money and such as might
be obtained from interested persons in the future, the Federal
City was to be built. Washington was authorized to select
the actual site, anywhere along the Potomac, between the
Eastern Branch and the Conogocheague, an affluent of the
main stream which joined it about seventy miles higher up,
and only about thirty miles south of the Pennsylvania line.
Washington viewed the whole tract ostentatiously, being
banqueted at various places, but already he had fixed upon
the territory near Alexandria, Virginia, the nearest town to
Mount Vernon. The site selected has been described as con-
sisting of two hills, separated by a morass, and there are
those who assert that a more salubrious situation might easily

1On April 12, 1792, one of Knox's
correspondents wrote to him from New
York: “No place was ever in such
a state of distress as this — Poor
Macomb stoped Yesterday — He is
gone beyond redemption, and must
begin the World again — This last

failure has involved everybody — It is
expected that before Saturday upwards
of Forty persons of considerable Note
will stop — God knows where it will
end! M™ Colden stoped Yesterday
and had process served on Her."
* Knox Papers,’ xxxi, fo. 38,
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have been picked out higher up the river. Washington was
undoubtedly influenced by the expectation that the new city
just below the falls of the Potomac would in no long time rival
Philadelphia, New York, and Baltimore as a centre of indus-
try and would become the continental mart for ocean borne
commerce, — would be, in short, the metropolis of the West-
ern World.! It would be at the changing place of ocean and
river borne commerce, for the Potomac was then looked upon
as one of the gateways of the Ohio Valley. At that time few
peoplein Virginia —and not many others anywhere—had any
other idea than that the easiest route to the rapidly growing
western country would be by the way of the Potomac or the
James. No one had then thought of the line of the Erie
Canal through central New York as the economic approach
to “The West.”

Having determined upon the general location of the Federal
District, Washington appointed commissioners to secure for
the United States whatever lands were needed between
Georgetown and the Eastern Branch. There was some dick-
ering and the President was finally obliged to use his per-
sonal influence. Ultimately all the holders of lands within
the chosen limits agreed to turn them over to the federal
authorities, who were to lay out the city. The original pro-
prietors were to contribute whatever land was needed for
streets, but were to be paid for whatever other lands should
be taken for public purposes at the rate of twenty-five pounds
per acre, and each was to receive back one-half of the lots

18e¢ Jonathan Elliot's Historical
Sketches of the Ton Miles Square (Wash-
ington, 1830), p. 320. The acts for

waas practically Washington’s home town ;
but the capital city was to be laid off on
the Maryland side of the river. It is

establishing the seat of government are
chapter xxviii of the acts of the second
seasion of the First Congress and chapter
xvii of the third session. The latter ex-
tended the limit of choice to include the
town of Alexandria, in Virginia, which

only by a stretch of the imagination
that these acts can be construed as giving
authority to lay out a city and to under-
take expenditures that would inevitably
run up to over a million dollars.
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laid out on his land in absolute possession, — which he could
retain or sell as he pleased. If everything went well each one
of these lots,would be worth as much as the original cornfield.
In this planning of the new city, Washington was greatly
helped by Jefferson, who had a good deal of artistic sense and
had distinct memories of many foreign towns. Some of his
suggestions were not practical, but his sketch of the new city
with the President’s House at one end of a public walk and
the capitol at the other was the origin of one of the distinctive
features of the Federal City.! For a paid assistant, Wash-
ington picked out Major Pierre Charles L’Enfant,? who pos-
sessed original genius together with some of the qualities that
often go with it, and intrusted the actual survey to Andrew
Ellicott. L’Enfant soon evolved the scheme upon which
the City of Washington was actually built with some few
changes,® mainly in the direction of restricting the size of pub-

1 This is reproduced in W. B. Bryan's
History of the National Capital, i, 130.
The original plan is in the * Jefferson
Papers’ at Washington, Series 4, vol.
i, 121. An instance of Washington’s
reliance on Jefferson, occurred on June
30, 1793, when objections were raised to
Thornton's plan of the capitol on the
ground of practicability, time, and
expense. Washington desired Jefferson
to hear both sides and ‘‘report your
opinion on the case and the plan which
ought to be executed. . . . Your own
knowledge of this and judgment will
decide.” BSomewhat differently phrased,
this letter appears in Glenn Brown's
History of the United Stales Capitol, i, 10.

! For interesting memorials about
L’Enfant, see Records of the Colum-
bia Historical SBociety, ii, 26-157; this
includes articles by John Stewart, W. B.
Bryan, and J. D. Morgan. For Ellicott,
see C. Van C. Mathews's Andrew Ellicott,
His Life and Letters.

3 Glenn Brown thinks that L'Enfant
was influenced by a plan for rebuilding
the burned portion of London that was
drawn by 8ir Christopher Wren, but
not used at that time. He also points

out that a combination of radial and
right angular streets was actually in
existence at Anpapolis. See his article
in Columbia Historical Society's Rec-
ords, vi, 1.

Following is L'Enfant’s own descrip-
tion of the method which he pursued:
* Having first determined some principal
point, to which I wished making the rest
subordinate, I next made the distribu-
tion regular with streets at right angles,
north-south and east-west. But after-

with the general regularity
a greater variety of pleasant
seats and-prospects, . . . but principally
to connect each part of the city with
more efficacy by, if I may so express,
making the real distance less from place
to place.” (W. Bogart Bryan's History
of the National Capital,i, 148). He wrote
to Washington that he ‘ could discover
no one [site] so advantageously to greet
the congreesional building as is that on
the west end of Jenkins heights which
stand as a pedestal waiting for a mon-
ument, and I am confident, were all the
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lic reservations. The plan may be described as following the
lines of a gridiron, like the streets of Philadelphia, with the
stiffness relieved by a series of broad radiating avenues, with
sumptuous open circles at important intersections, — a series
of cartwheels superimposed on a checker-board. Today
after a century and a quarter of existence, Washington is the
most attractively planned city in the world, —whose qualities
are both accentuated and marred by sudden transitions from
palace to hovel, from the abode of aristocracy to that of the
negro. That the city exists at all is due very largely to the
financial genius of Robert Morris and his associates, all of
whom passed their declining years in penury.

Robert Morris was brought from England by his father in
his early boyhood.! In youth, he showed remarkable busi-
ness acumen and was taken by his employer, Thomas Willing
of Philadelphia, into the firm of which he was the head.
Morris’s part in the Revolution is well known. During and
after the Revolutionary War he engaged in most profitable
transactions with the Farmers General of France and with
other foreigners and became interested in promoting the
settlement of wilderness lands. He acquired great tracts in
central and western New York and sold them for a million or
more than they had cost him. This success impelled him to
buy wild lands in all directions: in North Carolina, Ken-
tucky, the Northwest Territory, Georgia, and Pennsylvania,
and he retained some of his early holdings in New York. At
an evil hour for himself, Morris listened to the urgings of
James Greenleaf and became interested in building Washing-
ton City ? as the national capital was known after 1791.

wood cleared from the ground no sit-
uation could stand in competition with
this.”” Columbia Historical Society's
Records, ii, 35.

1 Charles Henry Hart has brief
articles on Robert Morris and his wife

in Pennsylvania Magasine of History, i,
333; ii, 157.

3 On September 9, 1791, the Com-
missioners wrote to Major L’Enfant
that they had agreed to call the federal
district the Territory of Columbia and
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When L’Enfant had evolved the main features of his
scheme and Ellicott had made progress in running the lines
of the streets and squares, the commissioners advertised the
first sale of building lots. Their hopes were great. They
seem to have expected an influx of buyers, but the results
were not at all commensurate with their anticipations. They
offered to sell house lots on easy terms, the condition being
that dwellings of a standard size and construction should be
erected on a certain portion of each purchase within a limited
time, and the period of payment was prolonged. Never-
theless the sales were disappointing and the amount of money
taken in far below what the commissioners required. It was
in these early years of discouragement that James Greenleaf !
of Boston and New York came forward with a proposition for
the purchase of lots by the thousand. This remarkable man
was American consul at Amsterdam and was brother-in-law
of Noah Webster, the lexicographer. Greenleaf had a Dutch
wife and expected to procure the necessary funds for this
enterprise through his friends and his wife’s connections in
Holland. He was already associated with Robert Morris
and John Nicholson ? of Pennsylvania in the North American
Land Company, which had been formed to take over some
of Robert Morris’s promotions. The three now joined in a
syndicate to carry through the Washington venture. Green-
leaf had contracted for three thousand lots. The syndicate
now doubled this amount, offering to pay an average price of

the capital, the City of Washington.
Another early mention of these names

ators.” Mr. Clark has a suosinet account
of James Greenleaf in Columbia Histori-

occurs in a letter from Daniel Carroll of
Georgetown, dated December 12, 1791,
in * Madison Manuscripts,” xviii, 90.
18ee Allen C. Clark's Greenleaf and
Law in the Pederal City (Washington,
D. C,, 1901) ; W. B. Bryan's History of
the National Capital (New York, 1914),
vol. i, ch. ix, “ The Early Realty Oper-

cal Society’s Records, v, 212.

3 Nicholson had been ocomptroller
general of Pennsylvania and was said
to have held grants of one-seventh of
the surface of that commonwealth.
Bes Columbia Historical BSociety'’s
Records, vi, 217.
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eighty dollars per lot. The six thousand taken by the syndi-
cate comprised more than one-half of the total number owned
by the government. In addition the associates secured the
option on twelve hundred and thirty-four other lots owned by
private proprietors.! In all Morris and his partners agreed
to pay to the Commissioners of the national city nearly half
a million dollars. They actually paid over one hundred
thousand as against less than that sum paid and promised by
all other purchasers put together up to 1796. In that year
the Commissioners reported to Congress that their total
resources were something over three-quarters of a million?
including the sums which the syndicate had contracted to pay
but had not yet paid and the one hundred and ninety-two
thousand that Virginia and Maryland had appropriated to
the carrying out of the enterprise.

Morris, Greenleaf, and Nicholson had gone into this specu-
lation as they had into many others in perfectly good faith.
The country was growing rapidly, European capital was
seeking investment in America, and the future seemed to
every one to be full of promise. They had calculated with-
out taking into account the tremendous social and financial
convulsions that were to overtake Europe and Great Britain
during the next few years following on the French Revolu-
tion. And who can blame them? What statesman or man
of business in America, or anywhere indeed, in 1792 foresaw,
or could foresee, what the next few years were to bring forth?
Instead of flowing into Washington City to pay for house lots

1W. B. Bryan's Hislory of the Na- propriation of $200,000 for public
. buildings, but only one-half that sum
3 8ee a report of the Commissioners was voted because Northern Congrees-
of the Federal City in 1706 (* Papersof men thought that Virginia and Mary-
the House of Representatives,” No. 4, land ought to supply the money and
in Library of Congress). Somewhat also objected to the style of buildings
different figures are in American Siate that were being put up in the Federal
Papers, Miscellaneous, 1, 136. In 1798, City.
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Dutch gold went to finance the French revolutionary armies.!
Excepting a few French refugees and a few fugitives from
Ireland, hardly any colonists came to America in thefollowing
decade. There were no immigrants to settle on the domains
of the North American Land Company in Georgia, North
- Carolina, or elsewhere ; to buy the millions of acres that Knox
and Duer had acquired in Maine ; or to occupy the newly sur-
veyed house lots of Washington City. The peasants, who in
other times would have thronged the decks of emigrant ships
bound for the New World, now instead, turned their faces
away, and marched to unknown graves on battlefields asso-
ciated with the names of Napoleon, Wellington, Massena,
Soult, and the rest, or fought the guns of the ships at Camper-
down, at Aboukir, and at Trafalgar.

At Philadelphia there were many men of large means; in
the front rank was William Bingham. He was influential
politically, succeeding Morris as Senator from Pennsylvania
and was director in the Bank of the United States of which
his father-in-law, Thomas Willing, was president. After
Duer’s failure, Knox induced him to take over Duer’s share
in the two million acre purchase in Maine, and, as a part of
the price of letting him in to the “ deal,” induced him to agree
to pay the sums that Knox still owed on the contract. By
1795, Bingham was beginning to feel the financial pressure of
the times. At this moment Alexander Baring came to the
rescue.? He was in America as agent for his father, Sir

1Dr. H. T. Colenbrander tells us
that one hundred million guilders
(American Historical Review, xix, 619)
went from Holland to France as the
price of liberty and equality. See also
Ford's Writings of J. Q. Adams, i, 319,
329 ; John Marshall reported the amount
at forty to sixty million dollars or one
hundred to one hundred and fifty million
florins.

? Alexander Baring was the founder

of the great banking house of Bariu
Brothers of London. He was a

fast friend of the United States. It
was he who financed the Louisiana
Purchase and as Lord Ashburton
negotiated the treaty of 1842. For
half a century and more, the
received income from the lands in
Maine. The “Heirs of William Bing-
ham' even now have an office at Bar
Harbor, Maine.
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Francis Baring, and for other English capitalists. He made
his headquarters at Bingham’s house and in a year or two
married: his eldest daughter, the younger becoming the wife
of his younger brother. Alexander Baring paid a quarter of
a million dollars and loaned Knox fifty thousand in addition.
Had it not been for this help, both Bingham and Knox would
have been unable to meet their obligations in 1796. The
former’s letters to his partner are filled with accounts of the
distress at Philadelphia. The immense speculations in lands
and in the China trade had exhausted the resources of the
banks and money was at a premium of two per cent a month
and remained at about that rate for three years. Bingham
had not eight thousand dollars free capital at his disposal;
but some of his friends hearing that he was about to receive
one hundred thousand guineas from Mr. Baring had applied
to him for temporary loans which he had been obliged to
make to save his credit. Even Philadelphia city lots were
unsalable. A few months later in April, 1797, Edward
Shippen,! also writing from Philadelphia, declared that the
spirit of enterprise had lately stalked with such gigantic
strides as to infatuate all people, and there is by no means
“such Confidence in men of reputed fortunes and prudence
as used to exist.”

Of the reputed rich men who were no longer to be so re-
garded, Robert Morris was undoubtedly the first in Shippen’s
mind. Morris, Nicholson, and Greenleaf had struggled
strenuously to secure funds, but everything had gone against
them. Possibly as one means of bolstering up his fallen

' Bingham's letters are in the * Knox
Manuscripts.” Shippen’s letter is in
Pennsylvania Magasine of History,
xxvi, 228. In 1797, Duer was again in
trouble “owing to An Unfortunate
Connection with J. Greenleaf'’ and im-
plored Knox to come to New York,
socretly and at once, to * conoert Ar-

rangementa for securing the little Wreck
of what may remain for my Wife's
Dower &c from Destruction’ ; * Knox
Manuscripts,’’ no. 40, fo. 66. There
are several references to the bankrupt-
cies of this later time in the Writings of
Jeflerson (Ford), vii, 73, 127, 133, 188,
314.
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credit, in 1795 Morris had begun the erection of a house on a
lot that occupied a whole square, the house in which he for-
merly dwelt being then occupied by the President of the
United States. L’Enfant had been employed to draw the
plans and to oversee the construction. After three years’
time and the expenditure of much money, or possibly only
promissory notes, the roof was not on. The unfinished house
and lot were sold at auction in December, 1797, for forty-six
thousand dollars, “ whereas,” according to Bingham,  the Lot
alone would have Sold for nearly double the Amount twelve
months ago.” It was the horrid usury of the times, Morris
informed Hamilton, that made it impossible to pay what he
owed, adding that he had frequently been without what was
necessary to buy his daily food. Morris retired to a country
house and fortified himself there, holding out for months
against creditors, collectors, and constables. Nicholson did
the same in another house not far away. Greenleaf pursued
a different course and sought refuge in the poor debtors’
prison on Prune Street in the city, where the others joined
him in 1798. Greenleaf was released in that year, having
been declared a bankrupt ; and Nicholson died in jail in 1800.
Morris remained in confinement until August, 1801, when
some arrangements having been made as to an annuity for
his wife, he was declared a bankrupt and regained his liberty.
Republics are proverbially ungrateful ; but, considering Rob-
ert Morris’s services to the United States, it should never
have been possible for him to write the following sentences,!

1 Robert Morris's * Private Letter
Book' in Library of Congress, iii, 28.
Long quotations from these letters are
given in Clark’s Greenleaf and Law in
the Federal City, pp. 30-34, and in
Oberholtser's Robert Morris, Patriot and
Financier, 343. Sumner takes a rather
unfriendly view of Morris in his Finan-
cler and the Finances of the American

Revolution. Morris's aoccounts as Fin-
ancier were not settled until 1790;
see Michael Nourse in The Bankers'
Magazine, new series, ix, 577. William
B. Wood, the actor-manager, met
Morris in the yard of the Prune Street
gaol where Gouverneur Morris dined
with him. See Wood's Personal Rec-
ollections of the Stage, 3642, and Diary
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no matter what his short-comings. They occur in a letter
to Nicholson who had asked when the selling of their property
would cease. “I answer,” wrote Morris, ‘“that they will
havedone . . . afteritisall sold and gone. . . . By heaven
there is no bearing with these things, I believe I shall go mad,
every day brings forward scenes and troubles almost unsup-
portable and they seem to accumulate so that at last they
will like a torrent carry everything before them. God help
us, for men will not.”

of Gouserneur Morris, ii, 378, etc. O. After his releass from the debtors’
Turner’s Pioneer History of the Holland prison, Morris and his wife lived on
Purchase and his Phelps and Gorham's $1500 a year that was paid to them
Purchas¢ contain much useful matter by the Holland Land Company as the
on the New York land speculations; price of Mrs. Morria's assignment of
and there are some curious entries dower.

as to Robert Morris in Boogher's
Miscellaneous Americana, 51.

VOL. IV. —1
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NOTE

Office Holding and Personal Business. — As was several times
noted in the third volume of the present work, office holding in the
eighteenth century was not looked upon as separating a man from
ordinary business pursuits. Members of Parliament were usually
men of means and had to be, as they received no compensation for
their services in that body. Contractors for public service were often-
times members of that Parliament until the century was nearing its
close, and officials who had the handling of public money were quite in
the habit of diverting interest on the balances in their hands into their
own pockets. Moreover, it was not customary to settle accounts
every month or every year. Sometimes, where there was a dispute
as to an item, a large sum of public money remained in private hands
for many years. So it was in America. Timothy Pickering’s ac-
counts as Quartermaster General of the Revolutionary armies were
still unsettled in 1797.! It seems to have been customary in those
days to credit the Heads of Departments with considerable sums of
money for paying expenses arising within their Department, thus we
find Pickering reporting to President Adams that money which had
been apportioned to Edmund Randolph as Secretary of State for pay-
ment of diplomatic expenses had not been remitted to London when
he, Pickering, took possession of the Secretary of State’s office.?
James McHenry, after he resigned from the Department of War,
found himself seriously indebted to the government, —owing to
carelessness in book-keeping in the Department.* One of the most
curious examples of the blending of public and private interests
occurred as to the purchase of wine for President Washington in 1790.
The business was confided to Jefferson, who was a connoisseur. He
turned it over to William Short, Chargé of the United States at
Paris. Washington had gone off to Mt. Vernon without leaving funds
for the wine, and Jefferson had none. The United States had a
balance in Holland. He told Short to draw on that for payment,
assuring him that bills of exchange would be sent to cover all costs of
the transaction.¢

! Pickering Manuscripts, vi, fo. 237. date of Philadelphia, September 85,
In 1802, Gallatin reported that a suit 1798.
was then pending against Randolph for 8 Steiner’'s Life and Correspondence of

a deficit of $51,000, id., i, 757. James McHenry, 512.
1 “John Adams Manuscripts' under ¢ Writings of Jeflerson, v, 243.
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Other instances of somewhat different commingling of private and
official interests were the pecuniary dealings between government
officials. Thus we find James Monroe, Senator from Virginia, asking
the Secretary of War for a loan of six or seven hundred dollars for a
few months, — which Knox politely declined. In the summer of
1789, when the clerks were unusually straitened for funds, Isaac
Sherman, one of the employees in the Treasury and son of the re-
doubtable Roger, borrowed one hundred and fifty dollars from
Alexander Hamilton which he did not repay until January, 1792.
Another and more interesting loan was one that Hamilton made to
Washington in February, 1793, of two thousand dollars, which was
repaid forty days later, on March 11.! Personal influence was also
sometimes asked and used, as in August, 1794, when Senator Bingham
of Pennsylvania requested Knox to bring forward his business at the
“ Council,” if he could without showing too much friendliness,
assuring him that Col. Hamilton will do everything in his power to
‘ effectuate this Business.” Still another example is that of John
Adams and the loans negotiated in the Netherlands. As the loan was
filling slowly, Adams to inspire confidence subscribed for a consider-
able sum in his own name.! In 1803, Bird, Savage, and Bird of London
became insolvent. At the moment they had in their hands funds
arising from the redemption of United States loans in Holland which
should have gone to Adams. Eventuslly the money was repaid, but
the last instalment was not received until after the death of John
Adams, twenty-three years later.

! Pennsyloania Magasine of History, 8 Writings of J. Q. Adams (Ford), iii,
xxix, 388. 13 note.



CHAPTER V
AMERICAN FOREIGN POLICY

THE promulgation of the Neutrality Proclamation on
April 22, 1793, gave the signal for America’s withdrawal
from Old World politics. No event in Washington’s adminis-
tration aroused more interest, few of the deeds that are
associated with his name had more lasting consequences, and
not one of them demanded greater courage or betokened more
thoughtfulness and foresight. In the first quarter-century
of our national history, the fate of America was bound up
with that of Europe to an extent that nowadays seems
almost incredible. The War for Independence had freed
America from the yoke of British misrule. In the minds of
European chancelleries, it had done nothing more ; the newly
enfranchised States belonged to the Concert of Nations after
1783 fully as much as the English colonies had belonged to
it before Lexington and Bunker Hill. Washington, Jeffer-
son, Hamilton, John Adams, and those who worked with
them, liberated the United States from this European thral-
dom, — for a century, the American people lived a life apart
from the rest of the world.

In 1789, the external outlook was as unpleasing as was the
internal. Great Britain had not obeyed the Treaty of Paris
of 1783, except as it suited her interest so to do. She had
given Americans important trade privileges in the ports of
Great Britain, but had closed the British West Indies to
American vessels and had refused to enter into negotiations
for a commercial treaty. The French Revolution was in full

116
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sweep, the revolutionists were looking to America for sym-
pathy and were certain to ask for more than sympathy
whenever the inevitable war with Britain should begin. The
Spaniards, too, had no thought of complying with the settle-
ment of 1783, so far as it restricted their American territory
and imposed obligations upon them. This led to serious un-
easiness among the settlers of the western country, for they
could only market the bulkier produce of their farms by way
of the Mississippi River. English and Scottish money-
lenders, merchants, traders, and factors were to be found in
every commercial centre. British consuls were stationed at
New York and Philadelphia,and official emissaries of one sort
or another came to spy out the land. These all consorted
with the more conservative elements in the population.
They imbibed the pessimism of their hosts and reported to
their employers that the American States were helpless, that
the American people was divided by discordant political
sentiments, and that the country was ripe, or nearly so, for the
retstablishment of monarchy or aristocracy. The Ameri-
cans seemed to be relapsing into the colonial condition from
sheer inability to keep out of it.! The ministers at Downing
Street, therefore, paid no attention to John Adams’s groping
for a commercial treaty, or to his inquiries as to violations
of the Treaty of 1783 except to make inconvenient assertions
as to the weakness of the American government. So hopeless
did the outlook in London seem that Adams announced hisin-
tention of returning to America at the end of his term of office.?

t In 1789, Vermont was as sovereign
snd independent as Massachusetts or
South Carclina before the ratification
of the fedecal Constitution. Her trade

either. It was under theee circum-
stances that Vermont joined the United
States in 1791, as the fourteenth state.
See 8. F. Bemis's introductory remarks
to documents found by him in London
and printed in American Historical Re-
wew, xxi, 547, and see aleo Canadian
Archives, 1889, pp. 53-58; 1890, p. 210.

3 Adams to Jay, January 24, 1787
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The French contempt for America is shown in the Con-
sular Convention of 1788, which conferred upon French
officials in the United States powers not dissimilar to those
given to our own consuls in more recent days in China and
Siam.! Even Jefferson was unable to secure any important
concessions at Paris. The Spanish representative in the
United States, Don Diego Gardoqui, like the French and
British agents, felt to the full the helplessness and ineffi-
ciency of the government of the Confederation. He reported
likewise these impressions to his employers in Spain, with the
result that they showed no desire to give satisfaction to the
United States. Such were the relations of the United States
to foreign powers when Washington took the oath of office
on April 30, 1789.

A few days later (May 5, 1789) a Spanish ship let go her
anchor in the quiet waters of Friendly Cove, an inlet of
Nootka Sound, on the western coast of Vancouver Island.
This port had been a convenient rendezvous for American and
British vessels engaged in the fur-trade of the Northwest
Coast. Before long several of these vessels appeared. The
Spaniards seized two of the British ships and carried them
with their crews to Mexico. In January, 1790, news of this
affair reached London. Soon afterward came a demand

(D"%l:)maﬁc Correspondence, 1788-1789,
v, 164).

t An example of French high-handed-
nees is seen in the case of Captain Joseph
Marie Anne Ferrier of the French brig
David, who was placed in irons by the
French vice-consul at Norfolk for some
alleged infringement of French regula-
tions. The only thing that saved him
from being sent to Nants for trial was
the appearance of a Virginia sheriff with
a writ for his arrest as a debtor. He was
liberated on bail by the resident magis-
trate and the French consul could get no
satisfaction from John Jay, who was
then in charge of foreign affairs, or from

Governor Randolph of Virginia. Bee
Diplomatic Correspondence, 1788-1789,
i, 353-381. For the Consular Conven-
tion of 1788, see tdid., i; Wrilings of
Jeflerson (Ford), i, 117 and Trescott's
Diplomatic History of ﬂu Administra-
tions of Washington and Adams, 31.
Mr. 8. E. Morison oopied figures from
Tableau Général des Consulals susvant
leur Formation Actuelle, et les Change-
ments Proposés (Paris, 1792), from which
it appears that the cost of the French
consular service in the United States
was greater than that in any European
ocountry and was exoceeded only by that
of the Levant and the Barbary coast.
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from Spain that the British authorities should give the
strictest orders prohibiting ships of their nation from resort-
ing to Nootka Sound and its neighborhood. The govern-
ment at London refused to enter upon any discussion of the
matter until satisfaction should have been made for a pro-
ceeding so injurious to Great Britain.! Note and reply
followed as rapidly as the distance between London and
Madrid and Spanish dignity permitted. On the night of
May 4th, or the morning of the 5th (1790), residents of Lon-
don and other seacoast towns were ‘“suddenly surprised by a
hot press, which like an explosion swept between 3 & 4000
seamen”’ from the houses on the shore and the merchantmen
at anchor in the harbor to the decks of British ships-of-war.
Before long thirty-five ships of the line with accompanying
frigates were cruising off Cape St. Vincent. The Spaniards
replied as well as they could, but they could do little to curb
the insolence of the British seamen. Orders were sent to
British commanders in various parts of the world to prepare
to attack the nearest Spanish possession. Francisco de
Miranda, a mysterious Spanish-American character, was
even then striving to induce the British government to aid
him in revolutionizing Spanish America.? He now found
favor ; many conferences and meetings were held with him,
and some money was furnished to him as a sort of revolu-
tionary retainer. Sir Guy Carleton, now Lord Dorchester
and Governor General of Canada, was on the point of leaving

1 The details of this controversy are
sot forth at length from the original
sources in W. R. Manning's * Nootka
Bound Controversy' in the Reports of
the American Historical Association for
1004, pp. 279-478. A contemporaneous
and exceedingly useful publication is
Official Papers Relative to the Dispute
between the Courts of Great Brilain and
Spain, . . . on the subject of ...
Nootka Sound, London (1790].

28ee William 8. Robertson’s Pran-
cisco de Miranda and the Revolutionis-
ing of Spanish America.

There is an interesting letter from
Miranda to Pitt in the documents
printed in the American Historical Re-
view under the title ‘' English Policy
toward Ameriea in 1790-1791°" (vii, 708-
735; viii, 78-86; the Miranda letter is
in the earlier volume, p. 711).
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Quebec for a visit to England. -He was directed to remain in
Canada, do what he could to strengthen his military forces,
and makefriendly overtures to the new American government.

The important bearing that this friction between Great
Britain and Spain over the Nootka Sound affair might have
on Anglo-American relations was fully recognized by both the
American and British governments. Pitt and his colleagues
realized that they must yield to American desires, send a
minister to Philadelphia, make a commercial treaty, and
hand over the Northwestern posts. The agent chosen by
Lord Dorchester to make friendly overtures at Philadelphia
was Major George Beckwith.! On his arrival at Philadel-
phia in July, 1790, he conferred with Hamilton, whom he had
previously known ; but the conversations were carefully re-
ported to the President, and Jefferson was present at the
later ones. Beckwith suggested that the United States
would probably take part with Great Britain rather than
with Spain. The Secretary of the Treasury in return gave
the Englishmen to understand that while the United States
had no engagement with Spain and, indeed, had some matters
to adjust with her, the Americans would dislike a British
occupation of New Orleans. This was about all that Beck-
with got from Hamilton and Jefferson and about all that
Hamilton and Jefferson got from him ; but, out of doors, it
was supposed that things had gone a good deal farther. In
the spring of 1791, it was reported that the Indians were
receiving ammunition from the British. Thereupon, Wash-
ington asked Adams and the three Secretaries to confer to-

1 Beckwith went up rapidly in the
military scale, being termed * Major,”
‘ Lieutenant Colonel,” and * Colonel"
during these conferences. During the
French Wars, he rose to the rank of
** Lieutenant General," having command
of all the British forces in the Leeser
Antilles, In 1809, he was created

Knight of the Bath on account of his
oconquest of Martinique. As to his
doings at Philadelphia, see Canadian
Archives, 1890, pp. xxxvi-xlii, 121 and
fol.; Writings of Jefferson (Ford), i, 172,
173; J. C. Hamilton's Works of Alez-
ander Hamilton, iv, 30-34.
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gether as to whether some kind of representation might not
be made to Lord Dorchester through Beckwith. On the
evening of April 11, happening to be at Knox’s house, Beck-
with hinted that the assertions might be unfounded because
the British government had a system of managing the Indians
by distributing presents and goods.!

William Stephens Smith, John Adams’s son-in-law, was in
England in the spring of 1791. He was politely entertained
by Lord Grenville and, returning to Philadelphia, tried to
convince the government of the friendly disposition of the
British. Robert Morris, who was at this time in the Senate,
was in confidential communication with Patrick Colquhoun,
a Glasgow merchant, who acted as go-between for the British
government. Through this channel, Morris had been as-
sured that a British minister would be sent to Philadelphia,
and he had been asked to state his ideas as to the commercial
relations between the two countries. It was in one of his
letters that Colquhoun hazarded the supposition that ‘“the
President and Mr. Secretary Hamilton are among the number
who will feel satisfaction” ? at the settlement of difficulties
between Great Britain and the United States.

1 “Memorandum of a conversation
which passed between the subecriber
and L3, Colonel Beckwith who seems
charged with some fact of an informal
political commission by Lord Dorches-
ter,” April 11, 1791, in * Knox Papers,”’
xxviii, 23. Bockmth and Knox had
become intimate, the former believing
that the promotion of * the benign pur-
poses of peace’’ could not be better con-
cduded “than by a little eating and
drinking.” Major General Maunsell,
an officer in the British army, on Octo-
ber 20, 1791, handed to Knox—whom
he seems to have known — an
paper to the effect that Mr. Pitt had
authorised him to declare that Great
Britain was anxious to establish and
preserve the strictest amity and friend-
ship with the United States. Hoe,

Maunsell, was not diplomatically em-
ployed; but he hoped that the United
States would be satisfied of the friendly
disposition of the Court of London, idid.,
xxix, 153.

18ce The Manuscripls of J. B.
Portescue, Esqg., preserved at Dropmore,
ii, 145, 157, 197, 228, 263. Theee
volumes are included in the Reports
of the Royal Historical Manuscripts
Commission and are often cited as Drop-
more Manuscripts. They form the basis
of Ephraim D. Adams's Influence of
Grenville on Pitt's Foreign Policy, 1787~
1798 (Washington, 1904). It appears
that Phyn and Ellis, London merchants
engaged in the Canadian trade, in 1791,
were advised to secure their property at
Niagara and Detroit, because those post
were to be delivered to the United States.
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While the negotiations were proceeding between Great
Britain and Spain, Jefferson inquired of the President as to
the policy of the United States in case the British should ask
permission to march a military force through the western
country toward Louisiana and Florida; and what should be
done in case the British passed through American territories
without asking permission or in defiance of the expressed
wishes of the United States government. Washington,
thereupon (August 27, 1790), requested the Vice-President,
the Chief Justice, and the three Heads of Departments to
give their written opinions. Their replies were promptly
returned with the exception of Hamilton’s, which was delayed
for a couple of weeks, owing to the pressure of other business.
They all held much the same tone.! On one point, they were
in absolute accord : the United States should keep out of war
as long as possible, neutrality as between European comba-
tants was clearly the policy of the new nation. Jefferson also
tried to utilize the temporary embroilment of Spain with
Great Britain to settle the disputes that had existed ever
since 1783 between the United States government and the
Court of Madrid ; but it took so long to communicate with
William Carmichael, the United States representative in
Spain, that nothing was accomplished.?

For some months, even for more than a year, the harmoni-
ous relations between the United States and Great Britain
continued. Then everything changed and the old friction
and policy of do nothing returned. In their helplessness, the
Spaniards had applied to France for aid under the terms of
the treaty of many years ago, known as the Family Com-
pact, by which either branch of the Bourbon family was
obliged to go to the assistance of any other member who

! Worthington C. Ford's The United % American State Papers, Foreign

States and Spain in 1790 (Brooklyn, Relations, i, 130, 131; Writings of Jeffer-
1890). son (Ford), v, 407, 408,
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asked for aid. As things were at Paris, this demand was
necessarily submitted to the National Assembly and much
discussion ensued.! In the end it was voted to place a great
French fleet in commission and to inform the Spanish govern-
ment that it would be well to negotiate a new treaty obliging
either nation to go to the aid of the other, when unjustly
attacked. Forty-five French battleships ? would have been
a potent addition to Spanish armadas, but the suggestion
that treaties and alliances were national affairs frightened
the Spaniards. They had been given ten days in which to
make up their minds whether they would accept the British
terms or not. They needed only five to consent to every-
thing that was asked of them. The Nootka Treaty was
signed on October 28, 1790. The pressure on both Spaniards
and Englishmen relaxed and the international horizon of
the United States became even more clouded than it had
been in 1789.

One of Washington’s first acts as President was to ask
Gouverneur Morris, who was then in France on private
business, to-cross the Channel and find out why the British
government refused to carry out the provisions of the Treaty
of Peace.? Morris reached London in March, 1790, but the

of * The Society of Ship-Owners of Great

1The “Report of the Diplomatio
Britain'' in 1807. This is said to have

Committee on the Family Compact

. sddressed to the National As-
nmbly" by M. Mirabeau and the ‘' De-
earee of the National Assembly of France,
on the Family Compact'’ are in Official
Papers relative lo . . . Nootka Sound.

3 Benjamin Bnlcy to Christopher
Champlin, L'Orient, September 10,
1790, in Commerce of Rhode Island, ii,
421 (Massachusetts Historical S8ociety’s
Collections, vol. 70).

3 On the condition of trade between
the United Btates and the British Em-
pire in this period, see Collection of
Interesting and Imporiant Reports and
Papers on the Nanigation and Trade of
Grest Britain . . . printed by order

been edited by Nathaniel Atcheson.
The second document in this Collection
is * The Report of the Lords of the Com-
mittee of the Privy Council of January
28, 1791." Worthington Ford found a
oopy of this in the State Department at
Washington and printed it in 1888 as
Report of a Commsttee of the Lords of the
Privsy Council on the Trade of Great
Britain with the United States. A useful
ocompendious manual is W. W. Bates's
American Nangation (Boston, 1902).
A comparative statement of the duties
paid in British ports on goods imported
in ‘ American, Foreign, and British*
ships since January 5, 1798, so far as
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British ministers would not talk freely with him because they
thought he was too familiar with Luzerne, the French ambas-
sador at London, and also with Mr. Charles James Fox.!
In one of his conversations with the British foreign minister,
Morris observed that the press gangs had “ entered American
vessels with as little ceremony as those belonging to Britain.”
He also hinted that if the greatest care were not used, ship
captains, on returning home, “will excite much heat in
America, ‘and . . . will perhaps occasion very disagreeable
events.””’ He suggested that certificates of citizenship might
be issued to American seamen for their protection? The
British government approved of this idea, but nothing was
done. The net result of the Nootka Sound controversy was
to lay down the doctrine that neutrality was the best policy
for the United States and to add impressment of American
seamen tothegrievances already existingagainst Great Britain.

Meantime, in America, increased irritation against the
British had been aroused by the constantly growing trouble
with the Indians of the Northwest and the belief which grew
into conviction that British officials made their murderous
activities* possible by supplying the natives with food,
clothing, arms, and ammunition. Washington had inherited
these troubles from the Confederation. In 1789, General
Harmar was conducting a campaign in the Indian country.

the same respects the commerce of the
United States is given in a printed * Let-
ter of (the] Secretary of State’” dated
January 5, 1802.

1 Canadian Archives, 1890, xxxviii.
It appears that the British government
was well informed, for Morris noted in
his diary that he had told Luserne of his
errand at London because he thought it
prudent to be able to say to the French
oourt that every step in the negotiations
had been taken with their privity.
Anne C. Morris's Diary and Letters of
Gouverneur Morris, i, 310.

2 Ibid., i, 327, 328.

3 Profeasor A. C. McLaughlin has
studied this subject with industry and
care. He has abeolved the British gov-
ernment from the charge of encouraging
the Indians to war against the Ameri-
cans; but supplies of food and clothing
and, in 1794, of military equipment —
obtained from British colonial officials —
made it possible for the Indians to wage
war on the United States. See his
“The Western Posts and the British
Debts"” in American Historical Associa-
tion's Reports, 1894, p. 413.
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The President did not augur much good from this, because,
as he wrote, Harmar was a drunkard.! His prediction was
amply justified by the event, for the American expedition was
obliged to withdraw (October, 1790) without producing other
result than a series of court martials. It was impossible to
leave affairs in this position. A new force was fitted out.
The command was given to Arthur St. Clair, governor of the
Northwest Territory. For one reason or another St. Clair’s
career had been a series of misfortunes, although he had,
notwithstanding, risen to high position. In the present case,
besides Indian hostility, he was afflicted by jealousies and
insubordination among his officers, and he himself was ill and
unable to overlook in person all the arrangements. The
result was a crushing defeat (November 4, 1791).2 L
On the 21st day of January, 1793, Louis XVI perished by
the guillotine. Eleven days later France declared war
against Great Britain and Holland and turned over a new
page in the histoty of mankind on both sides of the Atlantic.
The progress of the French Revolution had been followed
in America with great interest. To Jefferson and to those
whose thoughts were like his, the millennium seemed to be

1 Writings of Washinglon (Ford), xi, vations . . . and the Reports (Philadel-
508; Annals of Congress, 2nd Cong., phia, 1812). There is a memoir of St.

1113.
2 8t. Clair's official report is printed
in American State Papers, Indian Affairs,

pers
annotated by W. H. Smith contains a
masse of material which may be supple-
mented by the Diary of Col. Win-
throp Sargent during the Campaign of
MDCCXCI, of which forty-six copies
were printed at * Wormsloe' in 1851.
The 8t. Clair side of the case is set forth
in A Narratise of the manner in which
the campaign agasnst the Indians was
conducted under the command of Major
General St. Clair logether with Ais Obser-

Clair prefixed to the St. Clasr Papers,
but it deals mainly with the earlier
period of his life. In some respects a
much shorter sketch by A. B. Rorison
and J. N. Boucher is more satisfactory.
It is entitled Major-General Arthur St.
Clair. In the “Knox Papers” wol
xxxi, 81, there is a copy of the * Report
of the Committee of the House of
Representatives'’ with manuscript nates
by Knox or some one else. In the same
oollection, vol. xxx, 12, there is an inter-
esting letter from Col. William Darke,
dated Fort Washington, Nov. 9, 1791.
For all practical purposes Denny'’s
“Diary"” and 8t. Clair's letter of No-
vember 9 are adequate (S¢. Clair Papers,
ii, 251-267).
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not far away. When the movement turned into massacre
and the crowds became masters of the leaders, he retained
his faith that all would be for the best, — if kings and aristo-
crats were eradicated, the lives of a thousand or a million
men and women would be well spent. Conservatives, like
Washington, looked with dismay upon the course of events
in France, especially after the guillotine had begun its bloody
work. When Lafayette was forced to fly from Paris and the
royal family was imprisoned, they took a more gloomy view ;
when the propagandist nature of the Revolution was forced
upon them, they actively turned against the former allies of
America. Earlier, Frenchmen by the hundreds had given
their personal help to the struggling colonists, but, now, few
Americans sought the shores of France to aid in the contest
for the rights of man against the Bourbon monarchy. In the
War for American Independence the French government had
loaned money and had given arms and accoutrements to the
rebellious colonists. The interest of the Bourbon monarchy
had been partly, perhaps mainly, due to the fact that Ameri-
can success would greatly weaken the strength of perfidious
Albion, — the hereditary and natural foe of France and
Frenchmen. The present movement at Paris had no such
elements of interest for America, the contest was one for ab-
stract right. It was an idealistic conflict, until the declara-~
tion of war against Great Britain brought it within the range
of practical politics. Frenchmen now looked to America to
repay a part of these obligations, and did not for one moment
doubt that the American people would fully and actively
respond.

The government of His Britannic Majesty held much the
same view. They thought that the Americans would
naturally side with the French Republic. Moreover, they
would be obliged to do so because by the terms of the Treaty
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of Alliance of 1778 between the United States and France,
the former had guaranteed the French West Indian posses-
sions against all comers. Moreover this treaty contained an
ill-worded provision that no privateers of other natiopalities
should receive hospitality in United States ports, — imply-
ing, thereby, that French privateers would be sheltered.
The British government took it for granted that when France
declared war, she would call upon her American ally to pro-
tect her islands in the West Indies and that her ally would
faithfully respond, — which meant that war between Great
Britain and the United States was only a few months away.
The authorities at London, therefore, directed the capture of
American vessels in the West Indies whenever they seemed
to be in any way infringing British laws and regulations.
In Canada, Lord Dorchester addressed a gathering of Indian
chiefs at Quebec in language that was only fitting on the
supposition that war with the United States was on the point
of breaking out. On April 8, 1793, Citizen Genét, repre-
sentative of the ruling powers in France,landed at Charleston,
and ten days later, Washington called upon his advisers for
their counsels as to the obligations of the United States under
the French treaty.

However divided American statesmen were on other sub-
jects, they were unanimous as to the necessity of keeping
the United States out of the vortex of European politics. In
1785, John Adams had written to John Jay that the friendship
of France, Holland, and Spain should be fostered, and, in
case of a war between France and England, the United States
should preserve her neutrality, if possible.! In 1787, Jeffer-
son had conferred with William Eden, who was then in
France, as to the effect of the Treaty of 1778 in case of war,?

: Diplomatic Correspondence, 1783 lomatia Correspondence, 1783-1789, iii,

1789, i, 168.
9 Jeflerson to W. Carmichael, Dip- Y
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and had told him that it obliged the United States to receive
armed vessels of France with their prizes and to refuse to
admit prizes made by her enemies and that the United
States guaranteed the American possessions of France in
case they were attacked. ‘Our dispositions would be to be
neutral,’”’ he asserted, and that would be for the interests of
both powers because it would relieve them of anxiety as to
providing their West Indian plantations with food. The
next year Jefferson informed Washington ! he was decidedly
of opinion that the United States should take no part in
European wars. Now, in April of 1793, Jefferson wrote to
Madison that he favored neutrality, although it might “ prove
a disagreeable pill to our friends.” * There was no differ-
ence of opinion as to the desirability of neutrality ; there was
disputation as to whether the treaty with France had come
to an end with the destruction of the Bourbon monarchy.
Jefferson was willing to look upon it as suspended, until the
French government should make a categorical demand upon
the United States for the performance of its obligations and
then there would be ample time to issue a statement as to the
duties and obligations of American citizens. Moreover, it
would be well not to do anything at present, but to keep the
British government in a state of anxiety as to the policy of the
United States. It might even turn out that the authorities
at London would adopt a more friendly tone to prevent the
United States from taking part with France. Hamilton
argued that the treaty had been made with the king of France,
and the king being dead and the monarchy destroyed, the
treaty had come to an end.? Washington determined to dis-
regard the treaty for the time being. He issued a proclama-
tion ¢ declaring the duty and interest of the United States

1 Wntmac of Jefferson (Ford), v, 57. da' Hamilton, iv, 362, 383.
8 Itid. vi, 232, ¢ The Proclamation is in countless
8J.C. HamiltonoWnMocofAlam- places ; among others in Annals of Con-
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require that they should “pursue a conduct friendly and
impartial toward the belligerents’ (April 22, 1793) ; but this
did not interfere with the sale and exportation of munitions
of war.! Jefferson’s sensibilities were somewhat mollified by
not using the word “neutrality’’ in the proclamation. Three
weeks later, Citizen Genét arrived at Philadelphia.
Edmond Charles Genét came of a notable family.? Al-
though only thirty years of age, he had had much diplomatic
experience and was a man of very considerable abilities. He
was received with effusion at Charleston, to which harbor his
vessel had been driven by the winds of the Atlantic. Insome
sort he replied by fitting out a privateer from that port, a few
of her crew being American citizens. He then journeyed
overland to Philadelphia, arriving there early in May. He
was féted and banqueted here and there along the way, and
was met at Gray’s Ferry across the Schuylkill by a delegation
from the Quaker City? From the federal authorities,
however, even from Jefferson himself, he received onerebuff
after another. The Neutrality Proclamation was issued
before he reached the seat of government. Soon after his
arrival at Philadelphia, captive British vessels were brought
into harbor as prizes of Genét’s privateers or of French men-

be abandoned to the penalties which
the Laws of War authorise.” *Cus-

gress, 3rd Cong., 1285; American
State Papers, Foreign Relations, i, 140;

Llnmtmdl’am of the Presidents,
156

10n August 4, 1793, Hamilton
issued a *Circular Letter” to the col-
lectors of the customs, instructing them
as to the enforcement of neutrality.
The following two sentences are taken
from this paper: *“The purchasing
within, and exporting from, the United
States by way of merchandise articles
commonly called contraband (being
generally warlike instruments and mil-
itary stores) is free to all the parties at
War, and is not to be interfered with.
If our own Citisens undertake to carry
them to any of those parties they will

VOL. IV.—K

toms House Papers’ in the Library of
Congress, under date. The letter is
printed in Annals of Congress, 3rd Cong.,
1286.

3 L. Didier's * Le Citoyen Gen‘t"
Revue des Questions Historigues,

62, and xciii, 5 ; George Clmton GenM,'
W ashington, Jc]m and ‘' Citi
Gen#t, 1793 [New York, 1899).

3 McMaster's History of the People
of the United States, ii, 101. This ac-
oount is based on contemporary news-
papers. G. C. Genét gives an entirely
different acoount of Genét's coming to
Philadelphia, but does not state his
authority.
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of-war. George Hammond, the first British minister of his
type to reside at the American seat of government, was
greatly excited by these seizures. He demanded the return
of the vessels to their owners and asked that the neutrality of
the United States should be made more evident. The posi-
tion of the government was very difficult. It had no armed
force with which to make its orders respected. The best that
it could do was to appeal to the governors of the States to use
militiamen and constables to prevent French aggressions ! on
British commerce in American waters and to compel French
captains to observe the neutrality of the United States.
Besides using the United States as a basis for an attack on
British commerce, Genét proposed to utilize American terri-
tory for the purpose of organizing expeditions to seize Span-
ish and British lands to the south and to the north, — for the
Spaniards by this time were also in conflict with the French
Republic. Genét had little difficulty in securing the aid of
prominent characters in South Carolina and Kentucky, or in
enlisting men for these proposed expeditions.? His trouble
consisted in finding the money necessary to procure supplies
and to pay the wages of those whom he employed. It oc-
curred to him that possibly the government might be willing

1 An example of the aggressiveness
of French officialsis seen in a letter from
Jefferson to Genét, dated Germantown,
November 5, 1793. The French con-
sul at Baltimore was proposing to collect
a force of French ships in Chesapeake
Bay to protect French property against
the designs of the British. Jefferson
asks Genét to curb the consul’s activ-
ities, reminding him that Great Britain
had never violated the sovereignty of
the United States. “ Jefferson’s Private
Papers’’ under date.

2 By the summer of 1794, there was a
revulsion of feeling at Charleston owing
to the * diabolical decree of the national
oonvention which emancipates all the
slaves in the french Colonies, a circum-

stance the most alarming that oould
happen to this country.” In the early
autumn, a gentleman terming the crew
of a French vessel a ‘‘lawless band of
pirates’’ was himself called a liar and
sooundrel, but instead of a duel taking
place the utterer of these latter epithets
was bound over to keep the peace.
Professor F. J. Turner has printed a
mass of original material relating to
Genét's activities in the American His-
torical Association’s Reports, 1896, i, pp.
930-1107; 1897, pp. 560-679; 1903,
fi. He has stated the result of his re-
searches in American Historical Review,
iii, 650. See also tdid., ii, 474 ; iii, 490;
xviii, 780; the St. Clair Papers, ii, 322
note; and Skeel's Webeter, i, 371.
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to advance the remainder of the payments due to France on
the Revolutionary loans. He laid this proposition before
Jefferson under the guise of relief for the victims of the long-
drawn-out tragedy of San Domingo. Genét’s predecessor,
Jean de Ternant, had used payments made by the govern-
ment on account, for this purpose. Jefferson fell into the
trap, but Hamilton’s consent was necessary. On laying the
matter before the Secretary of the Treasury, objections at
once arose. Already Hamilton had had doubts as to the
validity of receipts given by the existing authorities in France.
Moreover, the French revolutionists had issued large quanti-
ties of paper money or assignat, which had greatly depre-
ciated. If a valid receipt could be obtained, how was the
amount of the payment to be determined? Finally, he de-
clared that there was not money enough in the treasury to
anticipate payments of any kind. The result was that Gen8t
and those whom he had commissioned were brought to a
standstill.

Genét also applied directly to the government for muskets,
cannon, and ammunition which might be supplied from the
public arsenals and the value deducted from the debts still
due to France. He said France realized that by nature
Guadaloupe and Martinique — he did not say San Domingo
— were connected with this country. The authorities at
Paris, therefore, had put commerce with them upon the same
footing for the United States as for France, and consequently
any assistance the United States might render would be, in
fact, aiding itself. He added that the administration must
be sensible that France had the right to demand our guaran-
tee of these islands. She had waived that demand and only
asked for a supply of arms and ammunition which might be
furnished as secretly as possible. This communication was
first made to Knox. He replied that as a matter of fact the
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United States arsenals were very deficient, but if they were
filled with arms and ammunition, it might be doubted
whether these could be alienated without an act of the legis-
lative authority; and, besides, such an act would be con-
sidered as very unfriendly to Great Britain and could
scarcely be kept a secret. After some further debate, it was
agreed that Knox should submit the matter to the President.
This he did in the presence of the Secretary of the Treasury.
Washington agreed with Knox that the request could not be
complied with, but told him to lay the whole matter before
Jefferson, who at once declared that it was inadmissible.!
Before leaving this part of the subject, it is well to recall
that Genét, with all his activity, hardly went beyond what
Franklin, Deane, and Lee had done in France before the
signing of the Treaty of Alliance, and that the French govern-
ment had in effect done for the Americans in the matter of
military equipment exactly what Genét had asked Knox to
do for him.

The attitude of the American government was beyond
Genét's comprehension. The people everywhere, so far as he
had anything to do with them, seemed to be very friendly
to French principles and to France. The government took
an entirely different attitude. Even Jefferson, whom Genét
supposed to be a friend to liberty and to France, was con-
stantly advising him to be moderate and even imploring him
to pursue other courses. It is true that Jefferson was a
friend of France and the rights of man, but he was also an
American politician of unparalleled skill in assessing the
public mind. In one letter after another to his intimates,

1“Knox Papers,” xxxiv, fo. 48. tive to the accoutrements provided for
William Stephens Smith seems to have  his nation and asks Knox to take them,
been in collusion with Genét, as he was — cartridge hoxes with belts and sword
with Grenville and Miranda, for he belts with bayonet scabbards. Ibd.,
writes to Knox that Citisen Gen8t was xxxiv, fo. 146.
disposed to leave him in the lurch rela-
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gether as to whether some kind of representation might not
be made to Lord Dorchester through Beckwith. On the
evening of April 11; happening to be at Knox’s house, Beck-
with hinted that the assertions might be unfounded because
the British government had a system of managing the Indians
by distributing presents and goods.!

William Stephens Smith, John Adams’s son-in-law, was in
England in the spring of 1791. He was politely entertained
by Lord Grenville and, returning to Philadelphia, tried to
convince the government of the friendly disposition of the
British. Robert Morris, who was at this time in the Senate,
was in confidential communication with Patrick Colquhoun,
a Glasgow merchant, who acted as go-between for the British
government. Through this channel, Morris had been as-
sured that a British minister would be sent to Philadelphia,
and he had been asked to state his ideas as to the commercial
relations between the two countries. It was in one of his
letters that Colquhoun hazarded the supposition that “the
President and Mr. Secretary Hamilton are among the number
who will feel satisfaction” ? at the settlement of difficulties
between Great Britain and the United States.

1 “Memorandum of a conversation
which passed between the subscriber
and LS. Colonel Beckwith who seems
charged with some fact of an informal
political commission by Lord Dorches-
ter,” April 11, 1791, in “ Knox Papers,”’
xxviii, 23. Beckwith and Knox had
become intimate, the former believing
that the promotion of * the benign pur-
poees of peace’’ could not be better con-
cluded “than by a little eating and
drinking.”” Major General Maunsell,
an officer in the British army, on Octo-
ber 20, 1791, handed to Knox — whom
he seems to have known — an unsigned
paper to the effect that Mr. Pitt had
authorised him to declare that Great
Britain was anxious to establish and
preserve the strictest amity and friend-
ship with the United States. He,

Maunsell, was not diplomatically em-
ployed; but he hoped that the United
States would be satisfied of the friendly
disposition of the Court of London, sbid.,
xxix, 153.

2See The Manuscripts of J. B.
Fortescue, Esq., preserved at Dropmore,
ii, 145, 157, 197, 228, 263. These
volumes are included in the Reports
of the Royal Historical Manuscripts
Commission and are often cited as Drop-
more Manuscripts. They form the basis
of Ephraim D. Adams's Influence of
Grenville on Pitt’s Foreign Policy, 1787
1798 (Washington, 1904). It appears
that Phyn and Ellis, London merchants
engaged in the Canadian trade, in 1791,
were advised to secure their property at
Niagara and Detroit, because those post
were to be delivered to the United States.
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memorable documents that ever came from his pen. It
should be read by every one who is interested in Jefferson or
in the international history of the United States. It isin the
form of a reply to a previous letter from Hammond, stating
in detail British views as to the misdoings of America. Jeffer-
son rehearsed at great length the legislation by the States
and the action by the courts as to British debts and loyalists.
He reiterated the demand for the surrender of the North-
western posts and compensation for slaves taken away at the
time of the evacuation of New York and Charleston. Ham-
mond was so impressed with the formidableness of Jefferson’s
array of facts that he was incapable of reply. He forwarded
the letter to London and, upon Jefferson’s urgent desire,
stated that the communication had brought up so many new
points that he could not reply to it without further instruc-
tions from home. It is not necessary to go further into these
controversial writings, because documents unknown to
Jefferson, and only recently accessible to any one, show
conclusively that before the ratifications of the treaty were
exchanged and before it became obligatory upon either party,
the British government had determined to retain the posts in
the Northwest as a species of hostage for the future perform-
ance of the provisions of the treaty by the Americans. This
comes out in a letter from Lord Sydney, then Secretary of
State, to Frederick Haldimand, Governor General of Canada.
It was dated April 8, 1784, the day before the British rati-
fication of the definitive treaty was signed at London, and
more than a month before the exchange of the ratifications
took place at Paris.! In this letter, the official mouthpiece

isinthoConmodiﬁonof the
an of Jefferson, iii, 365—429, and
in American State Papers, Foreign
Relations, i, 201. See also Diplomatic
Correspondence of the United States, 1783~
1789, v, 259 and fol.

1 Canadian Archives, 1885, 286.
Professor MecLaughlin pomtnd out
this sequenoce of dates in his “The
Western Posts and the British Debts’’
in American Historical Association's
Reports, 1894, p. 413. (This article is
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asked for aid. As things were at Paris, this demand was
necessarily submitted to the National Assembly and much
discussion ensued.! In the end it was voted to place a great
French fleet in commission and to inform the Spanish govern-
ment that it would be well to negotiate a new treaty obliging
either nation to go to the aid of the other, when unjustly
attacked. Forty-five French battleships 2 would have been
a potent addition to Spanish armadas, but the suggestion
that treaties and alliances were national affairs frightened
the Spaniards. They had been given ten days in which to
make up their minds whether they would accept the British
terms or not. They needed only five to consent to every-
thing that was asked of them. The Nootka Treaty was
signed on October 28, 1790. The pressure on both Spaniards
and Englishmen relaxed and the international horizon of
the United States became even more clouded than it had
been in 1789.

One of Washington’s first acts as President was to ask
Gouverneur Morris, who was then in France on private
business, to-cross the Channel and find out why the British
government refused to carry out the provisions of the Treaty
of Peace.? Morris reached London in March, 1790, but the

1 The “Report of the Diplomatic
Committee on the Family Compact
. . . addressed to the National As-
sembly’’ by M. Mirabeau and the * De-
cree of the National Assembly of France,
on the Family Compact’’ are in Official
Papers relative to . . . Nootka Sound.

2 Benjamin Bailey to Christopher
Champlin, L'Orient, September 10,
1700, in Commerce of Rhode Island, ii,
421 (Massachusetts Historical Society’s
Clollections, vol. 70).

3 On the condition of trade between
the United States and the British Em-
pire in this period, see Collection of
Interesting and Important Reports and
Papers on the Navigation and Trade of
Great Britasn . . . printed by order

of ** The Soctety of Ship-Owners of Great
Britain’’ in 1807. This is said to have
been edited by Nathaniel Atcheson.
The second document in this Collection
is ** The Report of the Lords of the Com-
mittee of the Privy Council of January
28, 1791."” Worthington Ford found a
copy of this in the State Department at
Washington and printed it in 1888 as
Report of a Commattee of the Lords of the
Privy Council on the Trade of Great
Britain with the United States. A useful
compendious manual is W. W. Bates's
American Nawvgation (Boston, 1902).
A ocomparative statement of the duties
paid in British ports on goods imported .
in ‘‘American, Foreign, and British”
ships since January 5, 1798, so far as
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letter which he wrote to John Jay from Auteuil near Paris,
on April 24, 1785. In this he advocated the punctual execu-
tion of the Treaty of Peace by the United States. “If we
establish the principle,” he wrote, ‘“that we have a right to
depart from the treaty in one article, because they have
departed from it in another, they will certainly avail them-
selves of the same principle,” ! and probably extend it farther.
The true policy of both countries was to take up all the sub-
jects ® in dispute and refer them to commissions to arrange for
something like an equitable settlement. In 1794, Washing-
ton asked James Monroe of Virginia to go to Paris as successor
to Gouverneur Morris, and Chief Justice John Jay to go to
England as special envoy for the purpose of negotiating a
treaty. Thomas Pinckney, who was already in London as
representative of the United States, was to go to Spain and
endeavor to bring about a settlement of all existing disputes
with that country. /
Jayfound the English ministers distinctly favorable toward
his mission. They were conscious that a new page had
opened in American history with the establishment of the
government under the Constitution. One thing that had
shown this was the firmness with which the administration
compelled obedience to its policy of neutrality. There are
also hints, which are not entirely conclusive, that some ap-
proaches had been made to the United States by Sweden and
Denmark with a view to the inclusion of the United States in
a new league for the enforcement of neutral rights upon the
International Law, v, 609; J. C. B.

Davis's ‘“Notes” in the Appendix to
Treaties and Conventions concluded

1 Diplomatic Correspondence, 1783-
1789, ii, 171.

1 There were matters discussed in

these negotiations, other than those
noted in the text, as to the boundary line
between the United States and British
America, the impressment of American
seamen, the settlement of commercial
difficulties, and the regulation of con-
traband. See J. B. Moore’s Digest of

between the United Stales and Other
Powers. In preparing this chapter I
have been greatly aided by the perusal
of an unpublished essay on “The His-
tory and Diplomacy of the Jay Treaty,
1789-1794" by Samuel Flagg Bemis
of Medford, Mass.
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sea.! Were America to join with the Baltic powers in carry-
ing out any such plan, it would have been very difficult for
Great Britain to starve France and the French colonies. It
may be also that the government at London had come to
realize the magnitude of the task which lay before it in at-
tempting tostifie French propagandism. Jay himself had had
longdiplomaticexperience, had knownmany Englishmen, and,
as Chief Justice, occupied a positionof great dignity. Heand
Lord Grenville, who was now in charge of foreign affairs, at
once became friends.? Negotiations proceeded rapidly, and
in November, 1794, a treaty was signed at London which
won most unenviable notoriety for its American negotiator.

According to the provisions of Jay’s Treaty, Great Britain
was to turn over the Northwestern posts by the first day of
June, 1796, and the questions of debts, boundaries, and com-
pensation for unlawful captures were to be referred to com-
missions or to be made subjects of future negotiations. As
to the Loyalists, no objection of alienage ® should interfere
with the possession of lands within the dominions of either
power by subjects or citizens of the other. In case of future
war between the two countries, no debts should be confis-
cated whether public or private. Hereafter, American
vessels were to have the same privileges as British in Great
Britain and in the East Indies, but, like British vessels,
should be subject to the regulations of the East India Com-
pany within the limits of its territories. American vessels
under seventy tons might engage in trade with the British

t Wrikings of Jokn Quincy Adams
i, 304.

“weak and assailable quarter, and Mr.
Jay's weak side is Mr. Jay.”

% 8es F. G. Franklin's Legislative
History of Naturalization in the United
States, 9. The provision on this subject
in the treaty was not so much an act of
favor toward America as it was a means
of protecting what was left of loyalist
property in the United States.
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and had told him that it obliged the United States to receive
armed vessels of France with their prizes and to refuse to
admit prizes made by her enemies and that the United
States guaranteed the American possessions of France in
case they were attacked. “Our dispositions would be to be
neutral,” he asserted, and that would be for the interests of
both powers because it would relieve them of anxiety as to
providing their West Indian plantations with food. The
next year Jefferson informed Washington ! he was decidedly
of opinion that the United States should take no part in
European wars. Now, in April of 1793, Jefferson wrote to
Madison that he favored neutrality, although it might “prove
a disagreeable pill to our friends.””? There was no differ-
ence of opinion as to the desirability of neutrality ; there was
disputation as to whether the treaty with France had come
to an end with the destruction of the Bourbon monarchy.
Jefferson was willing to look upon it as suspended, until the
French government should make a categorical demand upon
the United States for the performance of its obligations and
then there would be ample time to issue a statement as to the
duties and obligations of American citizens. Moreover, it
would be well not to do anything at present, but to keep the
British government in a state of anxiety as to the policy of the
United States. It might even turn out that the authorities
at London would adopt a more friendly tone to prevent the
United States from taking part with France. Hamilton
argued that the treaty had been made with the king of France,
and the king being dead and the monarchy destroyed, the
treaty had come to an end.? Washington determined to dis-
regard the treaty for the time being. He issued a proclama-
tion ¢ declaring the duty and interest of the United States

1 Wntma: of J’clm (Ford), v, 87. der Hamillon, iv, 362, 382.
8 Ibid. vi ¢ The Proclamation is in countless
3J.C. Bmﬂtonsl'ntmccqfﬂutm- places ; among others in Annals of Con-
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require that they should “pursue a conduct friendly and
impartial toward the belligerents” (April 22, 1793) ; but this
did not interfere with the sale and exportation of munitions
of war.! Jefferson’s sensibilities were somewhat mollified by
not using the word “neutrality” in the proclamation. Three
weeks later, Citizen Gend8t arrived at Philadelphia.
Edmond Charles Gen8t came of a notable family.? Al-
though only thirty years of age, he had had much diplomatic
experience and was a man of very considerable abilities. He
was received with effusion at Charleston, to which harbor his
vessel had been driven by the winds of the Atlantic. Insome
sort he replied by fitting out a privateer from that port, a few
of her crew being American citizens. He then journeyed
overland to Philadelphia, arriving there early in May. He
was f8ted and banqueted here and there along the way, and
was met at Gray’s Ferry across the Schuylkill by a delegation
from the Quaker City.? From the federal authorities,
however, even from Jefferson himself, he received onerebuff
after another. The Neutrality Proclamation was issued
before he reached the seat of government. Soon after his
arrival at Philadelphia, captive British vessels were brought
into harbor as prizes of Gendt’s privateers or of French men-
be abandoned to the penalties which

the Laws of War authorise.” *“Cus-
toms House Papers’ in the Library of

gress, 3rd Cong., 1285; American
State Papers, Foreign Relations, i, 140;
Messages and Papers of the Presidents,

i, 166.

1On August 4, 1793, Hamilton
issued a *Circular Letter” to the col-
lectors of the customs, instructing them
as to the enforcement of neutrality.
The following two sentences are taken
from this paper: ‘The purchasing
within, and exporting from, the United
States by way of merchandise articles
commonly called contraband (being
geoerally warlike instruments and mil-
itary stores) is free to all the parties at
War, and is not to be interfered with.
If our own Citisens undertake to carry
them to any of those parties they will

VOL. IV.—K

Congress, under date. The letter is
printed in Annals of Congress, 3rd Cong.,
1286.

8 L. Didier's ' Le Citoyen Gen#t” in
Revue des Questions Historigues, xcii,
62, and xciii, 5; George Clinton Genét's
Washington, Jefferson and *“‘Citizen"’
Genét, 17983 [New York, 1899].

¥ McMaster's History of the People
of the Uniled States, ii, 101. This ao-
oount is based on contemporary news-
papers. Q. C. Genét gives an entirely
different account of Genét's coming to
Philadelphia, but does not state his
authority.
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of-war. George Hammond, the first British minister of his
type to reside at the American seat of government, was
greatly excited by these seizures. He demanded the return
of the vessels to their owners and asked that the neutrality of
the United States should be made more evident. The posi-
tion of the government was very difficult. It had no armed
force with which to make its orders respected. The best that
it could do was to appeal to the governors of the States to use
militiamen and constables to prevent French aggressions ! on
British commerce in American waters and to compel French
captains to observe the neutrality of the United States.
Besides using the United States as a basis for an attack on
British commerce, Gendt proposed to utilize American terri-
tory for the purpose of organizing expeditions to seize Span-
ish and British lands to the south and to the north, — for the
Spaniards by this time were also in conflict with the French
Republic. Gené8t had little difficulty in securing the aid of
prominent characters in South Carolina and Kentucky, or in
enlisting men for these proposed expeditions.? His trouble
consisted in finding the money necessary to procure supplies
and to pay the wages of those whom he employed. It oc-
curred to him that possibly the government might be willing
1 An example of the aggressiveness

of French officialsis seen in a letter from
Jefferson to Genét, dated Germantown,

stance the most alarming that could
happen to this country.” In the early
autumn, & gentleman terming the crew

November 5, 1793. The French con-
sul at Baltimore was proposing to collect
a foroe of French ships in Chesapeake
Bay to protect French property against
the designs of the British. Jefferson
asks Genét to curb the consul’s activ-
ities, reminding him that Great Britain
had never violated the sovereignty of
the United Btates. ‘‘Jefferson’s Private
Papers’’ under date.

2 By the summer of 1794, there was &
revulsion of feeling at Charleston owing
to the " diabolical decree of the national
oconvention which emancipates all the
slaves in the french Colonies, a circum-

of a French vessel a “lawless band of
pirates’” was himself called a liar and
sooundrel, but instead of a duel taking
place the utterer of these latter epithets
was bound over to keep the peace.
Professor F. J. Turner has printed a
mass of original material relating to
Genét’s activities in the American His-
torical Association’s Reports, 1896, i, pp.
930-1107; 1897, pp. 560-679; 1903,
ii. He has stated the result of his re-
searches in American Historical Review,
iii, 650. Bee also tbtd., ii, 474 ; iii, 490;
xviii, 780; the St. Clair Papers, ii, 322
note; and Bkeel's Webster, i, 371.
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to advance the remainder of the payments due to France on
the Revolutionary loans. He laid this proposition before
Jefferson under the guise of relief for the victims of the long-
drawn-out tragedy of San Domingo. Genét’s predecessor,
Jean de Ternant, had used payments made by the govern-
ment on account, for this purpose. Jefferson fell into the
trap, but Hamilton’s consent was necessary. On laying the
matter before the Secretary of the Treasury, objections at
once arose. Already Hamilton had had doubts as to the
validity of receipts given by the existing authorities in France.
Moreover, the French revolutionists had issued large quanti-
ties of paper money or assignat, which had greatly depre-
ciated. If a valid receipt could be obtained, how was the
amount of the payment to be determined? Finally, he de-
clared that there was not money enough in the treasury to
anticipate payments of any kind. The result was that Genét
and those whom he had commissioned were brought to a
standstill.

Genét also applied directly to the government for muskets,
cannon, and ammunition which might be supplied from the
public arsenals and the value deducted from the debts still
due to France. He said France realized that by nature
Guadaloupe and Martinique — he did not say San Domingo
— were connected with this country. The authorities at
Paris, therefore, had put commerce with them upon the same
footing for the United States as for France, and consequently
any assistance the United States might render would be, in
fact, aiding itself. He added that the administration must
be sensible that France had the right to demand our guaran-
tee of these islands. She had waived that demand and only
asked for a supply of arms and ammunition which might be
furnished as secretly as possible. This communication was
first made to Knox. He replied that as a matter of fact the
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United States arsenals were very deficient, but if they were
filled with arms and ammunition, it might be doubted
whether these could be alienated without an act of the legis-
lative authority; and, besides, such an act would be con-
sidered as very unfriendly to Great Britain and could
scarcely be kept a secret. After some further debate, it was
agreed that Knox should submit the matter to the President.
This he did in the presence of the Secretary of the Treasury.
Washington agreed with Knox that the request could not be
complied with, but told him to lay the whole matter before
Jefferson, who at once declared that it was inadmissible.!
Before leaving this part of the subject, it is well to recall
that Genét, with all his activity, hardly went beyond what
Franklin, Deane, and Lee had done in France before the
signing of the Treaty of Alliance, and that the French govern-
ment had in effect done for the Americans in the matter of
military equipment exactly what Genét had asked Knox to
do for him,

The attitude of the American government was beyond
Genét’s comprehension. The people everywhere, so far as he
had anything to do with them, seemed to be very friendly
to French principles and to France. The government took
an entirely different attitude. Even Jefferson, whom Genét
supposed to be a friend to liberty and to France, was con-
stantly advising him to be moderate and even imploring him
to pursue other courses. It is true that Jefferson was a
friend of France and the rights of man, but he was also an
American politician of unparalleled skill in assessing the
public mind. In one letter after another to his intimates,

1“Knox Papers,” xxxiv, fo. 48. tive to the accoutrements provided for
William Stephens Smith seems to have his nation and asks Knox to take them,
been in collusion with Genét, as he was — cartridge boxes with belts and sword
with Grenville and Miranda, for he belts with bayonet scabbards. Ibid.,
writes to Knox that Citisen Genét was  xxxiv, fo. 146.
disposed to leave him in the lurch rela-
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to advance the remainder of the payments due to France on
the Revolutionary loans. He laid this proposition before -
Jefferson under the guise of relief for the victims of the long-
drawn-out tragedy of San Domingo. Genét’s predecessor,
Jean de Ternant, had used payments made by the govern-
ment on account, for this purpose. Jefferson fell into the
trap, but Hamilton’s consent was necessary. On laying the
matter before the Secretary of the Treasury, objections at
once arose. Already Hamilton had had doubts as to the
validity of receipts given by the existing authorities in France.
Moreover, the French revolutionists had issued large quanti-
ties of paper money or assignat, which had greatly depre-
ciated. If a valid receipt could be obtained, how was the
amount of the payment to be determined? Finally, he de-
clared that there was not money enough in the treasury to
anticipate payments of any kind. 'The result was that Genét
and those whom he had commissioned were brought to a
standstill.

Gendt also applied directly to the government for muskets,
cannon, and ammunition which might be supplied from the
public arsenals and the value deducted from the debts still
due to France. He said France realized that by nature
Guadaloupe and Martinique — he did not say San Domingo
— were connected with this country. The authorities at
Paris, therefore, had put commerce with them upon the same
footing for the United States as for France, and consequently
any assistance the United States might render would be, in
fact, aiding itself. He added that the administration must
be sensible that France had the right to demand our guaran-
tee of these islands. She had waived that demand and only
asked for a supply of arms and ammunition which might be
furnished as secretly as possible. This communication was
first made to Knox. He replied that as a matter of fact the
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memorable documents that ever came from his pen. It
should be read by every one who is interested in Jefferson or
in the international history of the United States. Itisin the
form of a reply to a previous letter from Hammond, stating
in detail British views as to the misdoings of America. Jeffer-
son rehearsed at great length the legislation by the States
and the action by the courts as to British debts and loyalists.
He reiterated the demand for the surrender of the North-
western posts and compensation for slaves taken away at the
time of the evacuation of New York and Charleston. Ham-
mond was so impressed with the formidableness of Jefferson’s
array of facts that he was incapable of reply. He forwarded
the letter to London and, upon Jefferson’s urgent desire,
stated that the communication had brought up so many new
points that he could not reply to it without further instruc-
tions from home. It is not necessary to go further into these
controversial writings, because documents unknown to
Jefferson, and only recently accessible to any one, show
conclusively that before the ratifications of the treaty were
exchanged and before it became obligatory upon either party,
the British government had determined to retain the posts in
the Northwest as a species of hostage for the future perform-
ance of the provisions of the treaty by the Americans. This
comes out in a letter from Lord Sydney, then Secretary of
State, to Frederick Haldimand, Governor General of Canada.
It was dated April 8, 1784, the day before the British rati-
fication of the definitive treaty was signed at London, and
more than a month before the exchange of the ratifications
took place at Paris.! In this letter, the official mouthpiece

i3 in the Congress edition of the
Writings of Jefferson, iii, 365429, and
in American State Papers, Foreign
Relations, i, 201. See also Diplomatic
Correspondence of the United States, 1783~
1789, v, 259 and fol.

1 Canadian Archives, 1885, p. 286.
Professor McLaughlin pointed out
this sequence of dates in his “The
Western Posts and the British Debts’
in American Historical Association’s
Reports, 1894, p. 413. (This article is
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of the British government declared that the “posts in the
United States will not be evacuated till the Articles of the
Treaty of Peace are complied with.”
pecting the United States to fulfil its obligations to
France,! the British government ordered the seizure of all
vessels carrying provisions to the French West Indies.
Hundreds of American vessels were captured, a very large
proportion of them being condemned by prize courts at Ja-
maica ? and other British islands. Besides the hardships and
losses inevitable to the carrying out of any such policy, the
prize courts were very harsh and indiscriminate in their con-
demnations, and there was a good deal of unjustifiable plun-
dering? Insome sort as a makeweight, the ports of Jamaica
were opened for all kinds of American produce which might
be brought in American vessels; these could also take away
Jamaican produce as freely as British ships4 This per-
- mission was given for six months, but the ports of the island
were not again closed for years. Under these varying regula-
tions and orders, American ship owners suffered great losses;
but they must also have made great gains or there would not
have been so many of them resorting to the West Indies.
Years before, John Adams had struck the true note in a

substantially repeated in Yale Review
for February and May, 1895.) An
analysis of the chronology of this matter
is in the Note at end of the present
chapter.

!Two of Knox's correspondents
undoubtedly reflected public opinion
in America. Henry Jackson wrote to
him from Boeton in March, 1794, as
to the captures and depredations made
on our commerce by the British and
declared that ““most of our ocool good
men think War inevitable.” 8. Ogden,
writing to him from Newark, N. J.,
about two months later, declared that he
foared the British Court intended to
wage war in order to secure an alters-
tion of the western boundary line.

“Knox Papers,’” xxxv, 64, 119.

8 Grenville certainly tried to improve
the situation in the West Indies; see
Dropmore Manuscript, iii, 533. Five
months later, in March, 1795, Jay wrote
to Grenville that “If America was set
right as to the affair of the Indians, and
relioved from West India judges and
privateers not better than Indians, ill
humour, having nothing to feed upon,
would die away.” Ibid., iii, 39.

3 8amuel Lawton to Christopher
Champlin, Kingston, Jamaica, March
16, 1794, in Commerce of Rhode Island,
ii, 466 (Massachusetts Historical So-
ciety’s Collections, vol. 70).

¢ Massachusetts Historical Society's
Collections, vol. 70, p. 470.
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letter which he wrote to John Jay from Auteuil near Paris,
on April 24, 1785. In this he advocated the punctual execu-
tion of the Treaty of Peace by the United States. “If we
establish the principle,” he wrote, “that we have a right to
depart from the treaty in one article, because they have
departed from it in another, they will certainly avail them-
selves of the same principle,” ! and probably extend it farther.
The true policy of both countries was to take up all the sub-
jects 2 in dispute and refer them to commissions to arrange for
something like an equitable settlement. In 1794, Washing-
tonasked James Monroe of Virginia to go to Paris as successor
to Gouverneur Morris, and Chief Justice John Jay to go to
England as special envoy for the purpose of negotiating a
treaty. Thomas Pinckney, who was already in London as
representative of the United States, was to go to Spain and
endeavor to bring about a settlement of all existing disputes
with that country. /
Jay found the English ministers distinctly favorable toward
his mission. They were conscious that a new page had
opened in American history with the establishment of the
government under the Constitution. One thing that had
shown this was the firmness with which the administration
compelled obedience to its policy of neutrality. There are
also hints, which are not entirely conclusive, that some ap-
proaches had been made to the United States by Sweden and
Denmark with a view to the inclusion of the United States in
a new league for the enforcement of neutral rights upon the

1 Diplomatic Correspondence, 1783-
1789, ii, 171.
?* There were matters discussed in

International Law, v, 699; J. C. B.
Davis's “Notes’ in the Appendix to
Treaties and Conventions concluded

these negotiations, other than those
noted in the text, as to the boundary line
between the United States and British
America, the impressment of American
seamen, the settlement of commercial
difficulties, and the regulation of con-
traband. 8ee J. B. Moore’s Digest of

detween the United States and Other
Powers. In preparing this chapter I
have been greatly aided by the perusal
of an unpublished essay on *‘The His-
tory and Diplomacy of the Jay Treaty,
1789-1794" by Samuel Flagg Bemis
of Medford, Mass.
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sea.! Were America to join with the Baltic powers in carry-
ing out any such plan, it would have been very difficult for
Great Britain to starve France and the French colonies. It
may be also that the government at London had come to
realize the magnitude of the task which lay before it in at-
tempting tostifle French propagandism. Jayhimself had had
long diplomatic experience, had known many Englishmen, and,
as Chief Justice, occupied a position of great dignity. Heand
Lord Grenville, who was now in charge of foreign affairs, at
once became friends.? Negotiations proceeded rapidly, and
in November, 1794, a treaty was signed at London which
won most unenviable notoriety for its American negotiator.

According to the provisions of Jay’s Treaty, Great Britain
was to turn over the Northwestern posts by the first day of
June, 1796, and the questions of debts, boundaries, and com-
pensation for unlawful captures were to be referred to com-
missions or to be made subjects of future negotiations. As
to the Loyalists, no objection of alienage® should interfere
with the possession of lands within the dominions of either
power by subjects or citizens of the other. In case of future
war between the two countries, no debts should be confis-
cated whether public or private. Hereafter, American
vessels were to have the same privileges as British in Great
Britain and in the East Indies, but, like British vessels,
should be subject to the regulations of the East India Com-
pany within the limits of its territories. American vessels
under seventy tons might engage in trade with the British

‘Wﬂ'hnolollobuoumddama “weak and assailable quarter, and Mr.
(Ford), i, Jay's weak side is Mr. Jay."”

'IMAucklndmevilloJum 'SeoFGFrmklin'quﬂd:n
23. 1794, Dropmore Manuscripts, ii, History of Naturalisation in the United
578. He wrote that Jay had great Siates, 9. The provision on this subject
appearance of ocoolness, was a patient inthe&utywunoecomuchm-ctof
with & good memory, argued favor toward America ag it was a means

was *long- and self- of protecting what was left of loyalist
opinioned.” Like every man, be has a  property in the United States.
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West India Islands; but, while this privilege continued, no
cotton or any other of the principal West Indian staples
should be exported from the United States to Europe.
Moreover, the right of the British government to lay coun-
tervailing duties to overcome the discriminations of the
American tonnage and tariff acts was distinctly recognized,
and it was further provided that no additional tonnage duties
should be imposed by the United States. Something was
done toward the definition of contraband: articles serving
directly as equipment for war vessels were so marked and
provisions and some other things might be seized by either
party on condition that full compensation was made. There
were many other regulations as to the treatment of vessels
and prizes, but these were not to interfere with the obligations
of existing treaties.

By the time Jay’s Treaty reached America and, indeed,
for that matter before it was signed, the position of the
national government had greatly improved. In August, 1794,
General Wayne had inflicted a crushing defeat on the Indians
of the Northwest in the battle of Fallen Timbergand had
pursued them under the guns of a fort that the British had
built at the foot of the rapids of the Miami, or Maumee as
that river came to be called in the next century. Moreover,
in November of the same year the Whiskey Insurrection in
western Pennsylvania had been put down by federal activity.
The excise tax levied upon domestic distilled liquors had
excited great discontent in the settlements beyond the
Alleghanies.! The farmers of western Pennsylvania and the

1In a private and confidential letter language was used, one speaker declaring
to Knox, written on June 11, 17984, that he would not be displeased to see
Wayne enclosed an abstract of a letter the British in possession of the north-
from the Deputy Quartermaster Gen- west shores of the Ohio River. The
eral showing the temper of the people inhabitants also refused to take United
of Kentucky. This describes a meeting States Bank notes and demanded
at Lexington where most inflammatory specie. ‘' Knox Papers,” xxxv, fo. 129.
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adjoining country had found it much easier to take their
surplus grain to market in the form of whiskey than in bulk.
Whether there was any real hardship inflicted by the excise
law may be questioned, but the inquisitorial methods that
were necessarily employed in its enforcement were foreign
to existing American notions of liberty, — especially among
frontiersmen. They held meetings, mobbed federal officials,
and showed a disposition to nullify the enforcement of the
law. Among the earlier acts to be passed by Congress was
one authorizing the President to call out the militia of the
several States to repel invasion, or to put down insurrection
whenever a federal judge certified that the courts were un-
able to enforce the law.! Such a certificate was now given
by the judge of the United States district court in Pennsyl-
vania. Governor Mifflin of that State denied the necessity
of action by the federal government,? but himself did not do
anything to bring about the enforcement of the law. Upon
this Washington issued a proclamation, ordering the insur-
gents to retire to their homes and calling for fifteen thou-
sand men from New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Maryland, and
Virginia. At first there was some backwardness in Penn-
sylvania, but it was only temporary. The troops were
easily assembled and marched in good order over the moun-
tains to the western country. They met with no opposition
in the field. The ringleaders were seized and handed over to
the judiciary for trial. Most of the soldiers then returned to
their homes, but a few passed the winter in the disturbed area.

1 Acts Passed at the Second Congress
of the United States (Philadelphia, 1795,
p. 112). This law is ch. xxviii of the
First Session of the Second Congress.
It may conveniently be found in The
Public Statutes at Large of the United
States (Boston, 1850, vol. i, p. 264).

28ee his letter to Washington of
August 5, 1794 in Pennsylvania Archives,
8econd Series, iv, 104. The first five

hundred and fifty pages of this valume
are occupied entirely with documents
relating to the Whiskey Insurrection.
See also American State Papers, Mis-
cellaneous, i, 83-113. There is interest~
ing matter on the subject of the insur-
rection in Henry Adams’s Lafe of Albert
Gallatin; for other references see Guide
to American History, § 182.
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There were not wanting people at the time to assert that Ham-
ilton had seized upon this opportunity to show the strength of
the new government, and certainly whether necessary or not,
the raising so many soldiers in so short a time and using them
so effectively did greatly strengthen the administration.
Asto Indian affairs, it was impossible to permit them to re-
main in the condition that they were in after the St. Clair ex-
pedition. It was necessary to raise a new army and to ap-
point a new commander. The raising of the army was merely
a matter of money which Congress was obliged to vote, but
the appointment of a suitable leader wasamatter of difficulty.
At length Washington pitched upon Anthony Wayne. He
was distinctly averse to accepting a commission ! that would
place him under any one except the President and the Secre-
tary at War. In the end he was given the supreme command
of a new expedition and was convinced that he would enjoy
the necessary support of the administration. In the Revolu-
tion, Wayne had received the sobriquet of “Mad Anthony”’;
such a designation may have been undeserved at that time, it
certainly had no relation to his conduct in the discharge of
the delicate and important duties that now fell tohim. He
took abundant time to recruit and train the new army and,
when all was ready, marched forward with deliberation and
with every precaution. In April, 1794, Lieutenant Gov-
ernor Simcoe, who had charge of the interior Canadian affairs,

1 Wayne to Henry Knox, Philadel-
phia, April 1, 1792, *“Knox Papers,’”
xxxi, fo. 13. After the close of the
campaign, charges were made against
Wayne, probably by General James
Wilkinson, whose schemes appear to
have been interfered with by Wayne.
From a letter written by Wayne in
October, 1796, it seems not unlikely
that the attempt to supersede him was
a part of Wilkinson's conspiracy with
the Spanish authorities at New Orleans.
Owing to Wayne's early death, they

were never investigated officially, but
from a letter in the *Knox Papers’
(xxxvi, 114) it would appear that
‘Washi n was disturbed by the
charges, whatever they were. Knox
writes to Wayne that the differences be-
tween him and Wilkinson ‘‘afford no
pleasing sensations’” and would better
be compromised, if possible, and closes
with the statement,  You see the footing
upon which his charges are placed by
the President.”
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established, or restablished, a British post at the falls of the
Miami, or Maumee, sixty miles and more to the southward
of Detroit.! He asserted that this plain violation of the ter-
ritory of the United States was necessary for the defence of
Detroit, — and very likely it was if the Indians of that part
of the United States were to continue to remain under British
guardianship. Probably the real reason for this move was
Simcoe’s belief that by the time the news of his doings reached
the seaboard, his' country and the United States would be
at war. On the morning of August 20, 1794, Wayne’s men
came within touch of the Indians. Every care was taken to
avoid ambushes and surprises, but in the end the battle was
not at all as Wayne had planned it, for his first line was so
rapidly and thoroughly successful that the second line never
had a good chance at the enemy. The Indians were pursued
and their cornfields destroyed to within sight of the British
fort. Their loss was never ascertained, but it was so heavy
that the next year they entered into a treaty at Greenville
by which they ceded lands to the United States and promised
to keep the peace.? Among the prisoners taken in this Battle
of the Fallen Timber were some members of the Detroit Vol-
unteers, and there can be no doubt that on this occasion the
British agent at Detroit furnished military equipment to the
natives.®! Fortunately Jay’s Treaty came in time to save

10n Simooe's fort at the Miami
Rapids, see his letters of October and
December, 1704, in D. B. Read’s Life
ond Times of Simcoe, 233, and D. C.
Beott's John Graves Simcoe, 143-154.
These letters are calendared in Cana-
dion Archives for 1891, “State Papers
— Upper Canads,” 40, 42, 46. A good
compendious socount of this period from
the local point of view is that by C. E.
BSlocum in TAe Ohio Country between the
Years 1783 end 1815. Slocum treated
at length this whole period of north-
western Ohio history in his History of
the Moumes River Basin from the Bariiest

Account to Its Organization into Countics
(Defiance, Ohio, 1905).

3 American Slate Papers, Indian Af-
Jairs, i, 562.

3 See Wayne's report in wdid., i, 401.
Professor McLaughlin pointed out these
facts in his *Western Posts and the
British Debts”; but he likewise in-
sisted that the government at London
was not privy to this breach of inter-
national and human obligation.

William Clark’s journal of this cam-
paign is printed, with elaborate an-
notations, in the Mississippi Valley
Historical Rewiew, i, 418. Lisutenant
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these unfriendly acts from being new causes of discord be-
tween the United States and Great Britain.

The arrival of the treaty in America — in March, 1795 —
aroused a storm of indignation'; even good Federalists con-
sidered it disgraceful, mortifying, and injurious to the coun-
try. Everywhere public meetings were held which passed
condemnatory resolutions. In the Senate there was much op-
position to it, and its ratification was advised by a very close
vote and then only on condition that the clause as to trade
with the West Indies should be stricken out. At the time
and since, it has seemed remarkable that so high-minded and
patriotic a man as John Jay should have signed an instru-
ment containing so disastrous a stipulation. In a few years
after 1795, the United States was exporting cotton by the
thousand bales, sugar by the tons, and molasses and rum
by the thousands of hogsheads. A study of the statistics
available to Jay will show, however, that the exportation of
these articles before 1794 was in trifling volume.? The per-
fection of the cotton gin and the indirect trade which sprang
up between the French islands and the mother country by way
of the United States resulted in an enormous export business,

Boyet- “Journal of Wayne's Cam-

paign”’ wuprmudmthodmmn.

Pioneer, i, 315, 351, and in the 1866
edition of J. J. Jacobs Biographical
Sketch of Captain Michael Cresap, and
there is something in the contemporary
* Narrative of John Brickell's Captiv-
ity” in the American Pioneer, i, 51.
An excellent modern acoount is in W.
A. Brioe’s History of Fort Wayne.

The frontier attitude towards Wayne
is well expressed in the following lines
that were printed in the Siaunion
Gasette for January 11, 1797: —

Brave, honest soldier, sleep —

And let the dews weep over thee,

And gales that sigh across the Lake;

'Till men shall recognise thy worth,

And coming to this place, shall ask,

*Is this where Wayne is buried?*

! Nathaniel Ames, brother of Fisher
Ames, and of diametrically opposite
politics, wrote in his diary, August 14,
1795: ‘ Washington now defies the
whole Sovreign that made him what
he is —and can unmake him again.
Better his hand had been cut off when
his glory was at its height before he
blasted all his Laurels!” Dedham His-
torical Register, vii, 33. See also The
Letters of Curtius, writlen by the late
John Thomson of Petersburg (Richmond,
1804). The Federalist side is well set
forth in An Address from Robert Goodloe
Harper, of South-Carolina, to Ais Con-
stituents (Boston, 1796).

% The following table, which is com-
piled from Pitkin's Statistical View (ed.
1817, p. 59 and fol.) shows the exporta
of West Indian staples from the United
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— but this would have been entirely a matter of prophecy at
the time of the negotiations between Jay and Grenville. A
statesman should have foreseen that the Revolutionary and
Napoleonic wars would inevitably open a new commerce to
America. That Jay did not foresee it must be ascribed to
ignorance, to error in judgment, but not to any purpose of
sacrificing the interests of this country.

Meantime, great changes had taken place among Wash-
ington’s official advisers; Jefferson retired at the close of
1793 and Hamilton and Knox in the winter of 1794-95.
In their places, Washington appointed Edmund Randolph
to the State Department, Oliver Wolcott to the Treasury,
and Timothy Pickering to the War Office ; but Hamilton un-
officially continued to act as adviser in all difficult matters.
The English government was anxious to secure a ratification
of Jay's Treaty, but British vessels continued to seize Ameri-
can ships, and while the treaty was still under debate, the
government at London renewed its orders as to the seizure
of provisions on the way to enemies’ ports.! This was per-

States before and after the outbreak Franoe and before and after the making

of the war between Great Britain and of Jay's Treaty : —
im 1798 i 179
U

Colfee,Ib. . . . . . . . . 962,077 | 17,580,049 || 44,521,887 | 31,987,088
Coooa,lb. . . . . . . . . 8,322 234,875 875,334 | 6,970,500
Molasses, gal. . . . . . . . 12,721 28,733 48,569 61,911
Sugar, brown and other clayed, ib. 74,504 | 4.539,800 || 38,366,262 | 78,821,751
Cotton,Ib. . . . . . . . . 189,316 487,600 3,788,420 | 9,532,263

11t is a striking commentary upon
the lack of correlation between the
different departments of the British
government that the signing of Jay’'s
Treaty did not put a stop to British
maritime aggression. In July, 1795,
two British ships of war and 2 Bermudian
privatesr were capturing veesels right
and left off Boston Light and sending
them to Halifax for adjudieation.

Grenville certainly did what be could
to curb naval activity against the

the Lords of the Admiralty of the sound-
nees of his position and then these had
to restrict the operations of naval men
scattered far and wide over the seas,
reached only by sailing vessels, and all
of them hungry for prise money.
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mitted by the terms of the recently signed treaty providing
that full compensation must be given for such seizures, —
.but there was a good deal of doubt as to how complete this
compensation would be. Unlike the British the French
desired to postpone or defeat the ratification of the treaty.
Genét’s successor at Philadelphia, Joseph Fauchet, was
greatly aided in thisendeavor by the impecuniosity of Edmund
Randolph, the new Secretary of State.! It does not seem
certain that Randolph accepted money from Fauchet, but
there is a good deal that is dark and unexplained in his con-
duct and he did everything that he could to put off the actual
signing of the ratification by the President. The crisis came
while Washington was at Mount Vernon, when Liston, the
new British minister, showed Wolcott copies of despatches
from Fauchet to the government at Paris. These had been
rescued from the water by British seamen after the capture
of the French corvette, Jean Bart. Wolcott and Pickering
made a rough translation of the documents, from which it
appeared that Randolph’s conduct had been equivocal. They
consulted the Attorney General and urged Washington to
return at once to Philadelphia, which he did on August 11,
1795. In due course, he put the French despatches into
Randolph’s hands, who at once resigned. Later, after a cor-
respondence with Washington, in which Randolph appears to
distinctly bad advantage, he issued a long statement explain-
ing and defending his conduct,® —but unsuccessfully.

1 Randolph is said to have owed
nearly thirty thousand dollars to the

as possible and with “as few circum-
stanocee of mortification as practicable.”

United States at the time of his resig-
nation. He was still owing it in 1805,
as appears from a letter from Gallatin
to W. C. Nicholas advising him not to
indorse Edmund Randolph’s notes.
Replying (April 18, 1805), Nicholas
shows no doubt as to Randolph's in-
debtedness and writes that he has
always advised him to pay it as speedily

See also a * Letter from the Comptroller
°§09 the Treasury,” dated December 1,
1809.

3 For details of this episode, see M.
D. Conway's Edmund Randolph, 270-
289; C.W. Upham's Timothy Pickering,
iii, 200—229 Writings of Washington
(Ford), xiii, 87 and fol.; Gibbe's Ad-
ministrations of Washinglon end John
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Pickering succeeded Randolph as Secretary of State, James
McHenry of Maryland coming into the administration as
Secretary of War.

The last scene in the drama of Jay’s Treaty was the at-
tempt of the House of Representatives to interfere in the
conduct of diplomatic affairs. After the ratifications had
been exchanged at London and the President had proclaimed
the treaty to be the law of the land, a motion was made in
the House calling upon the President for the papers relating
to Jay’s negotiation (March,1796). After a lively debate the
motion was carried. Washington, as was his wont, consulted
his advisers,and then in a message refused to send the papers,
as the assent of the House of Representatives was not neces-
sary and the treaty itself made perfectly clear what legisla-
tion must be passed in order to carry out its provisions. He
also stated that having been a member of the Federal Con-
vention he had no doubt whatever that the treaty-making
power was exclusively invested in the President with the
advice and consent of two-thirds of the Senators present.
This statement aroused Madison, who was still a member of
the House of Representatives. He declared in debate that
opinions drawn from the discussions of the Convention meant
nothing. The Constitution as it came from that body was a
mere bit of writing; vitality was breathed into it by the
people speaking through the ratifying conventions. It was
to these bodies and not to the Federal Convention itself that
one must go for the interpretation of the federal organic law.
The greatest speech that was made in this debate—and one of
the greatest speeches ever made in Congress — was that
of Fisher Ames, Representative from Massachusetts. He
Adoms, i, 230 sand fol. ; “Edmund Mr. Randolph’s Revignation was printed
Randolph on the British Treaty, 1795'° more than once at Philadelphia in 1795,

in American Historical Review, xii, 587 and was ssveral times reprinted else-
and fol. Randolph's Vindication of where.

VYOL. IV.— L
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declared that the opposition to the treaty was political, was
not based upon the provisions of the instrument, but was due
to desire to inflame the public passions against the govern-
ment. The opposition was not to this treaty, but to any
treaty with Great Britain. None should be made with a
monarch or a despot, there would be no naval security while
those sea robbers domineer on the ocean. It has been said
the world ought to rejoice if Britain was sunk in the sea —
if where there are now men and wealth and laws and liberty,
there was no more than a sand bank for sea monsters to fatten
on; aspace for the storms of the ocean to mingle in conflict.”?
The effect produced by this oration was such that the opposi-
tion moved an adjournment before the vote should be taken.
Per contra, John Adams, who did not hear the speech, called
Ames “the pretty little warbling Canary Bird.”” The resolu-
tion providing for carrying into effect the treaty with Great
Britain was finally passed by three votes.

Monroe was well received at Paris, but the story of his
abortive mission would better be described in connection
with the complications that arose with France a few years
later. Thomas Pinckney was more successful in Spain than
was Jay in England or Monroe in France. He arrived at
Madrid at the psychological moment when the Spanish gov-
ernment was disturbed by Jay’s successful negotiation with
England.? He speedily concluded a treaty by which the
Spaniards conceded everything to the United States. They
agreed to accept the thirty-first parallel as the northern
boundary of Florida and acknowledge the rights of the
United States to the free navigation of the Mississippi.

1 Speech of Mr. Ames in the House Review, iv, 62; Mississippi Historical
o! Representatives . . . April £8, 1796, p.  Bociety's Publications, i, 50; ix, 285;

26. See also Seth Ames's Works of Memoirs of Don Manuel de Godoy, Prince
Fisher Ames, i, 12; ii, 51. of the Peace, writien by himself (London,

1 G. L. Rives's * Spain and the United  1836), ii, 458.
States in 1795 in American Historical
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More than this, they acceded to the request of the United
States for the right of deposit, that is to say, for the right to
land goods within the Spanish limits free of duty while await-~
ing transshipment. This was a most important concession,
for, without it, freedom to navigate the Mississippi in its
course through Spanish Louisiana was of very much less value,
as the goodswere brought down stream in river boats and had
to be transferred to seagoing vessels for transportation to
all parts of the world.! With the signing of this treaty with
Spain and with the ratification of the British treaty, the first
chapter in the international history of the United States
closed?; but the political differences that had appeared within
Congress marked the formation of the first great party
organizations in our history. ¢

1785] TREATY WITH SPAIN

18ee Memoirs of Don Manuel de get possession of the country down to
Godoy, Prince of the Peace, written by the thirty-first parallel. See The Jour-
himself (London, 1838), i, 469. Godoy nal of Andrew Ellicott, . . . Commissioner

states that in this treaty *‘we realised

manity enjoins in order to lessen the
evils of war.” For the treaty, see
Treaties and Conventions, 776. He had
not read the treaty with Prussia of
1785, idid., 710.

31t proved to be very difficult to

on Behalf of the United States . . . for
determining the Boundary between the
Uniled States and the Possessions of his
Catholic Majesty (Philadelphia, 1803);
C. Van C. Mathewa's Andrew Elicodt,
Ms Life and Letters (New York, 1908);
and F. L. Riley’s “Transition from
Spanish to American Rule in Missis-
uppi"mMu-ipm Historical Society’s
Publications, iii, 261.
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NOTE

American and British Infractions of the Treaty of 1788. — To
apportion the blame for the frictions and misunderstandings that
arose over the enforcement, or lack of enforcement, of the treaty,
an examination of the following dates will be helpful. The Prelim-
inary Articles were signed at Paris on November 30, 1782. On
February 14, 1783, an agreement for the cessation of hostilities was
signed at Paris. Six days later, February 20, the American commis-
sioners in France issued a proclamation in conformity thereto and
this was published at the head of the army in America on April 19
following. The British proclamation of the cessation of hostilities
with America and also with France was issued on February 27, 1783,
and went into effect at once. Hostilities between the United States
and Great Britain ceased therefore in April, 1783. The Definitive
Treaty of Peace, however, was not signed by the ministers of the two
powers until September 3, 1783. It was not ratified by Congress
until January 14, 1784. The British monarch seems to have waited
for action by America, for the British ratifications were not signed
until April 9 and it was not until May 12, 1784, that the ratifications
were exchanged at Paris and the treaty became a solemn binding
compact that both nations were bound to respect and enforce. Pre-
viously, on April 4, 1782, orders had been issued to Carleton to evac-
uate New York, Charleston, and Savannah. These orders had been
given because the troops stationed at those places were needed else-
where. No orders had been sent to Haldimand at Quebec to evacuate
any post within the limits of his command, because whatever troops
were stationed at those places would continue to be needed in Canada.
The provisions of the treaty as to Loyalists were not obligatory until
the exchange of ratifications; but nearly a year before, on May 30,
1783, Congress recommended to the States to carry out the preliminary
articles relating to the Loyalists. The evacuation of New York was
delayed by various circumstances, especially by lack of transport;
but was finished on November 25, 1783, — before the signing of the
Definitive Treaty by the commissioners in Paris was known in America.
On January 14, 1784, when Congress ratified the Definitive Treaty,
it again urged the just treatment of the Loyalists on the attention of
the States.
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As to the retention of the posts, we find Haldimand writing to
Lord North on November 27, 1783, that they should be retained for
the present to avoid an Indian war. On April 8, 1784, Lord Sydney
had written to Haldimand that the posts would not be given up until
the articles of the treaty, which had not then been ratified, should be
complied with. This letter, on its way to Quebec, crossed one from
Haldimand, dated May 12, 1784, stating that the posts ought not to be
given up until the agreement as to the Loyalists had been carried out
by the United States. On June 14, 1784, Haldimand informed Sir
John Johnson that Lord Sydney had approved of his refusal to give up
the posts “as America has not complied with even one article of the
treaty.” Whatever one may think of Haldimand’s opinions, his re-
fusal to give up the posts until he was ordered so to do by his superiors
in England, or was compelled to by force of arms, was entirely correct.
The moving cause for the retention of the posts was the influence of
British merchants engaged in the Canadian trade. These put pres-
sure upon the government, while Hartley, Franklin, and Adams were
vainly trying to revise the preliminary articles. They were re#nforced
by those who had debts owing to them by residents of America and
also by the complaints and petitions of the Loyalists. These last
were led by persons of influence in England as James Wright, Thomas
Boone, and Lord Dunmore, three former governors of American
provinces, and George Chalmers and Guy Johnson. These five names
were signed to a petition that was presented at this time. With them
were also the names of five American-born refugees, — Joseph Gallo-
way, William Franklin, William Pepperrell, Paul Wentworth, and
George Rome. It is to be remembered that the treaty obliged Con-
gress to make a recommendation only, but the meaning of this does
not seem to have been understood by any one. According to Jeffer-
son’s view, no British creditor had any cause for complaint until he
had exhausted all means of judicial relief and this had been denied
him in accordance with some State law. The subject at best is a
very intricate one. Possibly a good way to leave it will be with the
statement that Jefferson made the best possible showing for the United
States; but that there was ground for complaint on the other side.
As to taking away negroes at the time of the evacuation, the British
were clearly in the wrong, but it is difficult to see how Sir Guy Carle-
ton, as an honorable man, could have acted in any other way.



CHAPTER VI
THE RISE OF POLITICAL PARTIES

THERE were no national political parties in the United
States in 1789, — as we use the term today. Some lead-
ing men, working together, had brought about the forma-
tion of the new government; others had opposed it. For
the time being, the latter were quite willing to see the new
system put into operation, and many of them were willing
to aid in its organization. In the new administration and
in Congress were many men who had either taken no part
in the recent contest or had been in opposition; among
these were some of the chiefs of the party that was to over-
throw Hamiltonianism at the close of the century. Out-
side of political life, but not by any means hostile to the
administration, were Patrick Henry, who ended his life
as a Federalist, and Charles Pinckney, who fought Jeffer-
son’s battle in South Carolina in 1800, but would now have
been glad to accept an office from Washington. Even the
New York politicians— George Clinton, Aaron Burr, and the
Livingstons — were satisfied to see the new organization
perfected. From the beginning, there were differences of
opinion among the executive officers and among the mem-
bers of both Houses of Congress.! Some Congressmen

1In the first Congress, ten or a gathered to himself 23 members of the
dosen members supported the measures House of Representatives, and the
advocated by Hamilton and another Hamiltonians numbered 32; but the
dosen opposed them. During the life balance of power was held by 14 who
of the second Congress, Jefferson voted first one way and then the other.

150
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stood firmly by Washington and Hamilton and others as
firmly opposed them; but between these extremes were
the mass of Senators and Representatives who voted some-
times one way, sometimes the other, as their interests or
their convictions compelled them. By 1793, opinion began
to crystallize, and by 1796, a definite party alignment had
taken place, but it was on new lines. The differentiation
grew out of varying conceptions of the character of the new
government and was accentuated by the sectionalism due
to divergent industrial conditions, the ever present contests
between capitalism and agrarianism, and between con-
servatism and radicalism. Moreover, the line of cleavage,
between those who had and those who had not, had been
widened by the disorders of the preceding decade and by
the reaction which had placed the propertied classes in
power.!

No one, at this distance of time, can for 8 moment main-
tain that Washington and Hamilton and Adams and their
supporters had any immediate expectation of reviving mon-

mation proves oconclusively that the
statesmen in that time were actuated

all that was left of Jeffersonianism,
while 76 voted as their wills or their
interests dictated, or did not vote at all.

article by the same author in sdid., ii,
no. iii). These articles are the result
of prolonged research and are stimu-
lating, but it is impoesible to agree
with many of Professor Libby's de-
ductions, or to accept all the facts as

by very much the same motives as
statesmen of later days and, indeed, of
all times and places. See American
Historical Rewiew, xix, 282-208.

1Charles A. Beard's Economic In-
terpretation of the Constitution of the
United States (New York, 1913) is a
most valuable contribution to our
knowledge of the mainsprings of po-
litical activity in this epoch.

Chief Justice William Cushing of
Massachusetts, in a charge to the grand
jury of Bristol County in October, 1787,
favored the adoption of the Constitution
from “the well grounded fear that we
might yet lose our Freedom for want of
Government’’; and Henry Knox de-
clared, a few months later, that if it
were rejected, “we shall have to en-
counter a boisterous and uncertain
Oocean of events.””
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archy in America; but we must remember that monarchy
then was the general habit of mankind. Hamilton cer-
. tainly looked upon the English system with its king, lords,
and commoners, with its aristocracy, its middle class, and
lower sort of people, as the most perfect system to be found
anywhere, but he knew full well that nothing of the kind
could be openly set up in the United States. Adams main-
tained that men were more easily governed when trained
to habits of respect to those in high station. He would
have honored the chief magistrate with some such title as
“His Majesty, the President.”” He constantly used the
words monarchical, aristocratic, and democratic to describe
a government by three branches. He had no idea that a
limited monarchy would be established in the United States
in his time; but he believed it would come eventually
because jealousy, envy, and ingratitude had ruined every
democracy and every aristocracy and every mixture of the
two. America would be no exception to the march of
history in other lands and in other times.! Adams’s opin-
ions were well known and found favor in the eyes of Hamil-
ton and his friends and were greatly disliked by many
others.? Washington’s ideas on monarchy, as on most
things, are locked up in his remarkable reticence. He had
once put aside the allurements of a crown; but now he
took part, with every appearance of willingness, in cere-
monials that dismayed and disgusted many persons of
republican and democratic proclivities. He had asked the’
advice of Adams and Hamilton as to what kind of station
he should keep, and the reply of the latter became the basis

18ee Old Family Letters copied for
Alezander Biddle, Series A., especially

archy should issue from the East? Isit -

not still stranger that John Adams, the

p. 60.

8 As early as June, 1789, Senator
Grayson of Virginia inquired of Patrick
Henry if it were not strange that ‘‘ Mon-

son of a tinker, and the creature of the
people, should be for titles and dignities
and preheminencies?’
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of his official conduct.! He decided not to maintain an
open table, as the presidents of Congress had done. He
determined to make no visits and not to receive callers,
except on certain stated public occasions. These came to
be called “levees,” where there was a good deal of stately
precision. Mrs. Washington also held her “ drawing-rooms,”
and both the President and his wife were present at public
balls.2 Washington drove about the capital city, whether
New York or Philadelphia, in a coach drawn by four cream-
colored horses, quite after the Guelphic manner. He made
three journeys over the country, which might fairly be
likened to royal progresses. An ancient farmer greeted
him with “God bless your reign”; a gratulary poet?
recited to him: —

“Thy Glory beams to Eastern skies,
See! Europe shares the sacred flame —
And hosts of patriot heroes rise,
To emulate thy glorious name.”

The people, having few days of relaxation and missing their
colonial habit of celebrating the natal day of the reigning
monarch, kept Washington’s birthday as a festival, and this

1 For their replies see Works of John
Adams, viii, 491 ; and J. C. Hamilton's
Writings of Alexander Hamillon, iv, p. 1.

2 Jefferson’s account of the inaugural
ball, or what served as such, with the
President and Mrs. Washington seated
on a oouch on a raised dais seems to be
incorrect; Mrs. Washington did not
reach New York until May 28. See
Elisabeth B. Johnston's Washington
Day by Day, 68, 79; and Rufus W.
Griswold’s Republican Court, 156. Some
such arrangement may very well have
been observed at later balls and been
confused in Jefferson’s memory with
the earlier function which took place
belore be left France.

3 For the other side of the picture,

see 8t. George Tucker's Probationary
Odes, which were first published in
Freneau’'s Gasefts in 1793 and were
gathered into book form with additions
in 1796, as, for instance: —

*“ Go on, Great CHIE®, to make us all,
Nor from your shoulders cast the ball,
Lest we, like worms, should drop,
‘Who on a golden pippin prey,
Till haply on some stormy day
*Tis shaken from the top.”

A suggestion which brings Washing-
ton rather near to the * common clay’’
is found in a letter, written by him
December 21, 1794, and printed in
Bulletin of the New York Public Library,
ii, 118.
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was enumerated in the opposition newspa'pers as one of
the “Forerunners of Monarchy and Aristocracy in the
United States.” The establishment instituted by Wash-
ington would have fitted well the sovereign of some lesser
European principality. It was entirely beyond the views
of those who arranged the salary list, and it aroused the
suspicions of very many persons who had nearly made up
their minds to support the new government.

Sectionalism had begun with the first settlement of the
country, owing to the different industrial conditions of the
regions then occupied. The same sort of people went to
Virginia and to New England; they desired to do similar
things, but were forced to adapt themselves to their natural
environments. The Virginians tried to introduce concen-
trated municipal life, entirely without success; the Massa-
chusetts leaders attempted to work their lands in large
units ; they were obliged to content themselves with farm-
ing on a moderate scale and to utilize the rest of their strength
in commerce and in the rougher forms of manufacturing.
" The separation between agrarian and capitalistic effort was
not so pronounced in New York and Pennsylvania, or,
perhaps, it would be better to say that both were present
in the Middle Colonies. These primal differences were
soon greatly accentuated by the introduction of black ser-

vile labor, which proved to be unsuited to the North and -

most congenial to the South. With the development of
slavery the southern agriculturist became a magnate, the
white race an aristocracy, and its more prosperous and
stronger men a true landed oligarchy, — the “Virginia
Lordlings,” as Stephen Higginson termed them.! They

! American Historical Association's landed aristocracy on all fours with
Reports, 189_6. p. 836. Virginia pre- that of England, between the days of
sented the interesting spectacle of a the *‘robber barons” and the brewery
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mer of 1793 carried off so many of the leaders that the
project came to an abrupt ending.

As the years went by, Jefferson became more and more
the leader of the opposition. His political methods were
inscrutable. By inheritance, he was a plantation magnate,
by nature he was a scholastic hermit, living a life of retire-
ment on his estate — or wherever he chanced to be. He
charmed both men and women by his talk, but could not
make a speech to a crowd of his assembled fellow citizens.
He lacked the particular kind of personal magnetism that
is nowadays looked upon as essential to a political leader.
Apparently, Jefferson was as unfitted to found and drill
a great party as any man who has appeared in the front
rank of American history. He early realized that the news-
papers were essential to the formation of public opinion.
Indeed, if he had had his choice between government by
publicity and government by compulsion, he would have
taken the former. He found his self-imposed task very
difficult, for the success of the new government which
alarmed him did not arouse misgivings in the minds of a
large portion of his countrymen.! To focus public opinion
in opposition to the evil acts of the Hamiltonians, he es-
tablished, or helped to establish, a newspaper at Philadelphia.
This was the ‘“National Gazette,” which was edited by
Philip Freneau, who is best known as a writer of verse.?

1 See letters from Joseph Jones to
Madison in Massachusetts Historical
Bociety’s Proceedings for June, 1901,
pp. 117-161. In the introduction to
these letters, Worthington C. Ford has
given one of the best and briefest ac-
counts of the origin of the Jeffersonian

party.

3 S8ee P. L. Ford’s “Freneau's Na-
tional Gasette" in The Nation for Feb-
ruary 21, 1895. Writings of Madison
(Hunt), vi, 46 and note, 117; Writings
of Jeflerson (Ford), v, 330, 373; leotter

of Edanus Burke in G. Hunt's * Office~
Seeking during Jefferson’s Adminis-
tration’ in American Historical Review,
jii, 279. In the ‘Hamilton Manu-
scripts” at Washington are two bits of
information which seem to show that
Hamilton got his idea that Jefferson
was at the bottom of the founding of the
National Gazette from Francis Childs,
the New York printer, through Jonathan
Dayton; see Hamilton to Rufus King,
July 25, 1792, and Dayton to Hamilton,
Aug. 26, 1792,



156 THE RISE OF POLITICAL PARTIES [Cu. VI

year, Washington devoted a large portion of the farewell
address to his “Friends, & Fellow-Citizens’ to arguing for
the continuance of the “Unity of Government.” ! In the
first writing of the address, he adverted to the constant
assertions that were made as to the small amount of affec-
tion of the several parts of the United States for each other,
and that the Union would be dissolved if this measure or
that measure were passed. These intimations were indis-
creet, he thought, and tended to teach the minds of men to
consider the Union as an object to which they ought not
to attach their hopes and fortunes. The most notable
deliverance on the subject of disunion came from Jefferson
in 1798 in a letter to John Taylor of Caroline. Taylor had
suggested to a common friend ? that the way out of all the
difficulties that were besetting the South was for that sec-
tion to separate from the North. Jefferson acknowledged
that they were then under “the saddle of Massachusetts
and Connecticut,” but the temporary superiority of one
portion of the country over the rest was no justification
for “a scission of the Union.” -If the New England States
were cut off, a Pennsylvania and a Virginia party would

1 This address has been printed over
and over again, nowhere better than
in Avery's History of the United States
(vii, 407). Washington looked upon
the federal system as the * palladium of
your political safety and prosperity.”
He thought the people should *“‘rev-
erence the Union,” suit their actions to
that idea, and discountenance any
suspicion that it can be abandoned.
As to the authorship of the address, see
Works of Alexander Hamilton (Lodge),
vii, 143 note, and Horace Binney's
Inquiry into the Formation of Washing-
ton's Farewell Address (Philadelphisa,
1859).

tJune 4, 1708, Jefferson at Phila-
delphia wrote to John Taylor as fol-
lows: —

‘“MT?. New shewed me your letter on

the subject, of the patent, which gave
me an opportunity of observing what
you said as to the effect with you of
public proceedings, and that it was not
unusual now to estimate the separate
mass of Virginia and N. Carolina, with
a view to their separate existence.”

See the letter in the * Washburn Col-
lection of Autographs’ in the oabinet
of the Massachusetts Historical Society,
and printed in its Collections, as above,
with trifling differences (7th Series, i,
61, 62). As printed in Ford's Jefferson
(vii, 263) the words * not unusual’’ are
given ‘“‘not unwise.” A note pasted
into some copies states that the correct
reading is ‘' not usual” and refers to the
Southern Literary Messenger for May,
1838 (iv, 344), which states correctly
the reading, **it was not unusual now."”
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asserted over and over again that the Federalists were
under British influence.! There was a groundwork of
truth in both assertions. Senator Bingham, one of the
most influential men in that party, was closely connected
with American financiers and with the Barings of London,
as has already been noted, and the same thing was true
of Robert Morris, Bingham’s predecessor in the Senate.
Gouverneur Morris had taken a very prominent part in
the framing of the Constitution and had then gone to
Europe to represent the financial interests of Robert Morris,
Henry Knox, and other Americans. In an audience with
King George he reminded the monarch that his own eldest
brother was the husband of the Duke of Gordon’s daughter,
a lieutenant-general in the British army, and at that very
moment in command of the fortress at Plymouth. In the
latter half of this decade, Gouverneur Morris travelled over
central Europe, seemingly as the confidential, though
unofficial, representative of Lord Grenville, the head of the
British Foreign Office.? It is worth noting, too, that the
sister of William Duer, whose name has so often appeared
in these pages, was the wife of George Rose, Secretary of
the British Lords of the Treasury, and one of William Pitt’s
right-hand men. There is little doubt as to the interlock-
ing of the financial and political interests of the rulers of the
Federalist party, and little doubt of their close connection
with persons high in finance and politics in Great Britain.
There were English and Scottish commercial firms and
agencies at Richmond and Charleston and other places
in the South as well as in the commercial centers of the
North; but they had no such relations with their Southern

t One of the earliost asseverations as 3 8ee Dropmore Manuscripts, iii, 87,
to British influence was made by Genét 226, 563 in Royal Historieal Manu-

in August, 1793, according to Noah scripts Commission's Report for 1899.
Webster. See Skeel’s Webster, i, 370.
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government itself owed its very existence to that organic
law. By changing the words of the original instrument,
the constitutional status of the government might be im-
perilled. It was decided, therefore, to place the amend-
ments by themselves at the end of the document. Twelve
amendments were adopted by Congress and submitted to
the States (September 25, 1789). Two of the twelve were
rejected because they dealt with matters of detail. Of
the ten that were adopted, the first eight had to do with
the rights of individuals and were restrictions upon the
exercise of power by the central government. The other
two amendments, the ninth and the tenth, were actual
changes in the nature of the fundamental law and were
intended to place a limitation on the strong nationalistic
tendency of the Constitution. In none of these amend-
ments was any attempt made to define the word “power”
and the phrase “necessary and proper’” used in section
eight of the first article of the Constitution itself. Yet
that was the moment for the enemies of a strong central
government to carry their point. The Constitution is
hardly more than paragraphs of precepts which are to be
defined and executed according to a strict or liberal inter-
pretation. It was inevitable that if the strict interpreta-
tion was not insisted upon at the beginning, the other would
become the accepted canon.

On one subject connected with the general distributions
of powers, there soon came to be a reasonable amount of
unanimity. A clause that had suddenly appeared in the
draft of the Constitution, on its emergence from one of
the committees ! to which it was referred, was that which
provided for the suability of a State by a citizen of another

1Oliver Ellsworth, in his old age, five who drew up that Constitution.”
declared that “ he himself wasone of the W. G. Brown's Oliver Ellsworth, 170.
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his wishes. Almost never has a political party been so
efficiently and so secretly marshalled and led. Much of
this success was due to the wise counsel and skill displayed
by Albert Gallatin as leader of the opposition in Congress.
This extraordinary man was a Swiss from Geneva. He
had crossed the Atlantic in pursuit of “Liberty.” After
participating in the Revolutionary contest in eastern Maine,
he had taught French at Harvard College, had lived a year
or two in Virginia, and had then turned farmer and store-
keeper in western Pennsylvania. According to his own
account, he was a bad farmer and a poor merchant, and
spent more of his time in reading than he did in business.!
He had been involved in the Whiskey Insurrection and
largely for this reason had been denied a seat in the national
Senate. In 1795, however, he was permitted to enter the
House of Representatives. He at once took the lead of the
opposition, Madison turning over to him the power that
hitherto he had wielded.

The Federalists had more organization than the Repub-
licans. For one thing they had the advantage of occupy-
ing nearly all of the federal offices. Then, too, presiding
over the party’s destinies were a dozen men of great ability
and administrative experience. Three things were in the
way of their continued success. The first was the undoubted
unpopularity which Jefferson had managed to cast about
several of their measures. Another was the autocratic
tone of the leaders. A Federalist letter always begins “It
is decided” or “It has been determined,” — the “it”
meaning that either Hamilton, or two or three men guided

1Por Gallatin’s early career, see he wrote to Lewis F. Delesdernier,
Henry Adams’s Life of Albert Gallatin, dated Philadelphia, May 25, 1798; see
1-75. The statements given in the Maine Historical Society’s Collections,
text as to Gallatin's lack of success in  vi, 100, 101.
business are taken from a letter that
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country, thus redstablishing the sovereign irresponsibility
of the States.

When Jefferson came to New York in March, 1790, he
looked upon Hamilton with favorable eyes as the co-worker
with Madison, his own most intimate friend. For some
months the two labored in harmony to organize the new
system. The first hint of distrust of Jefferson on Hamil-
ton’s part is in a memorandum made by Colonel Beckwith,
in which the Secretary of the Treasury is represented as
speaking of Jefferson’s opinions respecting the British gov-
ernment and “possible predilections elsewhere,”’ namely,
in favor of France.! Jefferson, at very nearly the same
point of time, began to question Hamilton’s financial doings.
Sundry accounts had been printed from the Treasury De- .
partment. Few dates were given to the separate items
and some of them were very vaguely stated.? Jefferson
asked Hamilton for something more definite, as he had a
right to do as one of the trustees of the sinking fund. He
got no satisfaction. As time went on, he became greatly
distressed at the extent to which speculation ran. From
this beginning, he became thoroughly distrustful, especially
as he was convinced that the capital that so eagerly went
into the bank, into commerce, and into speculative ventures
of all kinds was so much drawn from agriculture. Worth-
ington Ford, in one of his illuminating and elusive editorial
notes, declares that the trouble with the Virginians was
that in estimating the produce of their tobacco crops they
added two and two together to make five, while their agents

1 This comes out in a memorandum
made by Colonel Beckwith; see Cana-
dian Archives, 1880, p. 148; for the
identification of persons, see ibid., xli.

2 Joseph Jones, another Virginian,
had similar trouble. He found Ham-
ilton’s report on the sinking fund *in-
tricate and so complicated it appears to

one to require some time and attention
to understand. At first view I think
it well calculated to keep us all in the
dark excepting those . . . who thrive on
speculation.” Massachusetts Histori-
cal Society’s Proceedings, S8econd Series,
xv, 122n, 140.
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in England could only make three by the same process.
There was something hopelessly optimistic in a Virginia
planter’s calculations as to the profits that were coming
to him and something hopelessly pessimistic as to the busi-
ness performances of other persons.

In the spring of 1792, Jefferson stated his opinions as
to public policies in a letter to Washington. The public
debt, he declared, was greater than could possibly be paid.
It had been created by adding together the creditor and
debtor sides of the accounts and other projects were on
foot to increase the mass of the debt. The ultimate object
was to pave the way for the establishment of monarchy.
The financial system had already produced a mass of spec-
ulators who had got into Congress and made a majority
in both Houses. Jefferson had been communicating these
thoughts to his confidential correspondents for some time.
In writing to Washington, he fully realized that his letter
would at once be turned over to Hamilton, which was exactly
what happened. Replying to Jefferson, Washington de-
plored the dissensions that had taken place among his
advisers. In rejoinder, Jefferson denied that he had ever
intrigued with the legislative department and he had med-
dled with the other executive departments as little as
possible. At the time of the assumption of the State
debts, Hamilton had made a tool of him and he had then
interfered with legislation; but he had never used his
influence to defeat the Secretary’s plans. Jefferson ad-
mitted that he had expressed disapproval of the Hamilto-
nian system in private conversations; but this was because
it flowed from principles adverse to liberty and calculated
to undermine the republic. In the circumstances, he
implored the President to serve another term, and Wash-

ington consenting, Jefferson, himself, agreed to remain
VOL. IV.—X
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at the Department of State for the coming year, 1793.
Jefferson had analyzed correctly enough the motives that
actuated Hamilton and the means by which he was carry-
ing out his policy. Not being able to secure a ‘“strong
government’’ directly through the Federal Convention,
Hamilton was gradually building up such an organization
by a liberal irterpretation of the Constitution and by ex-
ecutive action. Years afterward, in his old age, Madison
accounted for the breach between Jefferson and himself,
on the one side, and Washington and Hamilton, on the
other, by Hamilton’s making perfectly plain ‘“his purpose
and endeavour to administration [administer] the Govern-
ment into a thing totally different from that which he
and I both knew perfectly well had been understood and
intended by the Convention who framed it, and by the
People adopting it.” ?

Jefferson undertook the task of consohdatmg and har-
monizing the forces that were opposed to Hamilton and all
his works. Superficially Jefferson would seem to be far
removed from the successful politician. He was an idealist,
a believer in the perfectability of human nature, and a
student of prehistoric beasts. His earlier life in the re-
moter parts of Virginia had freed his mind from many of
the shackles of civilization, the struggles of the American
Revolution had strengthened his radicalism, and inter-
course with the leaders of the first phases of the French
Revolution had intensified it. To Jefferson the people

! Nicholas P. Trist to Martin Van
Buren, May 31, 1857, “Van Buren
Manuscripts’ in Library of Congress.
This paper was brought to my attention
by Mr, Gaillard Hunt, to whom I am
indebted for many courtesies. In a
somewhat similar vein, in a letter to
Lafayette, dated December 25, 1708,
Washington charged the Republicans
with the intention to ‘‘oppose the gov-

ernment in all its measures, and . . . by
clogging its wheels indirectly to change
thenstureofit and to subvert the con-
stitution.” Writings of Washington
(Ford), xiv, 123. There is a keen and
ducnmmatmc analysis of Hamilton's
motives in W. G. Bumner's Alexander
Hamilton in the  Makers of America"
series.
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were the only sure reliance for the preservation of liberty.
They should be educated and informed, so that they might
see it was for their interest to preserve peace and order.
For monarchies and aristocracies and oligarchies, he had
dread and contempt. There should be a rebellion every
twenty years to warn rulers that the people have preserved
the spirit of resistance. ‘““The tree of liberty must be
refreshed, from time to time, with the blood of patriots
and tyrants. It is its natural manure.”! “Were there
but an Adam & an Eve left in every country, & left free,
it would be better than as it now is.”* What were the
tranquillity and ease of a few years in comparison with
the happiness of millions to come? In the existing condi-
tion of human depravity — due to ignorance — there must
be government by compulsion. There should be as little
of it as possible, — just enough to keep men from inter-
fering with the rights of others to life, liberty, and the pur-
suit of happiness. Jefferson had some small faith in repre-
sentative institutions, but charters, constitutions, and laws
had no sanctity in his eyes. He even advocated the end-
ing of all constitutions and laws at stated periods that the
people might begin again with a clean slate® Coupled
with these extremely radical notions, one finds some things
more nearly allied to his social position on the fringe of the
Virginia aristocracy. Thus in 1788, the Paris world seemed
to him politically mad and the French people not yet ripe
for receiving the blessings to which they were entitled by
the laws of nature.*

1To W. 8. Bmith, and to Madison, after this time, when the holding of
Paris, November and December, 1787;  high office may have temporarily sapped
Dlplondlc Correspondence, 1783—1789 his theoretical radicalism, he wrote to
iii, 340, Peale, the artist, whose son was to take
'Wnbnpolhlcrm(l?ord) vi, 154. the bones of a mammoth to Europe for
8 Itid., v, 115-124. exhibition, that he would better divide
‘M, v, 9, 58. Fourteen years the spectators into three groups to keep
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In 1793, the war between England and France came into
American politics, greatly complicating the issues. The
“monocrats,” as Jefferson dubbed the followers of Hamil-
ton, strove vigorously for justice to England; American
citizens, they agreed, ought to reject ‘“all novelties and
innovations” and guard against “any deterioration of our
principles.” ! They held that modern French ideas were
inconsistent with the present state of society in America,
— as, indeed, they were. The Hamiltonians, or Federalists,
as they were now called, believed in aristocracies and looked
upon themselves as the best people and the wisest. As one
of the other side put it: ‘“Fedralism” charmed by the
allurements of its melody ““the learned, the wise, the polite,
the reputable, the honorable, and virtuous:” all the rest
of the world were “poor, ignorant asses.”” George Cabot
— the Sage of Massachusetts Federalism — had no faith
whatever in the rule of the people; his panacea for the
ills assailing American society was to confine the franchise
to those possessing a considerable amount of landed prop-
erty. Other Federalists would not have gone as far as
this, but that party was reactionary and aristocratic from
start to finish and became more reactionary and more aris-
tocratic with each successive year.

At the opposite end of the line, the radicals warmly
welcomed French revolutionary ideas and adopted Parisian
modes with startling alacrity. They mounted the cockade,
wore the red cap, sang the “Ca ira,”” and formed democratic
societies. They were most forward in Pennsylvania, for
there radicalism was the most rampant. The formation
of societies spread to other parts of the country, and a sort
of organization of the whole was on the point of being ef-
fected when the yellow fever at Philadelphia in the sum-

“the decent part of them" from being etc. Ibid., viii, 152.
mixed with pickpockets, chimney sweeps, 18keel’'s Noah Webster, i, 383.
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mer of 1793 carried off 80 many of the leaders that the
project came to an abrupt ending.

As the years went by, Jefferson became more and more
the leader of the opposition. His political methods were
inscrutable. By inheritance, he was a plantation magnate,
by nature he was a scholastic hermit, living a life of retire-
ment on his estate — or wherever he chanced to be. He
charmed both men and women by his talk, but could not
make a speech to a crowd of his assembled fellow citizens.
He lacked the particular kind of personal magnetism that
is nowadays looked upon as essential to a political leader.
Apparently, Jefferson was as unfitted to found and drill
a great party as any man who has appeared in the front
rank of American history. He early realized that the news-
papers were essential to the formation of public opinion.
Indeed, if he had had his choice between government by
publicity and government by compulsion, he would have
taken the former. He found his self-imposed task very
difficult, for the success of the new government which
alarmed him did not arouse misgivings in the minds of a
large portion of his countrymen.! To focus public opinion
in opposition to the evil acts of the Hamiltonians, he es-
tablished, or helped to establish, a newspaper at Philadelphia.
This was the “National Gazette,”” which was edited by
Philip Freneau, who is best known as a writer of verse.?

1 8ee letters from Joseph Jones to
Madison in Massachusetts Historical
Bociety’s Proceedings for June, 1901,
pp. 117-161. In the introduction to
these lotters, Worthington C. Ford has
given one of the best and briefest ac-
oounts of the origin of the Jeffersonian

party.

3 S8ee P. L. Ford's ‘' Freneau's Na-
tional Gasette" in TAs Nation for Feb-
ruary 21, 1895. Writings of Madison
(Hunt), vi, 46 and note, 117; Writings
of Jefferson (Ford), v, 330, 373; letter

of Adanus Burke in G. Hunt's * Office-
Seeking during Jefferson’'s Adminis-
tration’’ in American Historical Review,
iii, 2790. In the *“Hamilton Manu-
scripts’ at Washington are two bits of
information which seem to show that
Hamilton got his idea that Jefferson
was at the bottom of the founding of the
National Gasetts from Francis Childs,
the New York printer, through Jonathan
Dayton; see Hamilton to Rufus King,
July 25, 1792, and Dayton to Hamilton,
Aug. 26, 1792.
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Jefferson’s connection with this undertaking is obscure,
#s is pretty much everything else in his political catreer.
He welcomed Freneau, gave him a small clerkship in the
Department of State, did what he could to promote the
circulation of the paper, and contributed to it indirectly.
Freneau’s “Gazette” had only a short life, but its place
was more than filled by the “General "Advertiser” or
“Aurora,” as it was termed after the first year or so. Its
first editor was Benjamin Franklin Bache, grandson of
Dr. Franklin, and inheritor of his prejudices. The -“Au- -
rora” soon developed a feature of personal abuse which -
had hitherto been absent, but was to be wofully extended
by William Duane, who succeeded to the paper and to the
prejudices. The obstacles to the establishment of an in-
fluential newspaper were the small amount of advertising
and the high cost of delivery. The latter led to the estab-
lishment of countless local papers. These copied exten-
sively from the leading city papers and thus transmitted,
though very slowly, news and partisan opinions from one
end of the country to the other.

On his retirement from the Department of State! to
Monticello, Jefferson was a disheartened man; so far he
had made very little headway in his opposition to Hamilton,
who had vexed him by referring to the Republican Party
as a faction. The friction with Britain preceding Jay's
Treaty seemed to him to give a new lead. He now re-
doubled his efforts to discredit the Hamiltonians by con-
necting them with the speculation and with the British.
He talked and wrote about a ‘corrupt squadron’ that
existed in Congress to carry through Hamilton’s plans, and

1 Paul Leicester Ford (Wnitingse of have him at their houses. It was at about
Jefferson, vi, 116 note) writes that class  this time that Jefferson asked Madison

feeling in Philadelphia was 80 keen that if it would be wise to coalesce with the
only three of Jefferson’s equals would democrata?
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asserted over and over again that the Federalists were
under British influence.! There was a groundwork of
truth in both assertions. Senator Bingham, one of the
most influential men in that party, was closely connected
with American financiers and with the Barings of London,
as has already been noted, and the same thing was true
of Robert Morris, Bingham’s predecessor in the Senate.
Gouverneur Morris had taken a very prominent part in
the framing of the Constitution and had then gone to
Europe to represent the financial interests of Robert Morris,
Henry Knox, and other Americans. In an audience with
King George he reminded the monarch that his own eldest
brother was the husband of the Duke of Gordon’s daughter,
a lieutenant-general in the British army, and at that very
moment in command of the fortress at Plymouth. In the
latter half of this decade, Gouverneur Morris travelled over
central Europe, seemingly as the confidential, though
unofficial, representative of Lord Grenville, the head of the
British Foreign Office.? It is worth noting, too, that the
sister of William Duer, whose name has so often appeared
in these pages, was the wife of George Rose, Secretary of
the British Lords of the Treasury, and one of William Pitt’s
right-hand men. There is little doubt as to the interlock-
ing of the financial and political interests of the rulers of the
Federalist party, and little doubt of their close connection
with persons high in finance and politics in Great Britain.
There were English and Scottish commercial firms and
agencies at Richmond and Charleston and other places
in the South as well as in the commercial centers of the
North; but they had no such relations with their Southern

10mne of the earliost asseverations as 3 8ee Dropmore Manuscripts, iii, 87,
to British influence was made by Genst 226, 563 in Royal Historical Manu-

in August, 1793, according to Noah scripts Commission’s Report for 1899.
Webster. See Skeel's Webster, i, 370.
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customers and neighbors as existed between the London
capitalists and their Northern customers. They bought
tobacco, rice, and flour from the planters and marketed
them in Europe; or sold them on commission. They also
supplied the planters with imported goods. With few
exceptions Virginians were indebted to the commission
merchants, who were disliked as creditors and also as hav-
ing a commercial monopoly.! The cry of British influence,
therefore, found ready listeners in the Southern States. -
Jefferson soon found himself at the head of what may
well be called a political organization, although the con-
necting bonds were vague, and, for the time being, the
number of persons taking part was distinctly limited. They
were men of remarkable political astuteness, and many of
them achieved great success in the eyes of the world. Two
of them, Madison and Monroe, occupied the President’s
office in succession to Jefferson; and a third, Albert Galla-
tin, was only second to these, if he was that. The others
occupied important political stations, either in the national
government or in their States. Occasionally, Jefferson
consulted with his most intimate political friends. Other-
wise, he carried on his work by correspondence and by writ-
ings in the political press which he drew from his friends.
So far as can be seen, the Republican Party had no other
organization; but in every State and in every important
town by 1796, there were to be found men who looked to
Jefferson for their political salvation and for the salvation
of their country, and waited the opportunity to carry out

1 As a means of finding employment
for the slaves on his plantations, in the
off season of field work, Jefferson began
the manufacture of nails. He pro-
cured nail rods from Philadelphia and
had them beaten into proper shape at
Monticello and then found it impossible

to sell his product at Richmond, because
the hardware dealers there were afraid
to handle any nails except those of the
British forwarders to whom they neces-
sarily looked for financial favors.
Writings of Jefferson (Ford), vii, 50.
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his wishes. Almost never has a political party been so
efficiently and so secretly marshalled and led. Much of
this success was due to the wise counsel and skill displayed
by Albert Gallatin as leader of the opposition in Congress.
This extraordinary man was a Swiss from Geneva. He
had crossed the Atlantic in pursuit of “Liberty.” After
participating in the Revolutionary contest in eastern Maine,
he had taught French at Harvard College, had lived a year
or two in Virginia, and had then turned farmer and store-
keeper in western Pennsylvania. According to his own
account, he was a bad farmer and a poor merchant, and
spent more of his time in reading than he did in business.!
He had been involved in the Whiskey Insurrection and
largely for this reason had been denied a seat in the national
Senate. In 1795, however, he was permitted to enter the
House of Representatives. He at once took the lead of the
opposition, Madison turning over to him the power that
hitherto he had wielded.

The Federalists had more organization than the Repub-
licans. For one thing they had the advantage of occupy-
ing nearly all of the federal offices. Then, too, presiding
over the party’s destinies were a dozen men of great ability
and administrative experience. Three things were in the
way of their continued success. The first was the undoubted
unpopularity which Jefferson had managed to cast about
several of their measures. Another was the autocratic
tone of the leaders. A Federalist letter always begins “It
is decided” or “It has been determined,” — the “it”
meaning that either Hamilton, or two or three men guided

1 For Qallatin's early oareer, see he wrote to Lewis F. Delesdernier,
Heoury Adams's Life of Albert Gallatin, dated Philadelphia, May 25, 1798; see
1-75. The statements given in the Maine Historical Society’s Collections,
text as to Gallatin’s lack of success in  vi, 100, 101.
business are taken from a letter that
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by him, had come to a certain conclusion. In similar cases,
on the other side of the political boundary, Jefferson’s
commands take the form of “Qur friends think;” the dif-
ference was wide and was vital. The third obstacle to the
long-continued predominance of the Federalist party was
the lack of harmony within its ranks which clustered about
the person and pretensions of John Adams.

As far back as the days of the Revolution, when Adams
was a member of the Continental Congress, he had fallen
under suspicion of the military group,' some of the members
of which were now at the head of the Federalist party.
He had opposed the permanency of military appointments
and had also upheld democratic principles. A wider ac-
quaintance with the world had changed his outlook. He
was known to be opposed to the calling of a general conven-
tion to change the Constitution, and, besides, as the Presi-
dent was to come from the South, it was only right that
the Vice-President should come from the North,—and
supporting Adams for the second place would cast the weight
of Massachusetts into the federal scale. These were the
reasons? that led Madison, the Morrises, and Hamilton to
advocate the election of John Adams to the vice-presidency
in 1788. As the State elections proceeded, Hamilton be-
came alarmed lest Adams should receive more electoral
votes than Washington. He wrote to influential persons
in Connecticut and New Jersey to induce them to see to it
that some of the electoral votes in their State were cast

1 John Adams to Nathanael Greene
in C. F. Adams’s Works of John Adams,

Papers” in the Library of Congress and
is dated only 1788 as in the printed

i, 263; J. C. Hamilton's Iife of Alex-
ander Hamillon, i, 419; Madison to
Jefferson, October 17, 1788 in Madison’s
Writings (Congress Ed.), i, 423, and also
id Hunt’s edition, v, 270.

2 W. A. Duer's Constitutional Juris-
prudence of the United States, 370. The
original letter is in the *‘ Madison

text. In a postcript Duer writes that
he had no objection to ' R. & G. Morris
seeing this letter,”” — a significant in-
dication of the political method of the
time. Duer writes on the authority
of Henry Knox that Adams will strenu-
ously oppose calling another general
convention.
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away from Adams.! The upshot was, that while Wash-
ington received one vote from every elector, Adams had
only thirty-four out of the sixty-nine second electoral votes.
A little later, when some busy-body carried the news of this
diversion of electoral votes to the Vice-President, it assumed
in his mind the shape of “a dark and dirty intrigue . . . to
spread a panic lest John Adams should be President.” ?
At first Adams had been consulted on affairs; but before
long Washington seems to have ceased advising with him.
Moreover, the Vice-President’s eagerness for high-sounding
titles and for the establishment of a strong government
alienated many persons who had expected to find in him an
apostle of democracy. They stigmatized him as a foe to
liberty and, garbling his printed statements, declared that
he wished to set the rich and the well-born by themselves
" in a Senate.® Nevertheless, his honesty and open ways
gave John Adams continued place in the affections of his
countrymen, and, besides, there was no other man in the
Federalist party to compete with him. He was retlected

1 This comes out in a letter from
Jeremiah Wadsworth to Hamilton,

an ostracism. A member of a senate,
of immense wealth, the most

dated **Hartford, February, 1789.” He
acknowledged the receipt of Hamilton's
Jetter of J-nunry 25, which came in good
time — “Our votes were given agree-
ably to your wishes — Washington,
7; Adams, §. Governor Huntington,
2."” J. C. Hamilton's Works of Alex-
ander Hamillon, i, 492.

* Adams to Benjamin Rush, June 9,
1789 i in Old Family Letters: copwni

3 John Adams'’s words are: “ Therich,
the well-born, and the able, aoquire an
influence among the people, that will
soon be too much for simple honesty
and plain sense, in a house of representa-
tives. The most illustrious of them must
therefore be separated from the mass,
and placed by themselves in a senate:
this is, to all honest and useful intents,

respected
birth, and transcendent abilities, has no
influence in the nation, in comparison
of what he would have in a single rep-
resentative assembly. When a senate
exists, the most powerful man in the
state may be safely admitted into the
house of representatives, because the
people have it in their power to remove
him into the senate as soon as his in-
fluence becomes dangerous.” This ooc-
curs on the 13th page of the preface
to the original edition of Adams's De-
Jence of the Constitutions of Government
of the United States of America (London,
1787). The whole essay seems to be
rather innocuous and, indeed, hardly
toduervothoplmﬂnthubemdven
it. See, however, C. M. Walsh’s The
Political Science of John Adams (New
York, 1915).

'
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to the second place, in 1792, and when Washington an-
nounced his determination to retire from public life in 1796,
no other Federalist stood a chance against John Adams for
the first place.

It must not be supposed that Jefferson had it all his
own way in the opposition party, although he was distinctly
the leader. There were the Pennsylvania democrats with
whom he had hesitated to coalesce; and then there were
the New York politicians, who always had their own ideas
as to their merits and due rewards. Among these was
Aaron Burr, one of the most extraordinary and lamentable
figures of American political history. He was of good Con-
necticut family. His wifé was the widow of an officer in
the British army. At the outset, Burr, like so many others,
was disposed to support Washington and the administra-
tion, but like nearly every one else, he expected to be recog-
nized by those in power. Burr and Hamilton were rivals
in law and local politics, and Burr was the more dextrous.
He thought his friends should have some part in the new
arrangements; but Hamilton was determined to fill every
place, elective or appointive, and Burr was forced into
opposition with the Livingstons and the Clintons. In
1791, he caused himself to be chosen to the national Senate.
He made such skilful use of all the opportunities that came
in his way that he was unquestionably the second personage
in the opposition, and was, therefore, necessarily the candi-
date of the Republican party for Vice-President in 1796,
so far as there was any.

As the year 1796 drew on, it became evident that four
candidates would gain nearly all the electoral votes. On
the Federalist side, John Adams and Thomas Pinckney !
were most prominent. The latter had gained considerable

1 For a differentiation of the Pinckneys, see Note on p. 210.
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applause, especially in the South, by the negotiation of
the Spanish treaty of 1795. The other two most prominent
personages in the minds of the electors were Jefferson and
Burr. There were thus two Southerners and two North-
erners on whom the voting was certain to be concentrated.
In the lax party ties of the time, sectional preferences were
likely to exercise a powerful influence, especially as Burr
was as obnoxious to Jefferson as Adams was to the Hamil-
tonians. As the months went by there was strong proba-
bility that many Southern electors would vote for Pinckney
and Jefferson, thus leaving out of account both Adams and
Burr. For fear that something of this kind might happen
eighteen Northern electors gave their second votes to some
one other than Pinckney. On the other hand, the eight
South Carolinians voted solidly for Pinckney and Jefferson.
When the votes were counted, it was found that Adams had
seventy-one votes, Jefferson sixty-eight, Pinckney fifty-
nine, and Burr thirty. This gave the presidency to Adams,
the vice-presidency to Jefferson, and showed that Burr
would have to be seriously reckoned with in the future.
While the election was still in doubt, Jefferson wrote to
Madison authorizing him in case of a tie between himself
and Adams to solicit votes for the latter, as he was the senior
and had always preceded him in the march of public life.
He also wrote a friendly letter to Adams which Madison
might deliver or not as he thought best. One of the most
dramatic moments in our history was at the close of the
inauguration or instalment of John Adams on March 4,
1797. It occurred after the ending of his inaugural address,
when, descending to the floor, he started to leave the hall,
first stepping back to give his predecessor the precedence.
This Washington declined and went down the hall following
the new President and the new Vice-President of the United
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States. It was not in a similar spirit that the radical Repub-
licans hailed Washington’s departure from office: “‘Lord,
now lettest thou thy servant depart in peace, for mine
eyes have seen thy salvation’ . . . for the man, who is
the source of all the misfortunes of our country, is this day
reduced to a level with his fellow-citizens.”” ! This classic
of unseemly libel, as Worthington Ford has so aptly termed
it, was merely a repetition, unconscious probably, of what
Jefferson had written in the preceding year to Madison:
“I wish that his [Washington’s] honesty and his political
errors may not furnish a second occasion to exclaim, ‘curse

on his virtues, the’ve undone his country!’”

1 The Aurora of March 6, 1797.
These words were written by Franklin's
grandson, B. F. Bache, and reflect the
family resentment at the chilling treat-
ment of the venerable sage by Washing-
ton. See W. C. Ford's Spurious Letters
Attribuled to Washington, 158. Duane
disclaimed the authorship in New-Eng-
land Historical and Genealogical Register,
xxv, 386.

As very few copies of this number of
The Aurora have stood the rack of time,

pasaage is here given in full : —

* *Lord, now lettest thou thy servant
depart in peace, for mine eyes have seen
thy salvation,” was the pious ejacula-
tion of a man who beheld a flood of
happiness rushing in upon mankind.
If ever there was a time that would li-
oense the reiteration of the exclamation,
that time is now arrived; for the man
who is the source of all the misfortunes
of our country, is this day reduced to
a level with his fellow citizens, and is no
longer possessed of power to multiply
evils upon the United States. If ever
there was a period for rejoicing, this is

the moment — every heart, in unison
with the freedom and happiness of the
people, ought to beat high with ex-
ultation that the name of WasHINGTON
from this day oeases to give a currency
to political iniquity, and to legalise
ocorruption. A new sra is now opening
upon us, an @ra which promises much
to the people; for public measures
must now stand upon their own merits,
and nefarious projects can no longer be
supported by a name. When a retro-
spect is taken of the WABHINGTONIAN
administration for eight years, it is
a subject of the greatest astonishment,
that a single individual should have
cankered the principles of republican-
ism in an enlightened people, just
emerged from the gulph of despotism,
and should have carried his designs
against the public liberty so far, as to
have put in jeopardy its very existence.
Such however are the facts, and with
these staring us in the face, this day
ought to be a JusiLes in the United
States.”
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NOTE

Political Manners. — With the halos that now illumine the heads
of Washington and Adams, it is difficult to understand the language
that was applied to them in the last years of the eighteenth century
and also the language that they themselves sometimes employed.
Bache’s valedictory has been given in the text. Jefferson, writing
to Mazzei! and plainly referring to Washington, told him that he
would be surprised to learn the names of those “ who were Samsons
in the field & Solomons in the council, but who have had their heads
shorn by the harlot England.” Paine’s letter * to Washington went
beyond all bounds, even beyond Bache: “ And as to you, sir,
treacherous in private friendship, and a hypocrite in public life, the
world would be puzzled to decide, whether you are an apostate or an
imposter; whether you have abandoned good principles, or whether
you ever had any.” Washington, on his part, held a vigorous pen.
He described himself as having been attacked ““ in such exaggerated
and indecent terms as could scarcely be applied to a Nero, a notorious
defaulter, or even to a common pickpocket.” 3

Among the most picturesque figures was Matthew Lyon, an Irish-
man of Ulster stock, from county Wicklow, who was in Congress from
the State of Vermont.* He refused to march in the procession to
present an address to Washington and, later getting into controversy
with Representative Griswold of Connecticut, spat in his face, and
the two of them took to sticks and tongs on the floor of the House.
Lyon later became a Kentucky frontiersman, — the *“ Beast of Ver-
mont prowls in the western wilderness.” He turned upon some of his
old friends with verbal ferocity. Indignantly denying Randolph’s
charge that he had been bribed, Lyon thanked his * Creator that he
gave him the face of a man, not that of an ape or a monkey.”

S Writings of Jefferson (Ford), vii, 3 Writings of Washington (Ford),
72, 74 note, 76. The letter is dated  xiii, 231.
Montiocello, April 24, 1796. Jefferson's ¢8ee J. Fairfax MoLaughlin’s Mat-
earlier letter is printed in #1id., vii, 69. thew Lyon, The Hampden of Congress
sBee Alevandria Gasetts, February (New York, 1900) ; Annals of Congress,
18, 1797. 8th Cong., 2nd Bess., 1126.



CHAPTER VII
AN INTERLUDE

BETWEEN the acts of the political and financial drama in
America, the X, Y, Z affair and the quasi-war with France
came on the stage to add to the strain of domestic strife.
When James Monroe arrived at Paris in August, 1794, he
found the French Revolutionary kaleidoscope turning with
great rapidity. He took a most fraternal tone toward the
powers that happened to be at the moment; but found
it difficult to keep up with the ever changing colors and
arrangements of parties. Revolutionists of every hue were
hungry for money, partly to line their own pockets and
partly to wage war against surrounding enemies. French-
men had helped the American people to get on their feet,
and to thrust out their ancient governor. Why should
not they reciprocate and aid their fellow-citizens of France
in dealing another stroke at perfidious Albion and all its
allies? It would be undesirable for them to take an open
part in the conflict on the side of France, because the mo-
ment their neutral character was violated the navies of
Britain would put an end to their supplying Frenchmen with
food. Would it not be possible for the United States to
anticipate payment of the rest of the debt still owing to
France and, perhaps, even to lend their fellow republicans
some new money? Monroe apparently left the United
States with assurances from Randolph, who was then Sec-

176
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retary of State, that Jay’s mission to England had no other
purpose than to put an end to the existing friction with
that country. French spies at London reported that the
new treaty would not be so innocuous as Monroe asserted.
He applied to Jay for information. This Jay was per-
fectly willing to give, provided Monroe would keep it to him-
self; but this was precisely what Monroe could not and
would not promise to do. When the treaty was published,
Pickering sent it to him with a long despatch directing him
to assure the French authorities that it had nothing to do
with previous treaties and to lay before them a long list of
grievances on the part of Americans against France. In-
stead of doing this, Monroe tried to palliate what seemed to
him to be the ill faith of his superiors at Philadelphia and
their envoy at London. There was a good deal to be said
- for the French view of the treaty, for any settlement of the
existing friction between the United States and Great
Britain would be of assistance to the latter and, therefore,
hostile to the interests of France. Moreover, although Jay’s
Treaty contained a clause saying in so many words that none
of the new conditions in it were to interfere with the obli-
gations of predxisting treaties, the arrangement that the
British might seize provisions on their way to France on
condition of making payment was likely to be of great
service to Britain and correspondingly harmful to France.
It was difficult for Monroe to explain away this actual,
though not technical, extension of the rule as to contra-
band. The suggestions that were made as to supplying
money to the Revolutionary cause seemed to him to be
reasonable; but the ceaseless fallings of the guillotine had
alienated the sympathies of great numbers of persons in
America and had made Americans unwilling to give aid
and comfort to the French revolutionists. Gouverneur
VOL. IV.—N
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Morris reported to the Federalist leaders the weakness of
Monroe’s action.! They, after their habit, put pressure
upon Washington to remove him and appoint another
person who would ascertain the views of the French gov-
ernment and faithfully report them to the President.
Washington yielded to the promptings of Hamilton and
Pickering, recalled Monroe (August, 1796), and sent in his
place Charles Cotesworth Pinckney of South Carolina, —
a stiff-necked Federalist. As between Britain and France
all his predilections were for the former, for he and his
brother, Thomas Pinckney, had been educated at West-
minster School and had grown up in intimate intercourse
with Englishmen. Thomas Pinckney, in 1795, had been
in Paris on his way to Madrid. He had with him a copy of
the project of Jay’s Treaty, but did not show it to Monroe.
He also held himself aloof from the French authorities and
did his own negotiating in Spain without asking their
intercession. Charles Cotesworth Pinckney was one of
the best examples of the Southern slave-holding aristocracy,
but his appointment at this precise moment to the French
mission was most unfortunate. Washington might as well
have sent Jay or Hamilton to Paris in 1796 as to have sent
him there. Pinckney landed at Bordeaux, and made the
best of his way to the French capital, which he reached

1 8ee letters from Hamilton to Wash-
ington in the Library of Congress.

383. In the ‘' Washington Manu-
scripts "’ in the Library of Congress,

One of these is dated May 5, 1796;
the other has no date, but is indorsed
as received on June 23, 1796. For a
more favorable view of Monroe's
early diplomatic career, see Beverly
W. Bond’s “The Monroe Mission to
France' in Johns Hopkins Universily
Studies, xxv, 55. Monroe’s own ao-
count is in his View of the Conduct of
the Ezecutive in Foreign Affairs of the
United States (Philadelphis, 1797). This
is reprinted in Writinge of Monvoe, iii,

there is a copy of this paper containing
‘Washington’s own comments on Mon-
roe's statements. This is printed in
Sparka's Washington, xi, 504. Itisone
of the few documents wherein Wash-
ington does not seem to be entirely dis-
ingenuous and possibly reflects the
impairment of his faculties upon which
his enemies so frequently insisted during
his presidency.

% James Monroe's View of the Conn
duct of the Ezecutive, 392.
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early in December. The Directory was now in power.
It refused to have anything to do with him and gave
increased point to its refusal by an affectionate adieu to
Monroe. Relations with France were in this trim when
Washington handed over the administration of the govern-
ment to Adams.

Schism in the Federalist party was probably inevitable.
Adams personified the opposition to militarism in any
form, — standing armies, or the existence of an official or
semi-official military clique. Hamilton, Pickering, and
McHenry had either been in Washington’s military family
or on his staff. They naturally looked to him and not to
Adams, who had persistently opposed in the old days
nearly every proposition that they had thought was neces-
sary for the efficiency of the army. Next to Washington,
or possibly even before him in the minds of Pickering and
McHenry, was Hamilton, who had bound to himself by
the brilliancy of his genius and the charm of his personal
manner a small but extremely faithful band of followers.
Pickering was Secretary of State and McHenry Secretary
of War. The Secretary of the Treasury was Oliver Wol-
cott. He had not served in the Revolutionary War, but
belonged to a coterie of Connecticut men who were very
close to the army. Wolcott was a person of fair ability and
skilled in routine ; Pickering was a most industrious second-
rate character; while McHenry was distinctly third-class.
In all matters of policy they looked to Hamilton for in-
spiration. Adams committed the blunder of retaining
these men in office. Probably in view of the still existing
confusion as to party government, he did not in any way re-
gard himself as the official head of the Federalist party and
still less could he have looked upon himself as the chief of
a group or clique. These men had served Washington well.
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Why should they not serve him equally well? Nowadays,
we Tecognize that it was Washington’s personality that
made it possible for him to consult Hamilton, make Hamil-
ton’s suggestions his own, and work in harmony with men
who likewise in every event consulted the same oracle!
Adams should have recognized that he was not Washing-
ton and must necessarily adopt other methods and work
with other men; but it is exceedingly difficult for any one
to realize his own limitations. Before leaving this part of
the subject, it seems desirable to say that Adams must have
been fully cognizant of the part played by Hamilton. For
eight years he had been close to the actual administration
and could hardly help knowing that Hamilton was con-
sulted on all important matters, not only by Washington,
but by the Heads of Departments. Nor was there anything
strange or out of the way in thus appealing for aid to the
man of greatest intellect and insight within the Federalist
ranks. When the time came for Adams to prepare his first
message to Congress, he asked the Heads of Departments
and the Attorney General for suggestions as to what should
be put into it. Wolcott and McHenry at once wrote to
Hamilton and, on receiving his reply, incorporated his ideas
into their own answers to Adams’s request, and Adams re-
peated a part of them in his speech to the two Houses.
This was almost exactly what Washington had done time
and again. There does not seem to have been any at-
tempt at concealment, and any one as familiar with Ham-

ardour of the President’s mind, and

1'As an example of the position as-
this specimen of the effects of that

sumed by Hamilton and accorded to

him by the leading Federalists, the
following extract is given from his letter
to Oliver Wolcott, dated New York,
June 5, 1798: ‘' Hitherto I have much
liked : the President's answers. . . .
But there are limits which must not be
passed, and from my knowledge of the

ardour, I begin to be apprehensive that
he may run into indiscretion. This
will do harm to the government, to the
cause, and to himself. Some hint must
be given, for we must make no mis-
takes.” George Gibba's Administrations
of Washington and John Adama, ii, 50.
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ilton’s mode of reasoning as Adams must have been, must
have known whence these suggestions came, and recognized
them. As to the other side, the Hamiltonians, who formed
the only organization that the Federalist party had, advo-
cated Adams’s election, because he was the only candidate
whom the Federalists could possibly have elected. They
knew his foibles and all the weaknesses of his character be-
fore the election. Having ranged themselves behind him,
they should have given him their most loyal and thorough
support.

Soon after Adams’s inauguration, the newspapers printed
letters to the effect that the French Directory would not
receive Pinckney.! Already, Adams had thought of send-
ing Jefferson to Paris? and no fitter appointment could
possibly have been made. The project was opposed by
Pickering and was vetoed by Jefferson himself. Con-
sidering the relationship of the Vice-President to the suc-
cession and the difficulty of trans-Atlantic communication
in those days, it would doubtless have been unwise and
perhaps against the spirit of the Constitution for the Vice-
President to have gone so far away from the seat of gov-
emnment. It is interesting to speculate, nevertheless, as
to what might have happened had Jefferson, with his ex-
perience with Frenchmen, his sympathy for the rights of
man, and his great power of dealing with individuals, gone
to France, — all the troubles of the next few years might
have been avoided. And had Adams and Jefferson worked
together in a non-partisan administration, how different the
history of the next few years might have been! But the
Hamiltonians would have none of it and Adams, instead of
then asserting himself, yielded to the wishes of those who

1 8oo Ths Columbian Mirror and Al- April, 1797, Works of Jokn Adams,
ezandria Gaselte, March 15, 1797. viii, 538.
$ Adams to Gerry, Philadelphis, 8
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had placed him in office. It is difficult to account for his
~ untimely meekness. He may have felt some of the same
misgivings that had influenced Washington eight years
earlier as to his administrative ability. It is certain that
the serious illness of Mrs. Adams greatly affected him,
for she had for many years been his chief counsellor. The
perusal of hundreds of pages of printed matter and a mass
of manuscripts has served to relieve John Adams of much
of the prejudice that an acquaintance with the annals of
his earlier life and the most unfortunate literary perform-
ances of his later years had left on the present writer’s
mind. Whether he was chastened by his wife’s illness, or
whether he was mellowed by the responsibility of his high
office, he certainly subordinated his opinions to those of
Pickering and the rest, placed responsibilities upon them
which very likely they should not have borne, had no sus-
picion of their good faith, and showed truly marvellous
patience under great provocation.

The appointment of Jefferson being out of the question,
it was determined! to send a commission to Paris to be
composed of three members, one of them being Charles C.
Pinckney. For the others, Adams selected John Marshall
of Virginia, and Francis Dana of Massachusetts. Mar-
shall accepted, but Dana refused to go. Adams, there-
upon, suggested the appointment of his old friend and fel-
low-worker, Elbridge Gerry. His services in Congress and
in the Federal Convention had been great, but as Repre-
sentative from Massachusetts he had voted against some
of the Hamiltonian measures and was not trusted by the

10On March 20, 1797, Adams asked questions. It was in conformity with
the three Secretaries and the Attorney these opinions that Adams appointed
General to take into consideration our the first Commission and prepared their
relations with France and report in instructions. “Jobn Adams Manu-
writing their opinions on fourteen stated  scripts’’ under date.
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Federalists. Pickering opposed the appointment, Adams
insisted upon it, and Gerry was confirmed by the Senate.
Marshall and Gerry crossed the ocean, were joined by
Pinckney, and on October 5, 1797, announced their arrival
to the Directory.! The moment was most inopportune.
Just a month earlier, the Directory had been revolutionized
by the ejectment of its more moderate members. The
battles off Cape St. Vincent in February and off Camper-
down in this very month of October temporarily put an
end to continental sea-power; but French armies had
been victorious on land? and time had not diminished
French resentment against the negotiation of Jay’s Treaty.
This feeling had been heightened by the seeming acquies-
cence of the United States in the most recent British Order
in Council directing the capture of ships carrying provisions
to the Continent. Rufus King had by this time succeeded
Thomas Pinckney as minister to England. He was soon
on most friendly terms with Grenville. The British were
capturing American provision ships, right and left, and
British Admiralty courts in the West Indies were enforcing
Jay’s Treaty as to contraband with the utmost rigor and,
indeed, without justification. On the other hand, the Brit-
ish were paying for the confiscated provisions and also for
the freight of the captured vessels, and Grenville was doing
everything in his power to restrain the activities of the
West Indian prize courts.

printed in Beveridge's Life of Jokn
Marshall, ii, 2567-335. The best short

! Bee American Siate Papers, Foreign
Relations (folio ed.), ii, 153-182, 185—

201, 204-238; writings, papers, and
memoirs of the American negotiators,
and Raymond Guyot’'s Le Direcloire of
la Paix de I'Europe (Paris, 1911), pp.
850-565. Marshall’s “Journal” de-
seribing his experiences in Franoce is in
the *‘Pickering Papers'’ in the cabinet
of the Maassachusetts Historical So-
ciety. Large extracts from it are

acoount of this episode iain the ** Notes"’
to the Treaties and Consentions betwesn
the United States and Other Powers (ed.
1873), p. 996.

2 The Treaty of Campo Formio on
October 17, 1797, placed the French
Republic in a distinctly better inter-
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The French government had tried to put pressure upon
America by ordering the seizure, sequestration, and con-
fiscation of American vessels bound to or from British ports
or having British goods on board. French privateers
swarmed in the Mediterranean and in the West Indies.!
American vessels were captured in all directions and con-
fiscated with their cargoes. One of these was the schooner
Sally of Plymouth, Massachusetts. She was taken by a
French privateer while on her homeward voyage from
Demerara in July, 1798. All her crew, except the mate,
were taken out and seven Frenchmen put on board. A
week later, the mate, with a handspike, despatched the
whole prize crew with the exception of one man and brought
the schooner safely home. Insurance mounted to almost
prohibitory figures, being no less than forty per cent of the
value of ship and cargo for a voyage to Jamaica and back.
Instead of convincing Americans of their helplessness, the
Frenchmen only aroused a desire to come to some agree-
ment with France like that which Jay had made with
England.

.Up to this time Frenchmen, in office or out, had been
unable to take the Neutrality Proclamation seriously.
They had refused to believe that the action of the govern-
ment was approved by the people of the United States.
French principles had been extended to the smaller Eu-
ropean States, why should they not be propagated in Amer-
ica, — why should not America be freed from the yoke of
its rulers as Holland and Hamburg had been? In each one
of these also, the invaders or the saviours, whichever way
one might regard them, had gathered up all the loose coin
that there was and the Batavian Republic had also been

10n August 25, 1798, Benjamin to eighty French privateers off Guada-

Stoddert, Secretary of the Navy, re- loupe and that eighty American vessels
ported that there were said to be sixty  were blocked at Havana.
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compelled to hand over to the authorities at Paris several
million florins in the form of bonds which were known as
“Batavian rescriptions.” About one-half of these Dutch
securities had been worked off on the Hamburgers at double
their real value as part of their city’s contribution to the
finances of the Directory and of France. Among the
bankers who had handled these bonds was one Hottinguer,
who was assisted in the deal by an American living in
Hamburg, named Bellamy,! and by Charles Maurice de
Talleyrand, once Abbé of Périgord and Bishop of Autun
and now foreign minister of France and later Prince de
Benevento. Like many another early revolutionist, Tal-
leyrand ? had fallen out with the Jacobins; but unlike many
of his comrades, he had saved his head by timely departure.
At first he found shelter in England, but, being ordered
out of that country, came to America, which was then a
haven of refuge for Frenchmen of all grades and opinions.
After two years or so of exile, the fall of Robespierre made
it possible for him to return to France, but he had prudently
tarried at Hamburg for some months in order to make
certain of his reception at Paris. In July, 1797, he was
appointed Minister of Foreign Affairs, but for a year was
hardly more than a clerk to the Directory.

In 1796, Pitt conceived the idea of making peace with
France, impelled thereto by the financial and social condi-
tions prevailing in England. His envoy, the Earl of Malmes-
ity from him in asking for money for

Talleyrand’s personal use.
3 See Beaufort’s translation of Bro-

1 The intimaoy of Talleyrand and
Bellamy comes out in a letter from
Joseph Pitcairn, United States consul

at Hamburg, to Rufus King, dated 29
June, 1798. He writes that Talleyrand
and Bellamy have made many bargains
and the latter does not intend to per-
mit the minister to sacrifice him.
Bellamy admitted that he was not
furnished with any writing from Tal-
leyrand, but that he had clear author-

glie’s Memoirs of the Prince de Talley-
rand, i, 169, 173, 187, 190. An
admirable brief and appreciative intro-
ductory notios of Talleyrand by White-
law Reid precedes the text of this
work. On May 19, 1704, he had taken
an oath of allegiance to Pennsylvania
and to the United States.
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bury, found the life of a diplomat at Paris very difficult,
for his footmen and coachmen had to wear thetri-color cock-
ade or keep off the streets. He returned to England in
one of the last days of December. The negotiations were
resumed at Lille in the summer of 1797. To that town
came agents from the Directory, of all sorts and degrees.
Their identities were concealed in the despatches under
the names of William, Henry, Edward, etc. One of them
is described as James Melvil, a “gentleman from Boston in
America.” Malmesbury did not see him, but Melvil told
one of the embassy that he had recently negotiated a treaty
with Portugal whereby the Directors had gained a million
between them. He now offered for four hundred and fifty
thousand pounds sterling to secure the signature of Barras,
the first Director, to a treaty that would guarantee to
England the colonies which her seamen had seized. Malmes-
bury being deaf to these proposals, “Mr. Melvil of Bos-
ton in America”’ went to London to see Mr. Pitt.' The
Prime Minister thought well of the plan and wrote to the

1 RBaymond Guyot has elucidated
this episode in his Le Directoire et la
Paiz de U'Europe, 1795-1799 (Paris,
1911), ch. xi, § vi. This part of his
study is based upon the archives at
Paris and also upon the papers of Lord
Grenville (Dropmore M omucnph) and of
William Pitt (Cl th Corr P
‘These two have been used to good pur-
pose by Professor Ephraim D. Adams
in his essay on The Influence of Gren-
ville on Put’'s Foreign Policy, 1787-1798
in the publications of the Carnegie In-
stitution. Rufus King was informed of
this intrigue by some one who knew
the facts and he forwarded the infor-
mation to the commissioners at Paris.
See the Life and Correspondence of Rufus
King, ii, 261, 262, and Diaries and Cor-
respondence of First Earl of Malmesbury,
iii, 250 and fol. It also appears from
entries in the Dropmore Manuscripls
(iii, 356, 360, 369, 378) and in the
Correspondence of Rufus King (i, 243)

that the members of the Directory in-
tended to share among themselves the
money that was obtained from Portugal
as they had already that which had been
procured from Naples. A table printed
in Beaufort’s tranalation of Broglie’s
Memoirs of Talleyrand, i, xviii note,
from Louis Bastide's biography of Tal-
leyrand, gives the amount of that states-
man's gains from foreign powers and
from speculations in the three years
following his return to France, at over
fourteen million francs, and this amount
does not include his gains from specu-
lations at the time of Napoleon’s ac-
cession to power. See also The Official
Correspondence relative to the Negoli-
ation for Peace, belween Greal Brilain
and the French Republick, as laid before
both Houses of Parliament (London,
1797) ; and Declaration of the Court of
Great Britain, respecting the late Negols-
ation (London, 1797).
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king advocating it, even suggesting a mode by which the
money could be procured without the negessity of going to
Parliament. His Majesty had no objection to buying a
peace, but advised caution. The negotiations continued
for some time with other persons until Admiral Duncan’s
victory over the Dutch off Camperdown made it quite un-
necessary to purchase Dutch colonies from the French, and
put an end to so many of Pitt’s other anxieties that there
was no longer any thought of buying peace at any price.
Day after day, from October, 1797 onwards, the Ameri-
can commissioners at Paris waited for a communication
from the French government as to the date of their formal
reception and the beginning of negotiations. None came.
Instead, mysterious personages visited them. These were
twobankers, Hottinguer and Bellamy, and two other persons,
Monsieur Hauteval and a lady. These agents suggested
that the United States should lend money to the French
government and also pay a douceur to the Directors and
to their Minister of Foreign Affairs.! The commissioners
did not abhor the thought of buying the Directors and
Talleyrand any more than Pitt and King George had done;
but they refused point blank to involve the United States
in any breach of neutrality which would be the necessary
outcome of a loan to France. As one means of obviating

' The following statement is com-
piled from Marshall’s “Journal,” Oect.
18, 1797, in the * Pickering Papers” : —

“He, Mr. Hortinguer, had had a

tial conversation with a mer-

municate to Genl. Pinckney'’
was ‘“‘absolutely required” the United
States should give satisfaction for the
speech of the President, pay the debts
due by contract from France to Amer-
iocan citisens, pay for the spoliations

committed on our commerce for which
France should be adjudged liable by
commissioners, and make a consider-
able loan. ‘' Besides this added Mr.
Hortinguer there must be something
for the pocket. On being asked to
explain himself he said that there must
be a considerable sum paid for the
private use of the Directoire & minis-
ter under the form of satisfying claims
which did not in fact exist.”

Pinckney’'s expression in a later
conversation was *No. No. not a six-
penoce.”
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a breach of neutrality, it was suggested that America might
buy the Batavian rescriptions that still remained in the
French treasury. This would have been particularly con-
venient to Hottinguer and the Hamburg bankers, because
with the credit of the United States behind them, these se-
curities would promptly rise toward par. As the Americans
would make no concessions and the Frenchmen were equally
firm, the negotiations came to an abrupt ending in March,
1798. Marshall departed for home; Pinckney went to the
south of France for his daughter’s health, and Gerry, alone,
remained at Paris, for Talleyrand had told him that France
would at once declare war if he, too, abandoned the mission.

Twelve months later, Joel Barlow wrote to Washington !
that the Directory had been prepared to negotiate with
the American commissioners, ‘“but from some unfortunate
circumstances’”’ did not believe that Pinckney and his
companions desired to treat. What these unfortunate cir-
cumstances were has never been told. Barlow had very
good means of information and Marshall and Pinckney had
the preservation of the dignity of the United States and the
carrying out of the policy of neutrality very much on their
consciences. Gerry was more pliable and endeavored, with
some loss of respect for himself and his country, to break
down the reserve of his fellow commissioners and of the
French rulers.? In the course of their proceedings, Marshall

1 “Washington Manuscripts’’ in the
Library of Congreas; Charles B. Todd's

his associates; but that they continue
running wild after a phantom to the

IAfe and Letters of Joel Barlow, 156;
and Sparks’'s Washington, xi, 399, 560.
It was received by W n, Jan-
uary 31, 1799, and was dated Paris, 2
October, 1798. Barlow enclosed the
letter in one to Abraham Baldwin ask-
ing him to forward it to Mount Vernon
after taking a copy and furthermore
wrote: “If you find that neither this
nor any other statement of facts is
likely to calm the frensy of him and

ruin of their country, I should think
it best to publish it with my name and
his.” ‘Barlow Papers'” (No. 15) in
the Harvard College Library. In 1799,
Barlow printed a letter still further
elucidating his ideas, under the title of
Joel Barlow to His Fellow Cilizens, of
the United States of America.

1 John Quincy Adams wrote to his
father, September 25, 1798, that Gerry
“had neither the spirit nor the pene-



1798] EXCITEMENT IN AMERICA 189

drafted a paper reciting the misdeeds of the French toward
America. It was a masterly and cold-blooded document and
deserves a careful reading by any one who wishes to under-
stand the attitude of France toward America; but it may
well be doubted if it was entirely suited for the purpose
in hand.

The arrival of the despatches from the envoys in France
caused a revulsion of feeling in the United States. Adams,
himself, was greatly stirred. In successive communica-
tions to Congress, he laid bare the perfidy of the French-
men, advocated preparations for war, and declared that
he would “never send another minister to France without
assurances that he will be received, respected, and honored
as the representative of a great, free, powerful, and inde-
pendent nation.” The Jeffersonians doubted the exigen-
cies of the case;! they reflected severely on the President
for his intemperate and unconstitutional action and called
upon him to justify himself by sending the report of the
commissioners to Congress. He replied by sending all the
papers, — the names of the French emissaries being re-
placed by letters, X, Y, and Z. The publication of the
papers produced intense excitement in Congress and all
over the country. “Millions for defence, but not one
cent for tribute”’ became the prevailing sentiment. The
Jeffersonian majority in Congress melted away, the mem-
bers either going home or voting with the Federalists.

tration abeolutely necessary for dealing

with adversaries at once so bold, so
cunning, and so false,” as Talleyrand
and his employers; and Jay wrote to
Pickering that Gerry’'s conduct admitted
of no excuse; “It would have been
[more] reputable of him to have gone
to the Temple on such an occasion”
than to have acted as he did. Ford's
Writings of J. Q. Adame, ii, 367; and

“Pickering Manuscripts,” xxiv, fo.
116.

1 There is a printed letter in the
“Madison Manuscripts,” xxi, fo. 135,
dated March 20, 1798, and signed by
J. Dawson, one of the Representatives
from Virginia, asking for an expression
of sentiment on the President’s *‘im-
portant, intemperate, and unconstitu-

‘tional” message of the preceding day.



190 AN INTERLUDE [Ca. VII

Adams recalled Gerry and preparations were begun for
putting the country into a state of defence and for protect-
ing American shipping in the West Indies. This sudden
change of attitude compels one to ask how far sympathy
for France and for Frenchmen really actuated the Ameri-
can people in the outbursts of 1793 and later. Was it not
rather a general and genuine sympathy for the rights of
individuals as opposed to the tyranny of king or nobility
that impelled the radicals in America to shout, riot, and
feast for France, to mount the tri-color cockade, and to
form democratic societies?

In any scheme of defence the existing army could not be
counted upon, because it was none too large for the police
of the frontier. It was decided, therefore, to raise an en-
tirely new army, infantry, cavalry, and artillery, and later
in the year still further regiments were authorized. A naval
force was also to be fitted out and, to increase both mili-
tary and naval efficiency, the Navy Department was sepa-
rated from the War Department and placed under the
direction of a Secretary. Naturally, Hamilton and those
in authority applied to Washington for advice and assist-
ance. On the 19th of May, the former wrote to his old
chief, that in case of hostilities, the country would demand
his services. Washington replied that it would take an
unequivocal manifestation of public opinion to compel
him to leave Mount Vernon, that he would like to know
whom his “coadjutors’”’ would be and whether Hamilton
himself would take an active part. Hamilton replied in
the affirmative, stating that his preference would be for an
appointment as Inspector General,! — a most admirable sug-
gestion, for his administrative abilities would be most ser-

3 There is no suggestion in this letter be appointed second in command.
(June 2, 1798) that Hamilton should
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viceable in the constructive work of raising and disciplining
a new army. It was not until a month later (June 22)
that Adams wrote to Washington that he wished he could
in the present grave crisis turn the presidency over to him.
He was at a loss to know, he wrote, whether he should call
on the old generals or appoint a young set, for if the French
came, it would be necessary to ‘‘march with a quick step”
and to attack, for that was the only way in which the French
could be met.!

Timothy Pickering also wrote to Washington, July 6,
1798, proposing that Hamilton should be placed second in
‘command.? He thought the President seemed disinclined
to make this appointment and added, ‘“the weight of your
opinion may be necessary.” Replying at once to this let-
ter, Washington declared that as the French would begin
their invasions south of Maryland, it would be well to ap-
point Charles Cotesworth Pinckney to the second place,
for his influence in the South would be of the greatest im-
portance. Meantime, Adams had nominated Washington
for chief command, apparently without having definitely
.ascertained whether he would accept.? He sent McHenry,
the Secretary of War, to Mount Vernon with the commis-

without respect to grade. He would

emerge from his retirement if it were

1C. F. Adams's Works of John
Adams, viii, 572.

2 S8parks's Washington, xi, 530; Up-
ham's Life of Timothy Pickering, iii,
419.

8 McHenry had written to Wash-
ington on "June 26, asking him if he
would accept the chief command. He
had replied to this on July 4, but neither
of these letters had reached Philadelphia
at the time of Washington's nomination
and confirmation. In that to Adams,
the master of Mount Vernon had stated
that it would be difficult to find old
generals of sufficient health and sound
politics; recourse must be had, there-
fore, to the best officers of the late army

necessary, but the officers of the general
staff must be persons in whom the Com-
mander-in-chief could place entire con-
fidence ; Writings of Washington (Ford),
xiv, 18, 19. It is well again to state
that Washington's nomination was made
before this letter reached Adams. It is
also well to bear in mind that it was
written and sent off before Pickering's
letter of July 8 came to Mount Vernon ;
but how many other letters, if any,
may have passed between Washing-
ton, Hamilton, and Pickering and are
no longer accessible in print or manu-
script cannot be stated.
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sion and also with a letter which he had written to McHenry,
but which was to be shown to Washington. In this Adams
enumerated the names of those who might be appointed
to the highest offices in the following order: Lincoln,
Morgan, Knox, Hamilton, Gates, Pinckney, Lee, Carring-
ton, Hand, Muhlenberg, Dayton, Burr, Brooks, Cobb, and
Smith. McHenry also carried with him a letter from Adams
to Washington,! stating that the Secretary would consult
him upon the organization of the army and everything
relating to it. McHenry remained at Mount Vernon sev-
eral days. Washington showed him a copy of the letter he
had written to him on July 4th, and another of the next
day authorizing the Secretary to show the former to the
President ““as from yourself.”” In this letter he reiterated
that he must be allowed to choose such immediate associ-
ates as would be agreeable.? Washington went over the
names of possible appointments to the highest places and
with McHenry’s aid drew up a list which the Secretary
submitted to Adams, with a statement, that unless confi-
dential officers upon whom Washington could rely should
be appointed, he thought he would not serve.? The list
as made up was rather indefinite. Washington suggested
Hamilton’s appointment as Inspector General with the
grade of major general. Others suggested for the same
rank were Charles C. Pinckney, Henry Knox, and Henry
Lee. For brigadiers, he proposed four names including
that of Lee, if he were not given higher rank. The third -
name of this group was that of William S. Smith, Adams’s
son-in-law, who was also placed third on Washington’s list

1 Sparks’'s Washington, xi, 531, 532; 8 McHenry to John Adams, Mount
C. F. Adams’s John Adams, viii, 574. Vernon, July 12, 1798, in Sparks's

3 See Writings of Washington (Ford), Washingion, xi, 534. BSee, however,
xiv, 19, 29; and also Bernard C. Steiner's McHenry, 312 and note; and

Steiner's Life and Correspondence of Sparks's Washingion, xi, 302.
James McHenry, 310.
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of possible adjutant generals. In running one’s eye over
these names, it is noticeable that no mention is made of
Muhlenberg or Burr,! both of whom had been suggested
by Adams. Possibly Washington thought that they were
not of ‘“sound politics,” but his reason for omitting them
is otherwise unknown. Although no such statement was
made, it is probable that Washington, after his conferences
with McHenry, intended that the officers should rank in the
order in which he placed them and that Hamilton should
be second in command and actual chief while the army
was being recruited.?

In general, Adams fell in with Washington’s wishes,
appointing Hamilton Inspector General and placing Lee at
the head of the brigadiers. For Adjutant General he
picked out William S. Smith. The nominations went to
the Senate and so did Timothy Pickering, who lobbied so
effectively against Smith that he received only five votes.
Pickering carried on his intrigue so secretly that McHenry
did not know why Smith had been rejected. He wrote to
Washington that he thought it was “a hasty measure in
the Senate” ? and that Smith had not been confirmed be-

11n 1805, Adams wrote to Benjamin

ush that he had desired to make Burr
a brigadier general and to give Peter
Muhlenberg a commission also, but
was prevented, and declared as President
he “was only Vice Roy under Wash-
ington, and he was only Vice Roy under
Hamilton, and Hamilton was Vice Roy
under the Tories as you call them.”
He asks if Washington had consented
to the appointment of Burr, would
New York have been ‘democrified’?
And if Muhlenberg had been given a
commission, would not Pennsylvania
have gone Federal in 1800? See
Biddle’s Old Family Letters, Beries A.,
76, 84, 457.

*On seeing this list, Pickering at
once wrote to Washington that ‘“ Col®
Hamilton’s name occupied the station

VOL. IV.—O

in which the public voice, anticipating
your opinion, had placed him.”” A few
days later, evidently foreseeing trouble,
‘Washington wrote to Knox that Ham-
ilton “in the public estimation, as de-
clared to me, is designated to be second
in command.” And he reiterated the
same opinion not long afterwards; see
“Pickering Manuscripts,” ix, 261;
Writings of Washington (Ford), xiv, 45,
60. As showing Federalist public
opinion, John Jay wrote to Pickering,
July 18, 1798, suggesting that Hamil-
ton should be given a place measured
by his merit and value. As this note
is in the * Washington Manuscripts,’’ it
is probable that Pickering forwarded it
to Mount Vernon.

8 July, 1798. ‘Washington Manu-
scripts”’ in the Library of Congress.
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cause of his embarrassed financial condition and also on
account of rumors that he had not “conducted properly in
some of his pecuniary engagements.” Later in the year,
when nominations for the additional regiments were being
considered, Washington suggested the appointment of
Smith to one of the colonelcies,’ unless there were “just
cause to impeach either his integrity, or his attachment to
the measures of Government,” adding that he had always
viewed him “in the light of an Officer possessing military
talents.” Upon inquiry, it was found that the charges
were groundless and Smith was given a regimental appoint-
ment. ‘
Washington had set the example of visiting Mount Ver-
non, partly, at least, to look after his private affairs. Adams
followed his predecessor in this regard, spending his summers
on his farm at Quincy, Massachusetts. In 1798, Mrs.
Adams was seriously ill, which induced the President to
stay away from the seat of government, from midsummer
to November. This was unfortunate, for these weeks
were among the most critical in the history of his adminis-
tration. General Knox at once raised the question of the
relative rank of the major generals, refusing to serve under
Hamilton, in case they should be ranked according to the
order of the published list. He had been chief of artillery
and major general in the Revolutionary War, while Ham-
ilton had never gone beyond the grade of colonel. Nowa-
days, of course, it is perfectly clear that Hamilton and

The word that is given here as ‘' hasty’’ Enemy to no Man but himself.” Old

may possibly be * party,’ for the manu-
script is difficult to read.

} Washington to McHenry, Oct. 15,
1798 in Bernard C. Steiner's Life and
Correspondence of James McHenry, pp.
346 note, 354. Long after this, John
Adams wrote that Smith had always
been his own worst enemy, — ‘‘an

Family Letters: copied . . . for Alexander
Biddle, Series A., p. 417. He may
have been a heavy drinker, like so many
historical personages of that day, but it
is hardly likely that such was the case in
1798, in view of the strong indorsement
he had received from Washington. See
also C. F. Adams’s John Adams, viii, 617.
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Knox were not at all of the same grade of mentality; but
it is also clear that Hamilton had never commanded any
considerable body of men in battle, —nor had Knox.
Federalist public opinion —as determined by Pickering,
Jay, Bingham, and the rest — had pitched upon Hamilton
for the first place next to Washington, and had convinced
both Washington and Hamilton of the fact. Adams at
Quincy was less accessible to ‘“Federalist public opinion”
and took Knox's part. In a memorandum that he drew
up in September in the form of a letter to Wolcott, but did
not send, he wrote that he and Knox were never intimate
and that he had no kind of attachment to him or affection
for him more than he had for Hamilton.! Indeed, when
one comes to think of the two men, it is quite evident that
Adams and Knox were very far apart in their general out-
look and mode of life, while Hamilton with his keen mind
would have been much more congenial to Adams had he
not crossed his political path so frequently and so unrea-
sonably. Adams directed that the commissions should
be dated to give Knox the first rank. At once Federalist
‘“‘public opinion” was turned vigorously upon both Wash-
ington and Adams. The former was worked upon so ef-
fectively that he actually declined to serve unless Hamil-

1 This letter was dated Quincy,
September 24, 1798. In it Adams
states that at the time of Washington’s
nomination, he had‘ evidence enough
to convince him ‘“that he expected it,
that he wished it, and that he would
acoept it.”” As to- the question of
relative rank, he wrote, it was never
the advice of General Washington as I
understood it, that the inspector gen-
eral should be the First Major General.
He never expressed any such idea to
me. His list contained no such idea.
‘When Mr. McHenry proposed to me to
nominate him (Hamilton] to the senate
as first Major General, I possitively re-
fused to do it.” Washington, Adams

declared, expected that Pinckney would
be first, but meant to leave the rank to
be settled by friendly agreement. He
reminded Wolcott that Hamilton was
not a native of the United States, but a
foreigner, and had not resided much
longer in North America than Albert
Gallatin. He concluded by saying that
he had dated the commissions to Knox,
Pinckney, and Hamilton all on the same
day in the hope that * under the auspices
of General Washington, the gentlemen
may come to some amicable settlement
of the dispute.” ‘“Adams Manu-
scripts’’ ; printed with substantial cor-
rectness in C. F. Adams's John Adams,
viii, 601 note.
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ton were given first place.! As to Adams, Pickering wrote
to George Cabot 'and he to Higginson and Ames and Sena-
tor Goodhue — all staunch Hamiltonians in Massachusetts
— imploring them to write or call upon Adams? The
President was obliged to give way before Washington’s
threat of resignation;?® but he cut the ground from under
the feet of the Hamiltonian military clique by sending in
the nomination of William Vans Murray as envoy to France.

One of the most interesting surmises that has been made
as to Hamilton in these years has to do with the projects
of Miranda for the revolutionizing of Spanish America.
It is represented that Hamilton pictured himself at the
head of an army of forty thousand men, abetted by a fleet
of British ships-of-war, liberating Louisiana, Florida,

Mexico, and whatnot from

1In writing to Adams, Washington
stated that as ‘' principal and most
oonfidential aid of the commander-in-
chief” in the Revolutionary War Ham-
ilton’s position had afforded him the
means of viewing everything on a large
scale, although he had not exercised in-
dependent command. He added that
former rank in the Revolutionary army
ought not to have any influence in the
present case, except in combination with
brilliant exploits and extraordinary ser-
vices. An interesting comment on
this statement is the following extract
from a letter in Washington’s hand-
writing to McHenry, dated October 15,
1799: *Colo, Parker is stated to have
been an older Captain in the Revolu-
tionary War, than Col° Bentley and
they were accordingly marked by me
in that order — vist Parker the 9
and Bentley the 10 Lieut Colonel."
‘ Washington Manuscripts” in Library
of Congress. Washington's letter to
Adams is printed in Writings of Wash-
sngton (Ford), xiv, 92.

3 These letters are in ‘' Pickering
Manuscripts,” ix, 357, and xxiii, 159.

3C. F. Adams’s Works of John
Adame, viii, 601. Bernard C. 8teiner's

Castillian tyranny. Neces-

analysis of this whole episode is most
helpful, accurate, and abundantly sup-
plied with citations. Bee his James
McHenry, pp. 309-349. In the °* Let-
ters to Adams”’ in the * Adams Manu-
scripta’ is a letter from McHenry to
Adams, dated Trenton, Sept. 21, 1798.
It is the connecting link between the
different parts of this episode and
seems never to have been printed. In
it McHenry informs Adams that he
wrote to Washington on the 10th in-
stant that the President thought it
would be proper to arrange the ranks of
the three major generals according to
their standing in the Revolutionary
Army. To this Washington replied on
Beptember 16, threatening to resign.
These paragraphs McHenry quoted at
length. He closed: “You will, Bir, I
am sure feel for the situation in which
I am placed, between your concep-
tions and General Washingtons . . .
and cannot help retaining a hope, that
you will upon a review of all circum-
stances, give your assent to his ar-
rangement.’”’ This is indorsed *‘ received
Sept 20 Sent the 3 Commissions all
dated 19 July on the 30. Sept*.”
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sarily, the evidence on projects that never came to anything
is very vague and it is easy to make assertions which no
amount of research can prove to be false. In this instance,
there are several things that point to some kind of imaginary
scheme in Hamilton’s mind. Writing to Knox in March,
1799, to mitigate his resentment on the ground that he
himself had yielded to the wishes of others and that great
public interests had been at stake,! he said there was a
moment when “their object” seemed to present itself as
not entirely chimerical. The “their” refers to a “package
of letters” on some unknown subject. Possibly this may
have had reference to cotperation with England, for Knox
had many British connections. Miranda had written to
Hamilton as early as February, 1798. On this letter there
is an indorsement in Hamilton’s handwriting stating that
several years earlier, he had had frequent conversations
with Miranda, who was then “in America much heated with
the prospect of liberating S America from the Spanish
Domination,” and had presumably expressed ideas favor-
able to his plan and possibly said that it was one that would
interest the United States. ‘“He went then to England
upon it. Hence his present letter. I shall not answer
because I consider him as an intriguing adventurer.” ?
As the months went by Hamilton became more interested
in Miranda, now in the good graces of Rufus King, who
had great influence with the new Inspector General. In
March, Hamilton wrote to Pickering deprecating an im-
mediate alliance with Great Britain, for her interest will
insure her codperation, a treaty might entangle us and

1“Knox Manuscripts,” zlii, 85. Library of Congress. On August 22,
A part of the letter is printed in F. 8. 1798, in a letter to King, Hamilton
Drake's Life and Correspondence of sounds a very different note. See J. C.
Henry Knox (Boston, 1873). Hamilton’s Works of Alezander Ham-~

? “Hamilton Manuscripts’ in the slton, vi, 347.
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public opinion is not prepared for it.! Great Britain might
“lodge here powers commensurate with such arrangements
as may be required.” It would be a good plan to send a
dozen frigates to the American coast to be placed under
the orders of the United States government. This seems
to have been as far as Hamilton ever went. Possibly a
knowledge of Miranda’s later visionary expedition when he
sailed from England with scarcely any other means than
““the resources of his own mind” may have led historians
to attribute to Hamilton ideas that really belong to Mi-
randa.! Danger from the French certainly brought the
United States and Great Britain closer together in these
years than they were to be again for a century. In October,
1798, the Duke of Gloucester,® deprecating the formation
of an American navy, thought that the melancholy conse-
quences which would surely follow might be obviated by
loaning to the United States some line-of-battle ships, frig-
ates, and smaller vessels, on condition that the Americans
should pay a subsidy and man the ships, and should build
no more war vessels of their own. In the autumn of that
year, the British government consented to lend to the
United States the guns of a captured French ship, the
Foudrouyant,* then lying at Halifax, together with eighteen
hundred shot. This was understood to be a loan, but the
expectation clearly was that their return would never be

1 * Pickering Manuscripts'’ xxii, 92.

3 Documents in the American His-
torical Review, iii, 674, vi, 508 give in-
teresting side-lights on this first filibus-
tering expedition. Its interest now-a-
days lies mainly in the trials of
William 8. S8mith (John Adams's
son-in-law) and 8. G. Ogden under the
“Neutrality Act’’ of June, 1704. See
Moore's Digest of International Law, vii,
917 and citations therein.

8 Windham Papers, ii, 81.

¢ Excerpts from the British Record
Office MSS. are given in Missiseipps
Valley Historical Review, i, 51. Liston
to Pickering, September 10, 1798;
* Adams Manuscripts (Executive, State,
Navy)” under date. Bee also C. F.
King's Rufus King, ii, ohs. xxviii—
xxxiv. There are many suggestions in
this volume that England offered con-
voy to American ships; but it is not
oertain that the offer was ever ac-
ospted.
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asked. They were to be used for the defence of Charleston
which was peculiarly exposed to attack from the West
Indies. It is also noteworthy that the British minister
handed to Pickering a list of signals which he had received
from Admiral Vandeput, commanding the British naval
forces on this side of the Atlantic,! that the vessels of the
two countries might recognize one another. There were
some disagreeable incidents as to impressment and the
enforcement of the new rules as to contraband; but the
correspondence between Grenville and Rufus King clearly
showed every desire on the part of the British government
to avoid any friction for the time being, at least:

The arrangements for recruiting the new army went for-
ward very slowly. Washington and Hamilton were an-
noyed at the delay. They wrote to each other that Mec-
Henry was inefficient. They upbraided him and told
him that he took too many details upon himself. In reply
McHeary put the blame on the Treasury Department
which had kept in its own hands the purchase of nearly
everything that was used by the government. Wolcott
really seems to have found difficulty in procuring materials
for uniforms and military equipments. Without these
things it was undesirable to embody latge units of new
soldiers. After he had been dragooned into appointing
Hamilton to the second place, Adams evidently took very
little interest in army matters. Washington reproached
his successor for this lukewarmness, but Adams was im-
movable. Looking backward, the historical student finds
himself wondering as to whether Adams was not gravely
misunderstood by his contemporaries and by many who
have come after him. Is it not likely, after all, that Adams
was playing a diplomatic game, that he never intended to

1 “ Pickering Papers,” ix, 84.
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have an army, but was fully aware of the great effect that
would be produced by the passage of acts of Congress for
raising a military force and, especially by the appointment
of Washington to the chief command? All arguments as
to the necessity of drill and discipline had very little effect
upon him, for he had always been in favor of short en-
listments and, now, could point to the victories of raw French
armies over the most highly trained soldiers of Europe.
At any rate, he took no active part in spurring Wolcott
and McHenry to action.

With the navy, the case was very different. Adams had
always been interested in maritime affairs and believed
firmly in the importance of sea-power. Moreover it was
on the water that the French were injuring the Americans,
and it was at sea that France was vulnerable. In Benja-
min Stoddert, too, Adams had a capable Secretary of the
Navy. The result of presidential interest and secretarial
efficiency was that naval affairs went on with spirit and
success.! Three splendid frigates that had been on the
stocks for years were launched and fitted for sea, — the
United States, the Constitution, and the Constellation.?
More vessels were laid down and many were bought and
fitted out for war. In almost an incredibly short time,
half a dozen national ships got to sea, and others followed
in quick succession. They drove the French privateers off
the coast, followed them to the West Indies, and captured
many of them and several French national ships. They
also afforded convoys to American merchantmen.

! This episode in our annals has been
admirably elucidated by Dr. Gardner
‘W. Allen in one volume entitled Our
Naval War with France (Boston, 1909).
The Appendix contains an elaborate bib-
liography. This subject is also treated in
Captain A.T. Mahan’s volumeson The
Influence of Sea Power upon the French

Revolution and Empmre (Boston, 1864).
There is some original material of interest
in Goldshorough's United States’ Naval
Chronicle (Washington City, 1824).

3 These names were suggested by
Pickering to Washington; as alterna-
tives, he mentioned Defender, Fortitude,
and Liberty.
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The emergence of Washington from his retirement at
Mount Vernon and the sudden appearance of the American
marine on the sea gave a shock to European public opinion.
Probably the French authorities were fully informed of the
new cordiality that prevailed between Americans and
Englishmen. Rumors of a possible naval alliance be-
tween them may have drifted across the water and may
well have alarmed the government at Paris, for it was in
August of this year (1798) that Nelson crashed down on
the French fleet at Aboukir, not far from the mouth of the
Nile. The union of British naval resources in ships and
money with the American supply of sea-fighters would
have been the one thing lacking to complete the destruction
of European sea-power. Whether the Frenchmen realized
their danger or not, it is certain that they changed their
tone. Talleyrand directed the French secretary of lega-
tion at the Hague to assure Vans Murray, the American
representative there, that if a new minister should come
from the United States to Paris, he would be respectfully
treated. From this beginning, assurances redoubled, al-
though Talleyrand to the end tried to preserve an appear-
ance of injured innocence. With this official protestation
of friendship, there came also unofficial information tend-
ing to the same end.

Among the curious by-products of combined Quakerism
and Pennsylvania politics was a certain Dr. George Logan,
grandson of William Penn’s personal representative in the
province. Like all Quakers, he dreaded and disliked war
and like many democrats was fully convinced that “the
people of America’ had not been and could not be properly
represented in France by Federalists. Armed with a
private letter from Thomas Jefferson certifying his Amer-
ican citizenship, Logan went to Paris, arriving there in
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August, 1798. Jefferson afterwards most carefully ex-
plained that he had given Logan nothing in his character
as Vice-President, but only as an American citizen and
friend. The explanation was wholly unnecessary, for any
note of introduction signed by Thomas Jefferson at that
particular moment was equivalent to a declaration of
friendship for France on the part of the bearer.! Logan
. had little trouble in opening communications with the
Directors and returned to Philadelphia fully convinced of
the pacific intentions of the authorities at Paris.? He had
much more trouble in getting those in power in America to
listen to him. Finally, he found his way into Washing-
ton’s presence. The General received the physician most
coldly ; but as Logan refused to take his departure, Wash-
ington was obliged to hear his story and also became in-
volved in more or less argument with his unwelcome guest.
Congress conferred upon Logan the honor of an act, pro-
viding fine and imprisonment for any person who should
undertake such unofficial negotiations in the future?
Nevertheless, Logan’s mission contributed materially to
turn the current of public opinion toward greater amiability
to France and Frenchmen. Another private citizen to
convey a similar pacific message was Joel Barlow, who
had been living in France for ten or a dozen years, some-
times representing his country in minor negotiations. He
had already informed several correspondents in America
that the policy pursued toward France was entirely wrong.
He now addressed Washington himself, declaring that the
dispute with France was ‘“simply and literally, a misunder-

A\ Writings of Jeflerson (Ford), vii, certain crimes therein specified.” Ap-
326. proved January 30, 1799. Acts of the
1 Deborah N. Logan’s Memoirs of Fifth Congress, ch. ovii. Laws of the
Dr. George Logan of Stenton, cha. iii snd ~ United States (Philadelphia, 1799, vol.

iv and Appendix ii. iv, p. 243).
3“An act for the punishment of



1799] ANOTHER COMMISSION 203

standing” ! and that the Directory sincerely wished to re-
establish harmonious relations with the United States on
terms honorable to both parties. Washington sent a copy
of the letter to Adams stating that one could not presup-
pose ignorance on the part of Barlow or that the letter had
been written without the knowledge of the French govern-
ment. Talleyrand’s assurances and Logan’s and Barlow’s
statements coupled with the perilous condition of the
Directory must have convinced anyone who was familiar
with them all that the existing government in France was
really desirous of coming to terms with the United States.
On February 18, 1799, Adams startled Congress and
the country by sending to the Senate the nomination of
William Vans Murray as minister to France. With this, he
sent Talleyrand’s latest letter declaring that if the United
States should send another minister to Paris he would be
received with the respect due to the representative of a free,
independent, and powerful nation. As these assurances
had come in a roundabout way, Adams suggested that
Vans Murray should not actually go to Paris until direct
and explicit confirmatory assurances were received.? The
Hamiltonian Junto was rendered furious by the President’s
action. Their present power and popularity had grown out
of the embroglio with France and was nearly certain to end

18¢e also seven reasons given by
Tench Coxze for dissatisfaction on the
part of France (Pennsylvania Magasine
of Hislory, xxx, 118). Dr. Morison has
printed some valuable docu-
ments throwing light on Talleyrand's
action; Massachusetts Historical So-
clety’s Proceedings, xliv, p. 63.

3 American State Papers, Foreign
Relations, ii, 239. Charles Lee, Adams's
Attworney General, writing to Adams
from Philadelphia, March 14, 1799,
enclosed a letter from John Marshall
spproving the appointinent of Vans

Murray. It is to be noted that this
letter was written before the modifica-
tion of the embassy was known in
Virginia.

The Vans Murray papers are in the
Library of Congrees. The important
ones were printed in the Report of the
American Historical Association for
1912; a typo-writm calendar of these
mnunrlph is in the Harvard Library.
In 1787, Vans Murray had *‘inscribed "
a thin volume of Political Sketches to
John Adams.
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the moment that friendly relations were redstablished.
A committee of five from the Senate waited on Adams to
persuade him to withdraw the nomination. Adams thought
this was a most unwarranted coercion of the executive.
He kept his temper, however, and suggested that a com-
mission of three persons should be sent, Vans Murray to be
one of the three. The other two commissioners would be
appointed from persons actually residing in the United
States and their departure could be delayed until the req-
uisite assurances were received from France. The com-
mittee grasped at this suggestion which might give op-
portunity for reconsideration and would delay matters.
Adams selected Oliver Ellsworth, the Chief Justice, and
Patrick Henry and they with Murray were confirmed by
the Senate. Henry refused to go on account of his age and
feeble health and William R. Davie, governor of North
Carolina, was appointed in his place. Talleyrand in the
name of the French government at once gave the required
assurance to Vans Murray, coupling it, however, with a
rather ungracious reference to the needlessness of the delay
thereby incurred.! While these details were being settled,
Adams asked his advisers to draw up the instructions for
the guidance of the commissioners whenever they should
go to France. A

The required assurances reached America in mid-summer,
but the instructions were not completed until late in Octo-
ber, owing in part at least to Pickering’s desire to delay the
departure of the commissioners as long as possible. They
were written in a rather peremptory strain, as were all of
Pickering’s state papers. The commissioners were to re-
quire indemnity for spoliations and to secure a release from
the obligations imposed by the Treaty of Alliance with

1 American State Papers, Foreign Relations, ii, 243.
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France.! At this moment news reached America of the
downfall of the old Directory and the establishment of a
new one. The future of the French Republic appeared to
be very doubtful and the Hamiltonians seized upon this
fact as a reason for further delaying the departure of Ells-
worth and Davie. Adams was now at last thoroughly
in earnest. He journeyed from Quincy, where he had
been for more than six months, to Trenton to which place
the government offices had been removed owing to the
reappearance of the yellow fever at Philadelphia. He
found Governor Davie at Trenton and Ellsworth soon ar-
rived there rather unexpectedly. Adams conversed with
his official advisers and with the commissioners; and then
on his own responsibility directed them to embark ? on the
frigate United States lying at Newport and proceed at once
to the execution of their mission. No event in John Adams’s
whole career more certainly compels admiration than his
courage, in view of the critical condition of the affairs in
France and the hostility of his principal supporters at home,
in ordering the commissioners to proceed. It aroused a
storm of obloquy such as few American statesmen have had
to face and stands now as one of the most notable acts of a
remarkable man. Adams affected not to be disturbed by
the scurrility of his Federalist and Republican opponents.
He declared that even the “Spissitude of the black liquor”
dispensed by Thomas Paine * made no impression on him;

3 American State Papers, Foreign
Relationa, ii, 301-306.

t8toddert and Lee, the Attorney
General, took a different view on most
subjects than the three Hamiltonian
socretaries. On October 6, 1799, the
former had written to Adams, without
any prompting from him, that he could
not perceive any sufficient reason for
suspending the mission to France.
Buch a measure, he thought, would

disappoint the general expectation of
America and would excite suspicion of
the President’s sincerity. There would
be no inconvenience even if the com-
missioners, on their arrival, found a
monarch on the throne of France.

3 A few sentences from Paine's letter
to Jefferson of October 1, 1800, will
serve to show the latitude which Jef-
ferson permitted his correspondents to
adopt as to his predecessors in the
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but the constant references Adams made in the next few
years to the events of these fourteen months would seem to
show the contrary. And, indeed, John Adams experi-
enced to the full that ingratitude for past services that is
the fate of public men on their fall from power.

The United States made a prosperous voyage across the
Atlantic, entering the Tagus on one of the last days of
November, 1799. From that point her progress was slow
and disagreeable, and, finally, after being buffeted about
by a severe storm in the Bay of Biscay, the commissioners
gave up trying to reach L’'Orient and landed at a Spanish
port near Corunna. From that place, after receiving pass-
ports and assurances of their proper reception, they jour-
neyed to Paris where Vans Murray joined them.

Meantime, the coup d’état of the 18th Brumaire (Novem-
ber 9, 1799) had given the chief power in France to Napo-
leon Bonaparte with the title of First Consul. He fell in
with his latest predecessor’s policy as to America. The
commissioners were welcomed by Talleyrand, were hos-
pitably received by Napoleon, and three French commis-
sioners were appointed to negotiate with them. There
progress ceased. Ellsworth and his colleagues had been
instructed to secure indemnities for French spoliations and
on no account to protract the negotiations beyond the first
of April, 1800. Up to this time no one had been able to
extract indemmification from successive French revolu-
tionary governments, and Napoleon, of all men of that
time, was least likely to consent to pay anything of the
kind. In the beginning, Joseph Bonaparte, the first of

presidential office. Paine referred to . . . gave the first stab to the fame of
Adams’s fractious, untractable dispo- America, and the entire nothingnees of
sition and wrote that, like Pickering, he Adams has deepened the wound.”
mistook arrogance for greatness, and  Massachusetts Historical Boclety's Pro-
sullenness for wisdom; and added: ceedings, 45, p. 25 and note.

*“The silent hypocrisy of Washington,
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the French commissioners, was stricken with sickness, or
said that he was. Upon his recovery, one delay succeeded
another. To hasten matters, the Americans prepared the
project of a treaty which might serve as a basis for negoti-
ation. Owing to the bad weather, Ellsworth and Davie
had not reached Paris until the second day of March and
Joseph Bonaparte's illness had put off the first meeting of
the commission until the second day of April. Under these
extraordinary circumstances the negotiations had to be
prolonged beyond the time set in their instructions. Weeks
went by and nothing was accomplished ; then months passed
away. Napoleon was in Italy and in his absence no one at
Paris felt like taking any large amount of responsibility.
After nearly half a year of dalliance, Ellsworth and his
colleagues decided to throw overboard their instructions
and try to make some temporary agreement with the French
government that would put an end to the existing condi-
tion of quasi-war, deferring all discussions as to spoliations
and guarantees to the future. In the convention that was
finally agreed to it was provided that the two parties should
treat each other’s citizens and commerce fairly, and all
national vessels that had been captured and all private
vessels that had not been judicially condemned were to be
restored. The Frenchmen fell in with these ideas and a
treaty, or convention, embodying them was signed at
Paris, September 30, 1800. ‘

1 From a letter of Oliver Ellsworth,
Jr. (W. G. Brown's Life of Oliver Ells- D+

A. Du Casse, Histoire des Négociations
’ rolatives auz Traitée de

worth, 306) it appears that there was a
second signing of the convention at
Joseph Bonaparte's chiteau at Morte-
fontaine on October 3 in oconnection
with an elaborate féte at which Na-
poleon

iplomatiques

Mortfontasine, de Lunémlle et d’' Amiens
pour faire suils aux Mémoires du Roi
Joseph (Paris, 1858), i, 177-380. The
convention may most easily be found in
Treaties and Conventions concluded be-
tween the Uniled Siates of America and
Other Powers since July 4, 1776, under
Franoe.
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When the Convention of 1800, as the treaty is always
called in history, reached the United States, its provisions
seemed to go far towards justifying the hatred which the
Hamiltonians had maintained from the beginning toward
the commission and toward him who had sent it. In
reality it was one of the most fortunate bits of negotiation
that ever took place. While the consultations had been
proceeding at Paris in a very slow and disheartening man-
ner, Napoleon had made his famous passage of the Alps,
and haq won a great victory at Marengo. Before the
ratifications were exchanged (July 31, 1801), Moreau had
gained a bloody success at Hohenlinden and a little more
than two months later, the Treaty of Lunéville (February
9, 1801) marked the downfall of the Holy Roman Empire,
and not much more than a year afterwards the Peace of
Amiens put an end for a year or two to the contest between
Great Britain and France, and left the ocean open to the
navies of France and Spain. Had America still been in
conflict with the French Republic, there is no telling what
might have happened the moment the protection of the
British fleet was withdrawn. When the convention reached
the Senate, the Federalist majority insisted upon qualifying
their consent by omitting the paragraph which provided
for future negotiation as to spoliations and guarantees.
Instead, they inserted a provision limiting the duration of
the treaty to eight years. Napoleon consented to the
change provided the United States would say no more
about spoliations and guarantees.! And this was the way
the matter ended. At almost the same moment General
Berthier signed at San Ildefonso (October 1, 1800) pre-

18ee the documents printed in An- elaborate essay on the oconvention in
nals of Congress, 6th Cong., 1206-1207;  Massachusetts Historical Bociety's Pro-

American Slale Papers, Foreign Rela- ceedings for February, 1911.
tions, ii, 344. Brooks Adams has an



1800] THE CONVENTION RATIFIED - 209

liminary articles by which, after countless suggestions con-
tinued for many years, the Spanish king agreed to retro-
cede to France the colony and country of Louisiana, with
all its boundaries as it had been received from France in
1763.

VOL. IV.— P
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NOTE

The Pinckneys. — Four Pinckneys or Pinkneys come into the
history of this period. They are Charles, Charles Cotesworth, and
Thomas Pinckney of South Carolina, and William Pinkney of Mary-
land. Of the Carolinians, Charles was adopted by Judge Pinckney,
his uncle, to whom two sons, Charles Cotesworth and Thomas
were born. Thus the Carolinians were cousins or, possibly, brothers.
They were all three educated in England, as was also William of Mary-
land, who may have been related to them through some remote
ancestor, for the slight difference in the spelling of their surnames
meant nothing whatever in pre-Websterian days. All four of them
were diplomats: Charles was sent as minister to Spain in 1801;
Charles Cotesworth was minister to France in the X, Y, Z time;
Thomas, minister to Great Britain, and negotiator of the 1795 treaty
with Spain; and William, minister to Great Britain in the troublous
embargo days. Both Charles Cotesworth and Thomas were presi-
dential candidates, and both were generals; C. C. Pinckney having
been appointed by Adams in 1798, and Thomas by Madison in 1812,
And finally, Charles and Charles Cotesworth were both members of
the Federal Convention. The doings of these remarkable men are
spread at length upon the records of the United States, but their
particular biographies are disappointing. See, however, Rev. C. C.
Pinckney’s Life of General Thomas Pinckney, Harriott Horry Ravenel’s
Eliza Pinckney, and Garden’s and De Saussure’s eulogies on General
C. C. Pinckney. On William Pinkney, there are the biographies by
Henry Wheaton and by the Rev. William Pinkney and articles in
Sparks’s American Biography, vol. vi,and W. D. Lewis’s Great Ameri-
can ‘I.awgen, i, 177.
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citizenship. Exceptions were made in favor of those per-
sons who were actually in the country in January, 1795;
but the mass of foreign immigrants were disfranchised for,
years to come. The two Alien Acts gave the government
power to deal with alien enemies and authorized the Presi-
dent to order any alien, whether an enemy or not, out of the
country, or license him to reside within the United States,
at whatever place he might designate. The Sedition Act
dealt with all persons, native or foreign, who conspired
against the government, or, through writing or printing,
did anything to bring it or any one of its officers into dis-
repute. Jurisdiction under these laws was given to the
federal courts, but punishment was limited to five years’
imprisonment and five thousand dollars’ fine. The defend-
ant in any libel suit brought under the Sedition Act might
give in evidence the truth of the matter and the jury was
intrusted with the determination of both law and fact.
The Sedition Act was a distinct modification of the existing

State laws as to libel, but it really extended the jurisdiction

of the federal courts, for it was unlikely that the federal
judges would proceed very far in exercising a criminal ju-
risdiction without direct legislative authorization.!

A recent case that had been tried in Pennsylvania gave
point to the Federalist contention that the Sedition Act in
reality was a mitigation of the law of libel as administered
by the State courts. This case arose over certain criticisms
that had been aimed at the Spanish minister, Don Carlos
Martinez d’Yrujo. He had married a daughter of Chief
Justice McKean, who presided at the trial. McKean laid
down the law with a vigor that would not have shamed Lord

18ee F. M. Anderson’s “The En- fessor Anderson’s papers on the subject
forcement of the Alien and Sedition of these acts of Congrees are among the

Laws" in American Historical Associ- most satisfying things of the kind that
ation’s Reports, 1912, pp. 15-126. Pro- have appeared in recent years.

N
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ferson and his contemporaries;! but they were using the
phrase very differently from the way in which it is used by
later publicists. vBy ““the people” the earlier writers meant|
the active members of a political organization who were|
supposed to speak for the whole number. The voter him-
self was a representative, and voting was a duty ? which
must be performed like every other duty. The franchise'
was rigidly circumscribed; only about one-fifteenth of the
white population being included in the voting classes.?
The number of votes actually cast in an election was often
much smaller. In some parts of the country, it was very
difficult to get to the polls. Oftentimes there was little
interest, as the result of the voting was a foregone conclusion
owing, partly at least, to the impossibility of appealing to
the voters in person or in printed argument; and, besides,
in those days one was obliged to have the courage of his
convictions, for he could not hide his political doings under
a bushel. In Virginia and some other States, the voter
announced his choice aloud and it was recorded in a polling
book which was open to public inspection, and & copy could
be obtained on payment of a fee. David Thomas, a Penn-
sylvanian temporarily residing in Virginia, described an
election in the Old Dominion in 1789. The candidate, he
wrote, “stands upon an Eminence thro which the people

1“We, the People of the United
Btates’ is the opening phrase of the
Constitution; in the famous compact
ocontained in the Massachusetts oon-
stitution of 1780 the ‘' people’’ covenant
to govern themselves for their good;
and the Virginia Bill of Rights of 1776
declares that “all power is vested in,
and oonsequently derived from, the
people.”

2 In Virginia every qualified elector
was obliged by law to attend all elec-
tions for delegates to the Assembly and
representatives to Congress and give
bis vote or pay twenty-five per cent

additional in the tax levy. B8ee Hen-

ing's Statutes of Virginia, xii, 122; and

isim“d Shepherd’s Statules of Virginia,
, 328.

3 This estimate is based on a study
of early elections in the five States of
Massachusetts, New York, Pennsyl-
vania, Virginia, and South Carolina.
In 1900, nearly fourteen million votes
were cast for McoKinley and his oppo-
nents, — about one-fifth of the entire
population of the ocountry. See Ed-
ward Stanwood's History of the Presi-
dency from 1897 to 1909, pp. 74, 75.
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pass to give their votes, viva voce,’or by outery” and begs, °
prays, and solicits the people’s votes and “ the poor wretched
people are much difficulted by the prayers and threats of
those Competitors, exactly similar to the Election of the
corrupt and infamous House of Commons in England.”
Apportionment of Representatives and Senators was as
far away from adequately exhibiting the power and strength
of the several parts of the different States as the “federal
ratio”’ was of showing the relative power and strength of
the several parts of the United States. In 1800, the North
would have had twyenty-three more presidential electors
than it actually had — or the South correspondingly fewer
— had the apportionment of electors been according to
power and strength instead of desire to placate the delegates
from the “small States’” and the slave owners in the Fed-
eral Convention.! Representation in the lower House of
the Massachusetts legislature was supposed to be accord-
ing to the number of rateable polls and in the Senate ac-
cording to the amount of taxes paid in; but there was no
end of political jugglery — all of it designed to defeat the
will of whatever “people” had the right to vote? The mos /.
extraordinary example of manipulating the apportionmen&"v?om”
occurred in New York State, in 1808, when two counties
that were separated by a third were placed in the same
district.? In both these States presidential electors were
chosen by the legislatures, and anything affecting the ap-

1“Boreas’” in a pamphlet entitled

had been at all in proportion to efficient
“Slave tation,” printed in 1812 i

strength, it would have been as sixteen

(p. 18), gives a table showing the num-
ber of added electors which the North
ought to have had in each election from
1789 to 1833. The Columbian Centinel
for Jan. 2, 1813 has an interesting arti-
cle showing the disproportionate voting

in Congress of the Northern
and the Southern States. The repre-
sentation was as five to four, but if it

to four. See also Salem Gasette, Feb.
26, 1813.

9The town of Boston was then a
* pocket borough,” or as the Federalists
termed it ‘‘the Headquarters of Good
Principles” ; 8. E. Morison’s Harrison
Gray Ots, i, 296.

38ee Elmer C. Griffith’'s Rise and
Development of the Gerrymander, 58.
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portionment, therefore, might be a determining factor in
the national election. The two most glaring examples of
inequality were to be found in the States of South Carolina
and Virginia.! In the former, the presidential electors were
appointed by the legislature in which the newly settled up-
land regions, where slaves were comparatively few, were
heavily discriminated against in favor of the older settled
country nearer the sea, where the blacks greatly outnum-
bered the whites. In Virginia, the Assembly reflected the
wishes of the slave owners of the tide-water counties, al-
though the white population and the wealth were even
then greatest in portions of the State that had been settled
since 1700, — one hundred voters in the lower country hav-
ing as much voice in the Assembly as one thousand in the
“Upper Regions.” * .
Ordinarily, throughout the country, the franchise was ex-
ercised by adult, free, white males who possessed a moder-
ate amount of property either in lands or in movable goods.
The slightness of the landed restriction may be deduced
from the fact that in Virginia a voter need possess only
twenty-five acres of cleared land on which was a hovel of
at least twelve feet square; or fifty acres of wild land
.without a hovel, or part of a town lot.? The white free-
holder could vote in South Carolina,* or the man who had
paid a tax of three shillings. In Pennsylvania every tax-
payer could vote regardless of the amount paid.® Ken-

1 8ee Note I at end of chapter. all male whites of twenty-one and over, -

8 William Shelton’s address to the exocept * paupers and non-commissioned
Freeholders of Louisa County in “Vir- officers and private soldiers’’; who had
ginia Broadsides’ in Library of Con- reeided in the district for six months;
grees. see Brevard’'s Digest of the Statute Law

3 Hening’s Statutes of Virginia, xii, of South Carolina, ii, 270.

. s In Pennsylvania, the sons of tax-

4J. F. Grimké's Public Laws of South  payers between the ages of twenty-one
Carolina (Philadelphia, 1790), Appendix, and twenty-two years also had the
p. 37. In 1809, this act was amended right to vote although they had not
90 that the franchise was extended to paid taxes. This was like the Rhode
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tucky was the only State that gave the franchise! to free
white male citizens without any property qualification
whatever; but the State Senators were elected indirectly,
thus curbing democracy to some extent. The framers of
the New Jersey constitution omitted the word “male” in the
usual description of those who were entitled to the fran-
chise. Women took advantage of this omission to exercise
the suffrage, and this was recognized by law in 1797. In
1807, the legislature passed another act which was eu-
phemistically described as supplementary to this act. It
provided that, in the future, no person should vote ““unless
such person be a free, white, male citizen of this state,”
twenty-one years of age, worth fifty pounds proclamation
money, and resident of the county for twelve months.?
Under these circumstances of apportionment and suffrage,
it seems the height of futility to speak of the President as
rep ting ““the people.”

Th Jefferson was the soul of the Republican party
and its recognized head. He was its candidate for the
" presidency without any formalities of nomination or any-
thing of the kind. There were, indeed, no nominating con-
ventions, no primaries, nor anything that could be called
a8 caucus, unless one uses that word in its generic sense.
Leading Federalists in Congress and highly placed govern-
mental officials met and talked over affairs, generally at

Island practice, where the oldest son 1 The act of 1797 provided that every
of a freeholder poesessed the franchise voter openly and in full view should
.with his father. In New York, by the ‘ deliver his or her ballot, . . . containing

constitution of 1777, every male in-
hnbitnto(lulhpndnddcnﬂordx
nonthn immediately preceding the

in any one county possessed
the right to vote, provided he owned a
£20 freehold or rented a tenement of the
value of 40 sh., and had actually paid
tazes; or was a freeman of the cor-
poration of Albany or New York city.

' Charters and Constitutions, i, 651.

the names of the person or persons for
whom he or she votes’’ to the election
officer. Lawe of the State of New-Jersey
(ed. 1821), p. 275. The act of 1807
recites that doubta have been raised and
mt diversities in practice obtai